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New horizons with attractive potential –  

Tipp24 is making dynamic progress in a turbu-

lent market. In 2013, we took a further major 

step – across the English Channel to London:  

the new location of our registered office as of  

7 February 2014. From our new base in the UK 

– regarded as the centre of the European online 

gaming industry – we plan to achieve further 

growth: to tap the American market, to run our 

own lotteries and to exploit existing potential in 

Europe – a strategy which is being honoured by 

the capital market: our share price is performing 

strongly at  

	 +29%
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Dr. Hans Cornehl, CEO

Dr. Hans Cornehl has a doctorate in chemistry and has been a 
member of the Executive Board of Tipp24 SE since June 2002 
and Chairman of the Executive Board since July 2011. Before 
joining Tipp24, Dr. Cornehl was Senior Investment Manager at 
the venture capital company Earlybird, where he specialised 
in investments in the media and telecommunications sector. 
He had previously gained management experience as a turn
around manager at a hospital. Dr. Cornehl started his career  
as an adviser for start-up, high-tech and spin-off companies 
at McKinsey & Company. Dr. Cornehl studied chemistry at the 
Technical University of Munich and gained his doctorate at 
the Technical University of Berlin.

We’ve moved 

– and run our business from London 

since February. However, we have 

kept our legal form as an "SE" and 

are still listed in the Prime Standard  

segment and SDAX index of the Frank-

furt Stock Exchange.

Foreword
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Dr. Helmut Becker, CMO

Dr. Helmut Becker has been Chief Marketing Officer of Tipp24 SE 
since June 2013. He was previously a member of the Supervi-
sory Board of Tipp24 SE from mid 2011 and Chief Commercial 
Officer of XING AG from September 2009. He was responsible 
there for the divisions Product, Marketing and Revenues. Be-
fore joining XING AG, Dr. Helmut Becker was Senior Director 
Advertising and Internet Marketing of eBay Germany and Man-
aging Director of eBay Advertising AG. Prior to this, he headed 
the eBay subsidiary Shopping.com in Germany as Managing 
Director and was Director of Strategy and Corporate Develop-
ment at eBay. He began his career as a consultant at McKinsey. 
Dr. Helmut Becker studied physics at the University of Hamburg 
and gained his PhD at the University of Cambridge.

Andreas Keil, CFO

Andreas Keil, business graduate, has been Chief Financial Officer 
of Tipp24 SE since February 2013. After almost five years as 
CFO of the SDAX-listed specialty chemicals company H&R AG, 
he worked for a few months as a freelance business and finan
cial consultant prior to joining Tipp24 SE. Since 1994, he held 
various management positions at the French Louis Dreyfus 
Group as well as at the US ConocoPhillips Group. After qualify-
ing as a bank clerk and studying business administration, he be
gan his career with the auditing company Ernst & Young GmbH.
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Ladies and gentlemen,

2013 was an exciting and eventful year for Tipp24 in which we made some significant strategic moves 
for the future: Tipp24 SE already acquired a share of the UK-based company Geonomics Global Games 
Limited in late 2012 in order to tap new growth fields. As part of our strategic realignment, we then 
took the decision in March 2013 to propose a resolution to last year’s Annual General Meeting to relo-
cate our registered office to the UK – widely regarded as the centre of the European online gaming 
industry. On 7 February 2014, we completed the relocation with the entry of our new address in the 
UK’s commercial register (Companies House).

Strategy: internationalization

We are focusing on three main directions: firstly, the minority shareholdings in the UK are planning to 
continue their operations. At the same time, we want to act as partners for lottery companies and 
major portals and help them to market lottery products online by offering our leading technological 
and marketing expertise as a service provider. We believe the American lottery market in particular – 
where we see a clear trend towards deregulation – offers great opportunities. Finally, we want to run 
lotteries ourselves in the medium to long term. With the acquisition of a stake in the UK-based compa-
ny Geonomics – the inventor of a geo-based online lotto game – we already took a major strategic step 
towards acquiring our own licences and establishing a business division dedicated to providing Inter-
net services to lottery companies. We plan to acquire a majority shareholding in the medium term. 
This investment represents a key element in the implementation of our international growth strategy.

Moreover, we aim to play an active role in the possible market consolidation in Europe brought about 
by changing regulatory conditions and grasp the opportunities for non-organic growth should they 
arise. As of 7 February 2014, this expansion is being coordinated from our new headquarters in Lon-
don. Together with our company base, we have also transferred our Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) activities to the UK’s capital: with a new CSR concept, we aim to sponsor those projects which 
will improve the quality of life at a local level. We shall be selecting the corresponding initiatives via a 
Community Fund and partnerships with established organisations, such as charities or local founda-
tions. Support may also involve voluntary work by our own employees. 

Executive Board: expanded

In order to provide a wider foundation for the further successful development of Tipp24 SE, the Executive 
Board was expanded in 2013: in February, we gained an experienced Chief Financial Officer (CFO) with 
international expertise in Andreas Keil and in June a Chief Marketing Officer (CMO) with many years of 
in-depth experience in the international online sector in Dr. Helmut Becker. We look forward to expanding 
Tipp24’s international business together with our new Executive Board members.
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Development: successful fiscal year 2013 

The continued successful development of Tipp24 SE in fiscal year 2013 provides a solid foundation: 
despite two high winnings payouts of MyLotto24 Limited of EUR 6.8 million in August and EUR 15.7 
million in December with a full impact on revenue, we were able to generate total revenues of EUR 
129,933 thousand in 2013 (prior year: EUR 142,731 thousand). Against a backdrop of various special 
items, consolidated EBIT of EUR 19,459 thousand was 65.5% below the prior-year figure. In addition to 
the aforementioned winnings payouts, there were non-recurring costs for the preparation of new busi-
ness fields, the necessary adjustment to hedging structures in our secondary lottery business, the 
start of restructuring activities for our IT platform and provisions for the one-off Stamp Duty Reserve Tax 
levied by the UK government in connection with the transfer of Tipp24 shares. 

Adjusted for random statistic deviations, consolidated revenues amounted to EUR 133,058 thousand 
and were thus 3.5% above the prior-year figure of EUR 128,612 thousand. The similarly adjusted EBIT 
result amounted to EUR 27,321 thousand, following EUR 50,309 thousand in the previous year – 
whereby the latter figure included a positive special item of EUR 18,850 thousand from the spin-off of 
Lotto24 AG.

Outlook: exciting

On the basis of our solid performance in fiscal year 2013, we expect further encouraging figures for 
2014: revenues are likely to rise to between EUR 135 and EUR 145 million, while EBIT is expected to 
reach EUR 25 to EUR 35 million. This forecast takes account of costs for the readjustment of hedging 
structures in our secondary lottery business as well as additional, mostly non-recurring costs for the 
preparation of new business fields amounting to approximately EUR 10 million. The stated ranges also 
take account of statistic fluctuations in payouts for our secondary lottery business. On 12 March 2014, 
Tipp24 recorded jackpot winnings of around EUR 6.7 million. Including this jackpot, winnings payouts for 
secondary lotteries up to this point were just EUR 3.9 million above the expected statistical value and 
were therefore not included in the forecast for 2014.

	 	

Dr. Hans Cornehl	A ndreas Keil	 Dr. Helmut Becker 

Chairman	  		
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We’ve moved – The relocation of our registered office became effec­
tive on 7 February 2014 after being entered in the registry of the UK’s 
Companies House. The move is a logical consequence of the strategic 
realignment of Tipp24 SE: we will focus in future on our international 
business activities – especially in the UK and North America – which 
we intend to develop further from our base in London. 

London provides excellent conditions for the strategic development 
and internationalization of our company. We plan to fully exploit the 
opportunities which the UK offers. As the recognized European centre  
of the online gaming industry, it offers an excellent environment for 
future profitable growth. We also see growth potential in other European 
markets – in addition to our existing business in Spain – which we 
continue to monitor closely.

	 we are

moving on!
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WHAT WILL CHANGE: We maintain our legal form  
as an "SE" after the relocation. In the same way, Tipp24 SE  
also retains its listing in the Prime Standard segment of  
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and continues to be included  
in the German SDAX index. The Executive Board and Super- 
visory Board maintain their functions, whereby the Executive 
Board works in the UK. Those functions still based in Ger- 
many are to be gradually relocated to the UK over a longer 
period and in a socially compatible manner.
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	 we are a

good citizen
Help where help is needed. Tipp24 SE already followed this commit­
ment to social responsibility when its corporate activities focused 
mainly on Germany. Since 2012 our growth strategy has become much 
more international – and we feel it is only natural that our corporate 
social responsibility should also become more international since 
moving our registered office to the UK.

Every community needs the dedication and enthusiasm of its 
citizens as this is the only way to ensure a society which provides  
an enriching and worthwhile existence for every individual. The  
Tipp24 Group sees itself as a partner of these communities and 
supports local initiatives which improve the quality of life and  
successful coexistence of their citizens.
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Help via Community Funds
In London, the new home of Tipp24 SE, we will test how we  
can select exemplary community projects and offer targeted 
support. In the first half of 2014, our UK shareholdings will 
already be setting up a so-called Community Fund. Organi
sations and communities are invited to submit proposals for 
local projects worthy of support. 

� local  

Partnership model
The plan is for an external committee to assess the respective 
social needs and the potential impact of the neighbourhood 
activities. Support may also involve voluntary work by our own 
employees. The Community Fund will be implemented in 
partnership with established organisations, such as charities 
or local foundations.

� partner  

Shape
objectives/

Criteria

Select projects/
Admin support

Fund projects

set up Fund

Community
Groups

Support with 
corporate 

volunteering
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we Support Our

Neighbourhoods
International approach

Our success depends on successful products, 
the respective market environments and the 
dedication of our staff. When it comes to CSR 
activities, we therefore aim to involve those 
people who shape our corporate culture and 
work hard for our success. Given the diverse 
cultural backgrounds of our multinational work 
force, the international aspect of a vibrant local 
community is of particular importance to us. 

Helping communities

We are convinced that local communities 
play a key role in promoting social harmony: 
in community centres, on the streets where 
people live or in initiatives to promote health 
and sports activities. In the medium term,  
we aim to provide sustainable support for 
those communities around us in all our key 
markets.
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shareholder structure 

Other investors  56.46% Schroder Investment  
Management  7.43%

Tipp24 Management  0.69%

Marc Peters  4.82%BNP Paribas Investment  3,01 %

Free float (as defined by Deutsche Börse)  79.78%

Jens Schumann  4.17%

Oliver Jaster  20.22%

Share 

Repeated top performance

Norges Bank  3.20%

Performance of the tipp24 share  (Index 30 Dec. 2010=100)
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5,173.79	 	S DAX� 7,178.33
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Investor Relations

Successful stock exchange year

All in all, 2013 was an extremely encouraging year for the stock 
exchange and one of the ten most successful in the 25-year his-
tory of the DAX. From a starting point of 7,612, the German blue-
chip index gained some 1,940 points over the year – represent-
ing growth of 25%. Surprisingly, the first six months of 2013 were 
not all that successful and the DAX initially moved more or less 
sideways. Driven by an extremely expansionary monetary policy 
and positive economic data from the USA, the stock exchange 
began to rally in May: the DAX reached a new all-time-high of 
8,500 points, but had already weakened slightly one month 
later. In November, however, the index easily passed the 9,000 
mark with new records being set almost daily. By early Decem-
ber, the DAX had surpassed 9,400 points before the first prof-
it-taking commenced in the following weeks. 

The SDAX rose even more sharply in 2013, with growth of 29% or 
1,539 points to a closing level of 6,788. The Tipp24 share en-
joyed a similar 29% increase in value, with prices ranging from 
EUR 37.65 to a new all-time-high of EUR 51.58.

The Annual General Meeting of Tipp24 SE was held at the Curio-
haus in Hamburg on 28 June 2013. A total of 54.3% of voting cap-
ital was represented at the meeting and all resolutions proposed 
by management – especially the resolution on transferring the 
company’s registered office to London – were adopted with strong 
majorities. Further details are provided online in the Investor Re-
lations section of our corporate website (www.tipp24.co.uk). 

On 16 April 2013, Tipp24 SE successfully placed a capital in-
crease for cash and increased its share capital under the exclu-
sion of shareholder subscription rights by EUR 400,000, from 
EUR 7,985,088 to EUR 8,385,088, by making partial use of the 
company’s Authorized Capital as adopted by the Annual General 
Meeting of 29 June 2011. The 400,000 new, registered, no-par 
value shares were issued at a price of EUR 40.00 per new share 
and had to be apportioned due to extremely high demand. The 
capital increase resulted in gross issue proceeds of EUR 16.0 
million for Tipp24 SE. 

Pro-active IR activities

In the period under review, we once again pursued our investor 
relations targets – to maintain an open and ongoing exchange of 
information with the capital market – by participating in numer-
ous roadshows and capital market conferences in Amsterdam, 
Boston, Brussels, Frankfurt, Geneva, Hamburg, London, New York 
and Zurich. Our investor relations work focused on presenting our 
new growth strategy. 

Corporate Governance disclosure

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Tipp24 SE issued 
the last Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate 
Governance Code pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG in February 2013. 
Since the relocation of the Company’s registered office became 
effective on 7 February 2014, Tipp24 SE – as a UK-based com-
pany whose shares are traded exclusively on a regulated market 
in Germany – is subject to neither UK nor German corporate gov-
ernance regulations and, in particular, is no longer required to 
submit declarations of conformity pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG. 
Nevertheless, Tipp24 SE intends to prepare and publish its own 
voluntary Corporate Governance rules.

New WKN: TPP024

New ISIN: GB00BHD66J44

Key share figures p. 107
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Group Management Report

Good prospects
In 2013, we laid the foundation for a successful repositioning  

of Tipp24 on the international lottery markets. Thanks to the  

outstanding development of our operations, we were able to 

compensate for special items resulting from two high jackpot 

payouts of MyLotto24, the preparation of new business fields,  

the adjustment of our hedging profile and our relocation to the 

UK and still achieved EBIT of EUR 19.5 million. Tipp24 is ex

cellently placed to benefit strongly from the expected growth  

in the online segment of the international lottery markets and  

to generate substantial growth potential.
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Basic principles of the Group

BUSINESS MODEL

For over fourteen years, Tipp24 – Tipp24 SE and its consolidated 
companies – has been operating privately in a European lottery 
market which is still dominated by state operators. Its activities 
are divided between its "Abroad" and "Germany" segments (terms 
valid until 7 February 2014 as well as during reporting period), 
whereby the operating activities of its "Germany" segment are 
currently restricted to a cooperation with Schumann e.K. to mar-
ket the German class lotteries NKL and SKL. The "Germany" seg-
ment also includes the investments in Geonomics Global Games 
Limited and Geolotto UK Limited.

"Abroad" segment

The "Abroad" segment is pooled with the fully consolidated UK-
based minority holding MyLotto24 Limited and comprises all 
consolidated business activities in Spain and the UK. MyLotto24 
organizes secondary English lotteries based on various Europe-
an lotteries, whereby it bears the bookmaking risk itself.

In Spain, Ventura24 S.L. currently offers the national 6 out of 49 
lottery (La Primitiva) and related lottery teams, the Christmas 
lottery (Sorteo de Navidad), the European lottery EuroMillones 
and other Spanish lotteries. Revenue results mainly from addi-
tional fees, which players pay for the brokerage of lottery games. 
In 2013, Ventura24 also concluded its first marketing coopera-
tion for the online sales channel with the world’s largest lottery 
for the blind, the Spanish lottery ONCE. It will receive a percentage 
of the Internet-based revenues.

With regard to the organising of games in the UK, revenue results 
from stakes received less vouchers granted, and winnings to be 
distributed. Licence and operator fees payable in the UK are dis-
closed as a cost position within "Other operating expenses". Win-
nings are subject to considerable statistical fluctuations com-
pared to the expected value based on the playing systems of the 
reference games. In order to improve comprehension of the earn-
ings position, the effect on revenue of any deviation between 
expected and actual payouts is also stated. In our UK brokerage 
business, revenue is generated by commissions received from 
game organisers, as well as additional fees charged to players.

As part of its international expansion strategy, Tipp24 acquired a 
stake in the UK company Geonomics Global Games Limited in 
December 2012. Geonomics is the provider of an online lotto 
game based on a virtual map (GeoLotto) and holds its own licence 
in the UK to organise and market the game. In this connection, a 
joint venture between Geonomics and Tipp24 was founded on  

1 October 2013 to market GeoLotto via the Internet to end-users in 
the UK as an independent B2C business. The generated revenues 
correspond to stakes received less winnings paid out to partici-
pants. Moreover, the product will also be offered via Geonomics 
to international lottery and gaming companies as a B2B product 
– in addition to set-up fees, revenues are generated here from 
ongoing charges based on the size of stakes received. 

Adapting the business model 

Following the implementation of the second stage of the German 
State Treaty on Games of Chance (GlüStV 2008), which complete-
ly prohibited the brokering of state-run lotteries via the Internet 
as of 1 January 2009, Tipp24 SE discontinued its lottery broker-
age activities in Germany. Its alignment was therefore adapted to 
the requirements of the regulatory environment – although Tipp24 
continues to fight in the courts for the resumption of its business 
in Germany. In the course of this development, Tipp24 SE trans-
ferred assets that it no longer required on 1 January 2009 to 
MyLotto24 Limited and its subsidiaries, which had been active 
in the UK since 2007. This concerned both the brokerage of 
state-run German lottery products, as well as the subsidiaries 
Ventura24 S.L. in Spain and Giochi24 S.r.l. in Italy. In addition, 
Tipp24 SE transferred control over its UK subsidiaries in accord-
ance with company law in the second quarter of 2009 to reflect 
the autonomy and individual responsibility of the foreign compa-
nies in their respective business fields. Specifically, 60% of the 
voting shares in both MyLotto24 Limited and Tipp24 Services 
Limited were sold to a Swiss foundation set up by Tipp24 SE in 
the form of preference shares stripped of their main economic 
rights. These shares have a guaranteed limited right to dividends 
of up to a total of GBP 30 thousand p.a. The full consolidation of 
this affiliated company and its respective subsidiaries in the con-
solidated financial statements is based on an economic view of 
their situation, whereby the significant opportunities and risks 
are still borne by Tipp24 SE.
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Organizational structure

Dr. Hans Cornehl is Chairman of the Executive Board of Tipp24 SE 
and has been a member of the Executive Board since 2002. 
From July 2012 to the end of January 2013, he led the company 
as the sole member of the Executive Board. He is responsible for 
Strategy, Corporate Development, Communication, Corporate & 
Legal Affairs, IT and HR.

Andreas Keil has been a member of the Executive Board since 
1 February 2013 with responsibility for the Finance, Accounting, 
Taxes, Controlling, Risk Management and Investor Relations divi-
sions. 

Dr. Helmut Becker was appointed to the Executive Board of Tipp24 
SE on 1 June 2013 and is responsible for the Marketing, Sales 
and Brand Management divisions.

The affiliated companies outside Germany are led by experienced 
General Managers, who act independently.

Relocation of Tipp24 SE

Tipp24 SE swiftly initiated the implementation of its relocation to 
the UK, as adopted by its shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting on 28 June 2013, and completed the move on 7 Febru-
ary 2014 with the entry of its new address in the UK’s commer-
cial register (Companies House). This step is a logical conse-
quence of Tipp24 SE’s strategic realignment: in future, it aims to 
focus on its international business activities – especially in Eu-
rope and North America – and to further develop these activities 
from its base in the United Kingdom. 

Tipp24 SE intends to keep its legal form as an "SE" after the relo-
cation and will also maintain its listing in the Prime Standard seg-
ment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Its inclusion in the SDAX 
index will also be retained. The Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board will continue to exercise their functions, whereby the Ex-
ecutive Board will work from the UK in future. Any partially re-
maining functions in Germany are to be gradually relocated to 
the UK over a longer period and in a socially compatible manner.

In the Relocation Report of Tipp24 SE (published on 21 May 
2013), it was reported that the German registered shares of 
Tipp24 SE ("Namensaktien") would be converted to Registered 
Shares under the laws of England and Wales due to legal implica-
tions following the relocation of the Company’s registered office 
to England. In order to maintain a collective safe deposit of the 

Registered Shares, the legal ownership of these Registered Shares 
was transferred to Clearstream as the central depositary in ex-
change for Clearstream Interests (CIs). Shareholders received a 
corresponding number of CIs in exchange for transferring their 
legal ownership of the Registered Shares to Clearstream. A so-
called Stamp Duty Reserve Tax was charged once only for the 
transfer of legal ownership of the Registered Shares to Clear-
stream once the relocation became effective. The tax rate was 
1.5% on the value of the Registered Shares. The value of the Reg-
istered Shares is generally measured using the average closing 
market price of the (at this time) registered shares under German 
law on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last trading day prior 
to the effective relocation of the Company’s registered office. In 
order to reduce expenses, Tipp24 SE completed a partial transfer 
of legal ownership of the registered shares under German law to 
Clearstream prior to the effective relocation date with some 
shareholders. The obligatory transfer of legal ownership of the 
other Registered Shares to Clearstream after the effective reloca-
tion date resulted in a provision of around EUR 4.1 million as of 
31 December 2013.

Significant economic and legal factors affecting business

Despite the rulings of the European Court of Justice (ECJ) in 
2010 and the introduction since then of a somewhat revised 
State Treaty on Games of Chance, the legal situation for lotter-
ies in Germany can still not be deemed resolved: the First State 
Treaty to Revise the State Treaty on Games of Chance (GlüStV 
2012) now in effect throughout Germany updates the former 
State Treaty on Games of Chance, whose gaming monopoly and 
attendant legal regulations had proved to be in breach of EU law 
following the ECJ rulings of September 2010.
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Inconsistent implementation of …U law primacy in Germany 

Following the ECJ verdicts of 2010, the German judiciary has 
slowly begun to recognize that the GlüStV of 2008 was largely in 
contravention of EU law and thus inapplicable. This mostly con-
cerned the state’s gaming monopoly, which did not strictly pur-
sue its stated objectives. Courts also criticized the fact that Ger-
many’s lottery companies (DLTB) had in practice disregarded 
exactly those regulations which were meant to justify their mon
opolistic position and in reality had pursued fiscal objectives, 
also for lotteries, rather than the regulatory aims of the State 
Treaty. We believe that this jurisdiction on sports gambling can 
also be transferred to lotteries and the current situation. This view 
is shared by renowned law professors, but unfortunately there 
have been no high court verdicts on the subject yet. In contrast 
to this, there have been some verdicts on the Internet ban and 
permit obligation, which have often – but not uniformly – been 
declared consistent and lawful.

The new GlüStV 2012 in force since mid 2012 has left key regu-
lations regarding lotteries unchanged. We are therefore just as 
critical of its content: German authorities are now permitted to al-
low online sports betting and lotteries without exceptions – but 
are not obliged to do so. Verdicts passed so far concerning the 
Internet ban for sports betting give no insight into the legality of 
the new regulation. More recent court decisions, however, as-
sume that online sports betting, also without a permit, is no 
longer to be treated as forbidden per se as long as no sports bet-
ting concessions have been granted according to the new law. All 
in all, the legal situation has not become any clearer.

In Schleswig-Holstein, there was a completely different and more 
liberal regulation in force during 2012: online casinos and online 
sports betting were permitted and online lotteries were even al-
lowed without the need for a permit. This was put to an end in 
February 2013 with the new state government’s accession to 
the GlüStV 2012. Many of the permits for online sports betting 
and online casinos issued in the meantime will remain valid in 
Schleswig-Holstein for seven years, though. This led the German 
Federal Supreme Court to initiate a first referral procedure with 
the ECJ regarding the new GlüStV 2012. The ECJ must decide  

whether these contradictory rulings and permits once again 
constitute a contravention of EU law and render also the new 
GlüStV 2012 inapplicable. This would be the consequence of 
current ECJ jurisdiction, but is being questioned by the German 
Federal Supreme Court. 

The European Commission has also been carefully monitoring 
the new German regulations and has expressed further criticism. 
Prior to the introduction of the new GlüStV 2012, critical com-
ments were already expressed in 2011. The EU Commission re-
peated and extended its objections in 2012, when Schleswig-
Holstein also registered its intention to accede to the GlüStV 2012. 
The EU Commission’s reservations not only concerned Schleswig-
Holstein, however, but the new GlüStV 2012 as a whole.

Varying legal market situation abroad 

The development of legal conditions on the markets of our "Abroad" 
segment also varies strongly:

In the UK, the regulatory environment is stable and reliable. The 
UK government has saved costs by merging the content and 
organization of the Gambling Commission and National Lottery 
Commission to form the new Gambling Commission, after al-
ready pooling the two authorities in Birmingham. The govern-
ment is also revising the national Gambling Act at present so that 
companies seeking to market gaming products in the UK will 
have to own a mainland licence eligible for tax. Neither the mer
ger of the gaming bodies nor the revision of the Gaming Act have 
any impact on the business strategy of Tipp24 SE.

The legal situation in Spain, however, remains unclear. Unequivo
cal regulations concerning the online brokerage of lotteries – 
especially product marketing – are not in sight at present. As 
of January 2013, winnings from games of chance in excess of 
EUR 2,500 are taxed at 20% in Spain.

In the Netherlands, the government is currently revising its na-
tional gambling regulations and plans to open the market to pri-
vate companies – especially in the field of online betting (sports 
betting, casinos, poker). It is not clear yet to what extent the lot-
tery market will be affected. 
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In the USA, the Department of Justice ruled in late 2011 that on-
line sales of lottery products were fundamentally allowed and did 
not constitute a contravention of the "Federal Wire Act" of 1961. 
The federal states have responsibility for lotteries. Since the De-
partment of Justice ruling, several states have examined the 
possibility of introducing an online lottery – or have already 
launched one. Illinois was one of the first states to permit the 
online sale of lottery tickets in 2011. Shortly after, a private con-
sortium won the state lottery’s public bidding process for online 
marketing. Similar developments can be observed in other states, 
such as New Jersey and Pennsylvania. The state of Delaware 
closed its bid acceptance process for online marketing in July 
2013. It is expected that further US states will follow over the 
coming months and years. 

At the moment, there is an opposition lobby at federal level which 
is attempting to overturn the Department of Justice ruling of 2011. 
However, we do not expect this movement to be successful.

Jackpots

Tipp24 regularly experiences a strong increase in gaming activi-
ty when the prospect of large winnings (jackpots) is particularly 
high. These jackpots result in part from the gaming system: they 
comprise stakes bet by players who did not meet the conditions 
for winning prizes, so that the previous gaming volume of this 
prize division is accumulated and then paid out to the winners on 
top of regular prizes in a subsequent draw. In addition, jackpots 
are also offered unsystematically and in addition to the regular 
winnings profile for certain draws. Larger gaming volumes often 
involve increased hedging costs, however, depending on the 
product and the size of the jackpot.

Low dependency on economic cycle

The gaming behaviour of customers in all markets of Tipp24’s con-
solidated companies has been largely unaffected by macroeco-
nomic fluctuations since the launch of gaming operations in 2000. 
Gaming behaviour is neither particularly active during economic 
boom periods nor particularly weak in times of economic down-
turn, nor has any inverse correlation been observed. Against the 
backdrop of the recent financial and economic crisis, only Spain 
– which has been hit particularly hard by the crisis – suffered a 
decline in the overall lottery market of around 9% with a negative 
impact on local online brokerage business. It cannot be stated for 
certain, however, whether this was due to economic trends or the 
introduction of tax on lottery winnings. 

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

The business fields of our two segments, "Germany" and "Abroad", 
are managed separately.

"Germany" segment

Following the spin-off of Lotto24 AG, only limited business activ-
ity in the form of marketing the German class lotteries NKL and 
SKL is possible in our former core market of Germany. 

"Abroad" segment

In the business fields of our "Abroad" segment, value is mainly 
created by gaining new customers and intensifying existing 
business relations. The focus here is on the field of lotteries. Rev-
enue growth and EBIT margin are the most important key perfor-
mance indicators of this segment. 

Development of key earnings ratios

Due to the special item from the spin-off of Lotto24 AG and posi-
tive statistical effects in the payment of winnings in its bookmak-
ing business in 2012, and opposing non-recurring additional 
costs for the preparation of new business as well as negative 
statistical effects in the payment of winnings in its bookmaking 
business in 2013, Tipp24’s EBIT margin fell by 24.6%-points to 
15.0%. At 7.8%, net operating margin was below the prior-year 
level (28.6%) and return on equity fell to 5.8% in the reporting 
period (prior year: 27.2%).
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STRATEGY

Strategy is determined independently in the respective business 
segments. Following the spin-off of Lotto24 AG, the strategy of 
Tipp24 SE has a much stronger international focus – a key mile-
stone was the decision of the Annual General Meeting to move 
the Company’s registered office to London (see p. 16), which 
was completed on 7 February 2014. 

A decisive factor for the implementation of growth strategies in 
the international online lottery business is the respective nation-
al regulatory environment: numerous business models around 
the world are significantly restricted or either unclearly regulated 
or not at all. The effectiveness or validity of restrictions is also 
often dubious at best – Germany is certainly a prominent exam-
ple of this. We are also observing strong changes in the regula-
tions of several markets – with developments which can neither 
be predicted nor steered. 

We are systematically analysing various business opportunities 
arising from this rather uncertain regulatory environment and 
monitoring any future growth opportunities in our historic core 
business of lottery brokerage. 

All in all, Tipp24 is focusing on three main directions: 

■■ The first includes the secondary lottery which is independent-
ly organized by our minority holding MyLotto24 Limited. 

■■ In our second direction, we aim to efficiently tap the online 
lottery market as a partner of the state lottery companies as 
well as private enterprises by offering our leading techno-
logical and marketing expertise as a service provider. Our in-
vestment in Spain, Ventura24 S.L., has been operating as a 
cooperation partner of the Spanish lottery company ONCE 
since the third quarter of 2013 and is responsible for design-
ing and marketing its online sales channel. It also operates a 
brokerage business under its own name. We are also moni-
toring closely any other opportunities in Europe. In North 
America, there are particularly clear signs of deregulation fol-
lowing the Federal Wire Act ruling by the Department of Justice. 
We have therefore placed a strong focus on this market.

■■ Finally, we aim to organize our own lotteries in the long run. 
With its flexible organizational structures, Tipp24 is ideally 
suited to identifying and exploiting short- or medium-term 
business opportunities.

With the acquisition in 2012 of a stake in the UK-based company 
Geonomics Global Games Limited – a geo-based online lotto 
game – we already took a major strategic step towards acquiring 
our own licences and establishing a business division dedicated 
to providing Internet services to lottery and gaming companies. 
We plan to acquire a majority shareholding in the company in the 
medium term. 

In the UK, Geonomics already has its own licence to operate and 
market GeoLotto – a lotto game based on a virtual map and re-
garded as one of the outstanding product innovations in the lot-
tery business of the last ten years. In order to fully capitalize on 
this business opportunity, a joint venture was formed with Geo-
nomics specially for this purpose. Tipp24 can contribute the on-
line marketing know-how it has gathered over the years in order 
to efficiently launch this new lottery product on the market. In 
addition to this B2C model in the UK, our end-user product is to 
be sold as a B2G (business-to-government) solution to state lot-
tery companies. The first contracts are already under negotiation. 
The investment in Geonomics therefore represents a key ele-
ment in the implementation of Tipp24’s international growth strat-
egy –with tremendous synergies both in the marketing of Inter-
net services to lottery operators and in the field of technology. 

A further consequence of changing regulatory conditions in Eu-
rope could be the increased privatisation of currently state-
owned market participants and thus a possible consolidation 
phase. Tipp24 aims to benefit from these expected market 
changes and possibly grasp the resulting attractive opportuni-
ties for non-organic growth. Following the payment of an interim 
dividend planned for mid 2014 – this can be financed by using 
our liquid funds of over EUR 155.8 million.
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RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

R&D expenses were incurred solely in the "Abroad" segment and 
amounted to EUR 568 thousand (prior year: EUR 999 thousand) 
in the reporting period. In cooperation with external companies, 
the gaming software in operation was further expanded and im-
proved. In addition, the companies of the "Abroad" segment in 
the various countries made a number of improvements to prod-
ucts, capacities and security systems – with the aid of external 
R&D know-how for certain projects. An average of 14 employees 
were involved with R&D activities on a full-time or part-time basis.

Economic Report

GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Modest growth for global economy

With year-on-year growth of 2.9%, global GDP rose more slowly 
than in the previous year (3.2%) – especially due to the financial 
crisis and weak economy in certain euro countries, the slow pace 
of growth in the United States and relatively modest growth in the 
emerging nations. 

The global economy began to gather momentum over the course 
of the year, however, and world trade picked up speed to grow by 
[2.9%], according to IMF figures. Output became stronger again 
in the advanced industrial nations, while the pace of expansion 
in the emerging economies hardly changed – slowed in particu-
lar by the deficiencies of their institutions. Even though China – 
the global economic powerhouse of the last decade – failed to 
drive growth, aggregated growth of 5.0% in the emerging and 
developing nations still outpaced the "old world": the USA and 
Japan, for example, both achieved growth of 1.6%, while the ad-
vanced economies as a whole grew by 1.1%.

USA recovering

The USA experienced a phase of gradual recovery in 2013 – 
company confidence improved, private debts fell strongly, as did 
the burden on the financial sector – which also impacted em-
ployment figures: the unemployment rate fell to 7.4% (prior year: 
8.0%). Inflation was particularly low at 1.5%.

Europe overcoming recession 

Although the after-effects of the financial crisis continue to bur-
den the eurozone, the recession came to an end during the sum-
mer half-year and eurozone GDP reached a turnaround with 0.0% 
growth in 2013 (prior year: -0.5%). Persistently high sovereign 
debt among certain nations and the incomplete reform of the fi-
nancial sector caused further uncertainty, while structural ad-
justments in some countries continued to slow growth.
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As in the previous years, the GDP contributions of certain EU coun-
tries differed greatly: whereas Latvia (+4.0%), Lithuania (+3.3%),  
Malta (+2.6%), Romania (+1.6%), the UK and Poland (both 1.6%), as  
well as Germany (+0.4%) all achieved growth of varying degrees, 
the economies of Cyprus (-5.5%), Greece (-3.5%), Italy (-1.8%), Slo-
venia (-1.7%), Portugal (-1.6%) and Spain (-1.3%) remained in re-
cession. 

Output in the eurozone grew for the first time in one-and-a-half 
years, driven mainly by domestic demand. There was also re-
newed growth in capital expenditures.

Due mainly to lower price increases for energy and food, inflation 
in the eurozone fell to 1.7% (prior year: 2.5%), while unemployment 
continued to rise – reaching 12.1% in the eurozone in 2013 com-
pared to 10.5% in the previous year. There were dramatic figures 
in Greece and Spain in particular, with unemployment rates of over 
25%. The figures in Croatia, Portugal and Cyprus were also all above 
15%. Unemployment in Germany reached 5.4% and in the UK 7.6%.

Good prospects for 2014

The economic research institutes are far more optimistic for 2014: 
factors which placed a heavy burden on the global economy over 
the last two years became less important – in the USA, an end is 
in sight to the political wrangling over the budget and state fi-
nances, the eurozone has largely overcome its crisis, and growth 
in the major emerging economies is beginning to gather pace 
again. Market confidence is also becoming firmer again, while 
fiscal restrictions are gradually being reduced and an expan-
sionary monetary policy can exert a stronger impact. Against 
this backdrop, global GDP is expected to pick up speed again 
and reach 3.7% in 2014 – representing growth of 0.8%-points 
over 2013.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND PERFORMANCE

Earnings

When comparing figures with those of the previous year, the fol-
lowing special items must be taken into consideration:

MyLotto24 Limited, a fully consolidated minority shareholding 
of Tipp24 SE, recorded a jackpot win of around EUR 6.8 million on 
21 August 2013 and a jackpot win of around EUR 15.7 million on 
7 December 2013 in secondary lotteries it held. Including these 
amounts, total payouts for secondary lotteries in the reporting 
period were EUR 3.1 million above the expected payout value (in 
the previous year the comparable figure was EUR 14.1 million 
below the value) with an impact on revenues of the same amount. 
This burdened EBIT by an amount of EUR 7.9 million (in the pre-
vious year it had benefited EBIT by EUR 6.2 million).

In the first six months of 2012, the spin-off of Lotto24 AG result-
ed in a special item for Tipp24 which increased EBIT by EUR 18.2 
million:

■■ Hidden reserves of EUR 18.9 million were disclosed in other 
operating income. This amount resulted from providing Lotto24 
AG with business opportunities connected with online lottery 
brokerage in Germany. This non-cash income corresponded 
to the dividend in kind adopted by the Annual General Meeting 
of 22 June 2012 in the form of shares in Lotto24 AG for the 
shareholders of Tipp24 SE amounting to EUR 20.0 million less 
the carrying value of the contributed assets. 

■■ An amount of EUR 2.2 million was recognized in other operat-
ing expenses for consultancy and other services in connec-
tion with the spin-off. 

■■ The deconsolidation of Lotto24 AG resulted in other operating 
income of EUR 1.5 million.
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01/01–31/12/2013 01/01–31/12/2012

in EUR thousand % in EUR thousand % Change %

Revenues 129,933 100.0 142,731 100.0 -9.0

Personnel expenses -11,090 -8.5 -10,760 -7.5 3.1

Other operating expenses -97,584 -75.1 -93,842 -65.7 4.0

Other operating income 5,556 4.3 6,543 4.6 -15.1

Dividend income from shares in Lotto24 AG 0 0.0 18,850 13.2 -100.0

Operating expenses -103,118 -79.4 -79,209 -55.5 30.2

EBITDA 26,815 20.6 63,522 44.5 -57.8

Amortization and depreciation -7,357 -5.7 -7,058 -4.9 4.2

EBIT 19,459 15.0 56,464 39.6 -65.5

Financial result -628 -0.5 318 0.2 -297.5

Earnings before taxes 18,831 14.5 56,782 39.8 -66.8

Income taxes -8,108 -6.2 -16,902 -11.8 -52.0

Profit from continued operations 10,722 8.3 39,880 27.9 -73.1

Profit after tax from discontinued operations -535 -0.4 1,011 0.7 -152.9

Profit 10,187 7.8 40,891 28.6 -75.1

Breakdown of other operating expenses

Marketing expenses -6,768 -5.2 -5,923 -4.1 14.3

Direct operating expenses -51,718 -39.8 -52,413 -36.7 -1.3

Other expenses of operations -39,097 -30.1 -35,507 -24.9 10.1

Other operating expenses -97,584 -75.1 -93,842 -65.7 4.0

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)

…BIT

In view of the special items described above, consolidated EBIT 
in fiscal year 2013 amounted to EUR 19,459 thousand and thus 
fell short of the prior-year figure of EUR 56,464 thousand. The 
EBIT margin fell by 24.6%-points, from 39.6% to 15.0%. As a re-
sult, consolidated EBIT failed to reach the forecast of EUR 20 to 
30 million announced on 27 March 2013 due to the above men-
tioned special item of high winnings payouts. Adjusted for statis-
tic deviation from the expected level of payouts, as well as the 
special item from the spin-off of Lotto24 AG in 2012, EBIT amount-
ed to EUR 27,321 thousand (prior year: EUR 32,198 thousand)  
and the EBIT margin to 20.6% (prior year: 25.0%). 

EBIT in 2013 was also burdened by a total of EUR 14.5 million 
from non-recurring costs for the preparation of new business 
fields, costs for necessary adjustments to hedging structures in 
the company’s secondary lottery business, a non-recurring fee 
levied by the UK tax authorities (Stamp Duty Reserve Tax) in con-
nection with the transfer of Tipp24 shares, and expenses in con-
nection with changes to the IT platform. 

The "Germany" segment posted an EBIT result of EUR -12,986 
thousand (prior year: EUR 7,434 thousand), while the "Abroad" 

segment achieved EBIT of EUR 35,681 thousand (prior year: 
EUR 47,985 thousand).
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Due to the share in earnings of associated companies and joint 
ventures (Geonomics Global Games Limited, Geo24 UK Limited), 
the financial result amounted to EUR -628 thousand (prior year: 
EUR 318 thousand). This figure includes a share in earnings of 
associated companies and joint ventures of EUR -701 thousand 
(prior year: EUR 0 thousand). 

At EUR 10,187 thousand, consolidated net profit fell short of the 
prior-year figure of EUR 40,891 thousand, while the net operat-
ing margin after tax amounted to 7.8% (prior year: 28.6%). 

At 43.1%, the consolidated tax rate in fiscal year 2013 was much 
higher than in the previous year (29.8%), as in the case of diffe
rent tax units, the losses of one tax unit cannot be offset against 
the earnings of another tax unit. The losses of the "Germany" seg-
ment cannot be netted with earnings in the "Abroad" segment. 
This already applied in fiscal year 2012. The accounting profit 
from the spin-off of Lotto24 AG meant that the "Germany" seg-
ment also generated earnings in fiscal year 2012. The consoli-
dated tax rate was thus more or less the average of income taxes 
in Germany and the UK. In 2013, however, consolidated earnings 
are much lower than the taxable profit in the UK.

Return on equity stood at 5.8% (prior year: 27.2%) while earnings 
per share from continued operations (undiluted and diluted) de-
creased from EUR 4.99 to EUR 1.30.

Revenues

In fiscal year 2013, Tipp24 generated revenues of EUR 129,933 
thousand (prior year: EUR 142,731 thousand). Despite the high 
winnings payouts of the reporting period, revenues were thus 
just below the target of EUR 130 to 140 million. Without consid-
eration of consolidation effects, the "Abroad" segment account-
ed for EUR 129,554 thousand (prior year: EUR 142,993 thou-
sand) and the "Germany" segment for EUR 379 thousand (prior 
year: EUR 469 thousand).

Adjusted for random statistical effects, consolidated revenues 
reached EUR 133,058 thousand and thus exceeded the pri-
or-year figure of EUR 128,612 thousand by 3.5%. The increase 
resulted firstly from the price increase for the German lottery 
"6aus49", as well as a more favourable distribution of jackpots 
among the various lottery products.

For the organization of secondary lotteries, reference is made 
to lottery gaming systems with a fixed ratio of payouts to stakes 
– this proportion is known as the payout ratio. In the lottery 
gaming systems organized by the operators of those reference 
games of relevance to Tipp24, there is a fixed underlying pay-
out ratio of usually 50% in the gaming system for ongoing lot-
tery draws. This also corresponds to the expected payout ratio 
for the organization of secondary lotteries.
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There may be deviations from this expected value during the 
actual draws of secondary lotteries. Such deviations are chance 
effects and represent statistical fluctuations of the ratio of pay-
outs to stakes. A payout ratio above the expected value results 
in revenues below the expected revenue figure, while a lower 
payout ratio increases actual revenues in comparison to the ex-
pected figure. 

In order to aid comprehension of the annual financial statements 
and earnings position, the effect of deviations between the ex-
pected and actual payouts is therefore stated in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Development of key income statement positions

At EUR 11,090 thousand, personnel expenses in 2013 were 
3.1% above the prior-year figure of EUR 10,760 thousand.

Compared to the previous year, other operating expenses rose 
from EUR 93,842 thousand to EUR 97,584 thousand. The devel-
opment in detail was as follows: 

■■ 	Marketing expenses of EUR 6,768 thousand were up 14.3% 
on the prior-year figure of EUR 5,923 thousand.

■■ Direct operating expenses fell to EUR 51,718 thousand (prior 
year: EUR 52,413 thousand). This item is strongly influenced 
by licence and operator fees as well as costs in connection 
with hedging transactions of MyLotto24 Limited. Hedging 
costs of EUR 22,261 thousand (prior year: EUR 22,608 thou-
sand) were slightly down on the previous year, despite the 
burden of additional costs incurred during the restructuring of 
the hedging profile. In the "Abroad" segment, licence and op-
erator fees amounted to EUR 18,195 thousand (prior year: 
EUR 19,608 thousand). Costs for non-deductible input tax 
totalled EUR 4,218 thousand (prior year: EUR 3,965 thou-
sand). 

■■ Other operating expenses rose by 10.1% to EUR 39,097 thou-
sand (prior year: EUR 35,507 thousand). The increase result-
ed mainly from the Stamp Duty Reserve Tax of EUR 4,059 
thousand levied in the UK. As described above, this was in con
nection with the relocation of our registered office to London.

At EUR 5,556 thousand, other operating income was 15.1% be-
low the prior-year figure of EUR 6,543 thousand, whereby the 
difference to the previous year resulted mainly from the decon-
solidation of Lotto24 AG, as described above.

Amortization and depreciation in fiscal year 2013 amounted to 
EUR 7,357 thousand (prior year: EUR 7,058 thousand).

Financial position

Principles and objectives of capital management

Tipp24 operates a decentralised capital management system. 
Whereas the Executive Board of Tipp24 SE takes all major deci-
sions concerning the financial structure of the "Germany" seg-
ment, capital management activities of the "Abroad" segment are 
handled by MyLotto24 Limited – with the exception of Tipp24 
Services Limited which operates its own capital management 
system. 

The principles and objectives of financial management are as 
follows (the risks to which Tipp24 is exposed are described in the 
current risk report): 

■■ �	Cash and cash equivalents are invested in a variety of short-
term securities offering as much liquidity and as little volatility 
as possible, while ensuring broad risk diversification. The over-
riding objective of our investment strategy is to preserve cap-
ital – even at the expense of expected returns. 

■■ Equity in excess of those funds required to ensure the Com-
pany’s stable financial position is to be used for investments 
and other finance in line with our growth strategy. In the me-
dium term, it is possible that Tipp24 may also leverage its 
financial position by means of interest-bearing debt. In future, 
liquid equity capital not required for the Company’s strategic 
objectives is to be used once more to pay dividends to our 
shareholders.
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Financial analysis

Other liabilities in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Liabilities from gaming operations 13,996 16,736

Tax liabilities 1,464 1,286

Liabilities from open invoices 600 512

Liabilities from social security 122 143

Others 1,787 223

17,971 18,900

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)

As of the reporting date, other liabilities – which mainly consist 
of advance payments, winnings payments owed to customers 
not yet settled as of the balance sheet date, licence and operator 
fees owed to gaming licensors (liabilities from gaming opera-
tions) and tax liabilities – were down 4.9% to EUR 17,971 thou-
sand compared with 31 December 2012 (EUR 18,900 thousand).

Equity results from accumulated profits, less loss carryforwards, 
from capital contributions in the Company’s early phase (1999 
and 2000), from the additional equity generated by our IPO, from 
the proceeds from the sale of treasury shares less cash outflows 
for share buyback programmes, from cash outflows for the cash 
dividends paid so far, and from the capital increase for cash suc-
cessfully placed by Tipp24 SE on 16 April 2013. Share capital 
was increased under the exclusion of shareholder subscription 
rights by EUR 400,000, from EUR 7,985,088 to EUR 8,385,088, 
by making partial use of the Company’s Authorized Capital as 
adopted by the Annual General Meeting of 29 June 2011. The 
400,000 new, registered, no-par value shares were issued at a 
price of EUR 40.00 per new share. The capital increase resulted 
in gross issue proceeds of EUR 16.0 million for Tipp24 SE. 

As of 31 December 2013, the equity capital of Tipp24 amounted 
to EUR 175,556 thousand (prior year: EUR 150,375 thousand), 
corresponding to an equity ratio of 82.2% (prior year: 78.6%). The 
balance sheet total rose by 11.7% to EUR 213,581 thousand.

Significance of off-balance-sheet  

financial instruments for the financial position

Off-balance-sheet financial instruments did not play a signifi-
cant role in financing Tipp24 once again in 2013. A bank guar-
antee facility in the amount of EUR 357 thousand was taken out 
to secure future obligations under rental agreements for office 
space. Furthermore, Tipp24 had off-balance-sheet future obli-
gations from operating lease agreements for offices and techni-
cal equipment in the amount of EUR 2,509 thousand (prior year: 
EUR 2,918 thousand).

Investment analysis

In fiscal year 2013, investing activities resulted in cash outflows 
of EUR 23,988 thousand (prior year: EUR 8,098 thousand). Fi-
nancial investments resulted in net cash outflows of EUR 17,011 
thousand (prior year: EUR 11,888 thousand) from the restructur-
ing of short-term to longer-term financial assets. Cash outflows 
for investments in associated companies amounted to EUR 
5,183 thousand (prior year: EUR 18,395 thousand), while cash 
outflows for investments in our operating business for software, 
hardware and office equipment totalled EUR 1,795 thousand 
(prior year: EUR 1,590 thousand).
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Liquidity analysis

Key cash flow positions in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Cash flow from operating activities 16,751 22,546

Cash flow from investing activities -23,988 -8,098

thereof financial investments -17,011 11,888

thereof investments in associated companies -5,183 -18,395

thereof operative investments -1,795 -1,590

Cash flow from financing activities 15,337 0

Change in cash and pledged cash 8,100 14,448

Cash at the beginning of the period (without pledged cash) 77,946 63,366

Changes in consolidated group -582 -267

Cash at the end of the period (without pledged cash) 85,465 77,947

Short-term financial assets 70,307 53,776

Available funds 155,772 131,723

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)

At EUR 16,751 thousand, cash flow from operating activities in 
2013 fell below the prior-year figure of EUR 22,546 thousand. 
This was mainly due to reduced earnings before taxes.

As explained in the investment analysis section above, cash flow 

from investing activities amounted to EUR -23,988 thousand in 
the period under review (prior year: EUR -8,098 thousand), while 
cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 15,337 
thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand) as a result of the capital 
increase in April 2013.

As of 31 December 2013, Tipp24 had available funds in the form 
of cash and short-term financial assets of EUR 155,772 thou-
sand (prior year: EUR 131,723 thousand). This ensures that our 
operator of secondary lotteries, MyLotto24 Limited, always has 
sufficient short-term liquidity for the swift payment of high jack-
pot winnings.

Other assets in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Receivables from gaming operations 5,164 3,846

Prepaid expenses 5,156 3,003

Receivables from tax authorities for sales tax 184 158

Others 1,882 2,474

12,386 9,482

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)
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Balance Sheet Structure in EUR million
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Asset situation

Tipp24’s asset profile continues to be dominated by current as-
sets of EUR 168,988 thousand (prior year: EUR 142,336 thou-
sand) – these largely consist of cash (EUR 85,822 thousand), 
short-term financial assets (EUR 70,307 thousand) and other 
assets and prepaid expenses (EUR 12,386 thousand). 

Moreover, Tipp24 has intangible assets (mainly software) amount-
ing to EUR 12,905 thousand, shares in associated companies 
and joint ventures of EUR 22,531 thousand, financial assets of 
EUR 4,511 thousand, property, plant and equipment (mainly 
hardware and office equipment) amounting to EUR 2,143 thou-
sand and deferred tax assets amounting to EUR 2,068 thousand. 
After consideration of the capital increase conducted in April 
2013, the development of assets mainly reflects that of cash 
flow from operating activities.

Assets not recognized

As in the past, Tipp24 also does not recognize self-developed 
assets, such as customers, brands and gaming software, in its 
financial statements. The considerable costs incurred for the in-
ternal development of new gaming software – especially person-
nel expenses – were not capitalised as they do not meet all cri-
teria of IAS 38.57.

Significance of off-balance-sheet financial instruments  

for the asset situation

Tipp24 has future obligations of EUR 23,568 thousand from 
agreements containing obligations from services, cooperation, 
insurance, maintenance and license agreements. There are also 
obligations from an operating lease with a present value of EUR 
1,364 thousand.
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…mployees

In addition to the three members of the Executive Board and the 
General Managers of the consolidated companies, Tipp24 had an 
average of 128 full-time employees (year-end: 124). The average 
age was 36. 

As in Germany, the regular working week of the "Abroad" segment 
comprises 40 hours. There are no works agreements or collective 
wage agreements in place in the "Germany" segment and a works 
council has not been set up. In the "Abroad" segment, there are 
tariff agreements according to the particular location. In the fiscal 
year 2013, Tipp24 invested EUR 171 thousand (prior year: EUR 
93 thousand) in external training activities. In addition, all employ-
ees take part in regular training measures within their respective 
departments.

Overall statement on economic position

Since the implementation of the second stage of the GlüStV 
2008 over five years ago, Tipp24 has been prevented from pur-
suing its traditional business of brokering state-run lotteries in 
Germany. 

The exception to this was the beginning of restricted brokerage 
operations by Lotto24 AG under www.lotto24.de. In view of the 
politically determined conditions in 2012, we conducted a com-
plete legal separation of Lotto24 AG from Tipp24 SE and its in-
vestment companies in order to give our former subsidiary the 
possibility to commence full brokerage operations in Germany 
as soon as possible. At the same time, business activities in the 
"Abroad" segment remained stable at a high level.

Against this backdrop, we continue to regard Tipp24’s situation 
as generally robust: Tipp24 has sufficient resources to success-
fully prevail even in the face of significant regulatory restrictions. 

At the same time, we see the opportunity for sustained encour-
aging growth in the medium term: in comparison with other sec-
tors, the global online lottery market is still underdeveloped and 
offers significant growth potential in the coming years.

Tipp24 is excellently positioned to benefit strongly from such 
growth. Furthermore, we see attractive additional potential in new 
product categories and in the course of a possible deregulation 
of the international lottery markets.

We also plan to efficiently tap the online lottery markets as a 
partner of the state lottery companies and private enterprises by 
utilising our leading technological and marketing expertise as a 
service provider. Our activities with the Spanish ONCE lottery and 
further talks with potential customers have strengthened our 
view that this is a promising market segment. We also see at-
tractive opportunities on the UK market with our investment in 
GeoLotto.
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There are particularly clear signs of this in North America. In the 
medium to long term, we want to become a lottery operator our-
selves – we took the first step in this direction with our acquisi-
tion of a stake in the UK-based Geonomics Global Games Limited 
in December 2012: Geonomics already holds a licence to oper-
ate and market its game in the UK. In order to fully capitalize on 
this business potential, a joint venture was formed with Geo-
nomics Global Games Limited on 1 October 2013.

With its flexible organizational structures, Tipp24 is ideally suited 
to identifying and exploiting short- or medium-term business 
opportunities. Moreover, Tipp24 has extensive financial liquidity, 
mainly from equity capital, which provides considerable scope 
to grasp future growth opportunities – for example by means of 
acquisitions.

Subsequent Events

RELOCATION

The relocation of the registered office of Tipp24 SE from Ham-
burg, Germany, to London, UK, became effective on 7 February 
2014 after being entered in the registry of the UK’s Companies 
House under Company Number SE000078.

The effective relocation of the Company’s registered office means 
that its Articles of Association have now been replaced by the 
"Statutes" approved by the Annual General Meeting of 28 June 
2013. 

As required by law, the 8,385,088 registered no-par value shares 
with a prorated amount of share capital of EUR 1.00 per no-par 
value share have been converted into 8,385,088 registered 
shares under the laws of England and Wales with a nominal value 
of EUR 1.00 each.

The registered shares of Tipp24 SE are to be traded in  
the form of so-called Clearstream Interests (CIs) under the  
ISIN GB00BHD66J44 / WKN TPP024 on the regulated market 
(Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange as of 10 Feb-
ruary 2014. 

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 27 February 2014, the Executive Board of Tipp24 SE an-
nounced that it was considering the payment of a one-off special 
dividend in late April 2014 in the form of an interim dividend 
amounting to EUR 7.50 per share. 

The Executive Board also resolved to propose annual dividend 
payments for shareholders in future as of 2015. The first such 
dividend would be based on the annual financial statements for 
the current fiscal year 2014. The annual dividend is to be at least 
EUR 1.50 per share – provided that the company’s financial po-
sition and performance enables such a dividend. 

Forecast, Opportunity and Risk Report

FORECAST REPORT

According to the executive boards of our minority shareholdings, 
they intend to continue business activities in the "Abroad" seg-
ment. 

Our investment in the UK-based Geonomics Global Games Limit-
ed contains two key aspects for the future: firstly, an additional 
joint venture was founded with Geonomics in 2013 in order to 
launch and capitalize the product GeoLotto – for which Geonomics 
has received a licence from the UK’s Gambling Commission – in 
the UK. Secondly, Tipp24’s investment represents the implemen-
tation of its strategy to establish a new international division for 
the provision of online services. This involves offering its product 
innovations to other lottery companies for roll-out in their respec-
tive lottery markets.

In particular, we regard the provision of technology and market-
ing services for international lottery operators enabling them to 
successfully market their products online, as a new and promis-
ing business field in the medium term. In addition to Europe, we 
see clear signs of deregulation especially in North America – and 
plan to efficiently tap this online lottery market as a partner of the 
state lottery companies.
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Expected earnings position 

Tipp24 SE expects a slight increase in revenue in the range of 
EUR 135 to 145 million (prior-year forecast: EUR 130 to 140 mil-
lion) with similar growth in EBIT to between EUR 25 and 35 mil-
lion (prior-year forecast: EUR 20 to 30 million). This forecast 
takes account of costs for the readjustment of hedging struc-
tures in our secondary lottery business and adjustments to our 
IT platform, as well as additional, mostly non-recurring costs for 
the preparation of new business fields amounting to approxi-
mately EUR 10 million. The stated ranges for revenue and earn-
ings also take account of statistic fluctuations in payouts for our 
secondary lottery business. On 12 March 2014, Tipp24 recorded 
jackpot winnings of around EUR 6.7 million. Including this jack-
pot, winnings payouts for secondary lotteries up to this point 
were just EUR 3.9 million above the expected statistical value 
and were therefore not included in the forecast for 2014.

Expected financial position

We aim to reduce our equity ratio by the partial exchange of equi-
ty through the distribution of dividends and the partial exchange 
of equity with interest-bearing debt.

We expect capital expenditure to be largely unchanged in 2014 
– the corresponding activities will focus on steadily improving 
the performance and security of the system components used, 
updating standard software, and replacing outdated hardware. 
We are planning total investments of EUR 3 –5 million in 2014. 
Moreover, we expect an investment volume of EUR 5 –10 million 
for the expansion of GeoLotto’s business in the UK.

OPPORTUNITIES REPORT

The growing online lottery markets rely heavily on the prevailing 
legal conditions of the respective countries. In certain European 
countries, and especially in North America, we see clear signs of 
a deregulation which may lead to an opening of the local online 
lottery market. This would open up promising potential for Tipp24’s 
core competency in technology and marketing services for on-
line lotteries.

In the United Kingdom, our investment Geonomics already holds 
a licence to operate and market GeoLotto – a lottery based on a 
virtual map. In order to quickly provide the best-possible funding 
for this business opportunity, a joint venture was formed with 
Geonomics. Tipp24 can contribute the online marketing know-

how it has gathered over the years in order to efficiently launch 
this new lottery product on the market. Even a small market 
share of the UK’s current lottery volume would significantly boost 
Tipp24’s revenue. 

Growth opportunities in countries such as Germany are still great-
ly restricted by legislation which goes against valid law and politi-
cal common sense. However, a variety of verdicts may also result 
in steps towards deregulation in Germany over the medium term 
with a direct or indirect impact on lotteries. With its past experi-
ence of the German market, Tipp24 may benefit strongly from 
such a development.

RISK REPORT 

Risk management 

The operating responsibility for risk management is anchored 
within the two business segments. In addition to the risk situa-
tion of Tipp24 SE, its Executive Board assesses the risk position 
of the associated companies in the "Abroad" segment on the basis 
of risk reports provided as part of regular reporting duties, as well 
as special reports about the occurrence or change of particular 
risks, and the audit reports of the respective external auditors. 
Risk management as a whole and the implementation of a risk 
early warning system mainly follow the same guidelines in the 
individual segments. These guidelines are based on the scale of 
business and the respective size of the segments.

In summary, Tipp24 is exposed to the typical sector and market 
risks associated with the economic activities of an international-
ly operating company in the Internet sector. In addition, there are 
market-typical regulatory risks in individual lottery markets from 
possible changes in the respective legal and political situation. 
Finally, there are specific risks associated with the organisation 
of secondary lotteries. These concern the statistical variations 
regarding the size of payouts as well as the increased risk of ma-
nipulation compared to the pure brokerage of lottery products. 

Should one or more of these risks occur, it may materially impact 
Tipp24’s business and have significant adverse effects on its fi-
nancial position and performance.
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The management teams of the respective segments take these 
risks very seriously and consider them in their operating and 
strategic decision processes: the development of the relevant 
risks is constantly monitored, whereby both current and future 
potential dangers are considered with the focus on early recog-
nition, evaluation, prevention and control. 

The systems put in place enable Tipp24 to quickly recognize the 
relevant risks in its segments and overall, as well as to evaluate 
such risks and take measures as quickly as possible.

Tipp24’s risk management functions as follows:

Operating risks are monitored by regularly reviewing financial 
and other key ratios. The monitoring frequency, designated con-
trolling responsibility and determined rules of procedure for de-
fined deviations from target values are stipulated for each ratio. 
In the case of technology risks, pre-defined emergency proce-
dures are implemented. Furthermore, the development of secur
ity standards is continually monitored and corresponding adjust-
ments are regularly made to security systems.

Legislation changes in those markets in which Tipp24 operates 
are regularly evaluated by the Company’s own experts, but also 
with the help of legal advisors where necessary. In this way, un-
usual events can be swiftly recognized and suitable measures 
initiated.

The statistical risks of organising secondary lotteries are moni-
tored by the statistical assessment of the gaming systems of-
fered and the corresponding expected stakes. Under considera-
tion of the available hedging instruments, such as jackpot in- 
surance policies, it is ensured that sufficient liquidity to pay out 
jackpots in the respective gaming systems is always ensured.

The risk management system is firmly anchored in the respec-
tive segments at management level and continually monitored 
and updated. The Executive Board is regularly informed about the 
risk evaluation results. We are convinced that the early warning 
and risk management systems which we have implemented are 
well suited to quickly recognizing and dealing with dangers for 
Tipp24 resulting from possible risks. The risk early recognition 
system has been formally documented. It is regularly monitored 
and adapted where necessary.

Presentation of individual risks

We have identified the following main specific risks for Tipp24’s 
business:

Market and sector risks

General market risks

Business is dependent on the development of the markets in 
which Tipp24 operates. In particular, a negative development of 
the lottery markets, due for example to a decline in advertising, a 
reduction in the product portfolio of game operators or a statistic
ally unusually long period without relevant jackpots may all neg-
atively impact growth. The entry of further competitors into the 
lottery markets, especially online, may also restrict further growth. 
Finally, there is a possibility that use of the Internet itself may 
decline. This would also have a significant detrimental effect on 
Tipp24’s business activities. We believe, however, that this is un-
likely to happen.

Risks from economic development

The gaming behaviour of online customers in those markets of 
Tipp24’s consolidated companies has so far been largely unaf-
fected by macroeconomic fluctuations experienced since the 
launch of gaming operations in 2000. Nevertheless, a possible, 
exceptionally strong economic downturn triggered by the global 
financial crisis may adversely affect the gaming behaviour of our 
customers in certain or all countries in which Tipp24 operates, 
and thus also impact its financial position and performance. 

Financing and currency risks

As Tipp24 conducts a significant proportion of its business in euro, 
there is no significant currency risk for its core activities. How-
ever, the UK companies are exposed to a currency risk regarding 
the British pound and their profit margins may be affected by 
currency fluctuations. Foreign associated companies are eco-
nomically autonomous within their respective markets. This is 
underlined by the fact that they have local general managers 
who are also responsible for controlling the respective financing 
and currency risks.
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Risks from the processing of gaming operations

Tipp24 is dependent on the use of automated processes for hand
ling gaming agreements, whose efficiency and reliability is in 
turn dependent on the functionality and stability of the underly-
ing technical infrastructure. The functional ability of the servers 
and the related hardware and software infrastructure – in par-
ticular specially created gaming software – is of considerable 
significance for the business of Tipp24, as well as for the reputa-
tion and attractiveness of its services for customers. The risk of 
a failure of all relevant components for gaming operations (e.g. 
database servers, application servers, web servers, firewalls, 
routers) is countered by either using redundant systems or en-
tering into maintenance contracts with correspondingly short 
reaction times.

Tax risks

As the result of a tax inspection, there is currently a dispute with 
the relevant tax authority regarding the validity of tax assess-
ments for various items in the inspection period (fiscal years 
2005 to 2007 inclusive). The relevant tax authority has issued a 
tax assessment and respective payment demand amounting to 
EUR 3.6 million (including interest). Tipp24 SE has appealed 
against the assessment and only accepted and paid additional 
demands totalling EUR 0.2 million. An application for suspension 
of execution was filed with the tax authorities for the remaining 
payment demand. This application has been granted. Although 
we have grounds to believe that both items queried by the tax 
authority were correctly assessed in accordance with the rele-
vant regulations, the possibility cannot be excluded that the rel-
evant tax office may continue to challenge this different view – 
also via the financial courts – and may prevail. On 27 December 
2013, the relevant tax office rejected the objection regarding one 
item. Tipp24 SE has taken legal action against this finding. As a 
result, there is a remaining tax risk of up to EUR 3.0 million, plus 
the corresponding time-related interest on arrears (6% p.a.) which 
might have a correspondingly negative effect on the financial 
position and performance of Tipp24 and has been recognized as 
a contingent liability.

Risks from payment transactions

National or international payment transaction restrictions may 
be introduced in connection with the further regulation of gaming 
markets. Moreover, the number of available payment service pro-
viders for the gaming market is restricted. As a consequence, 
there is a risk that such providers may leave this market seg-
ment and no suitable replacement may be available for Tipp24, 
even at a higher cost. Whereas cost increases for payment trans-
actions would have a negative effect on the profitability of indi-
vidual or even all Tipp24 companies, payment transaction re-
strictions or a lack of available payment service providers might 
have a significant adverse effect on the business activities of 
Tipp24. 

Risks from cash and financial investments

At the end of the reporting period, Tipp24 had cash in Germany 
and abroad totalling EUR 85,822 thousand, held in accounts with 
various major European banks. Theoretical default risks resulting 
from the current financial market development are limited by 
thorough and continuous analysis of the relevant credit insti-
tutes. Nevertheless, certain financial institutes where Tipp24 
holds balances may default. Should the global financial crisis 
also deepen further and should – against all expectations – nei-
ther the national bank support systems nor the support pack-
ages provided by the leading industrialised states fail to avert 
the collapse of individual banks, this may result in the break-
down of various or possibly all credit institutes as well as all na-
tional support systems. Such scenarios may lead to the partial 
or complete loss of our cash deposits. Short-term financial as-
sets of EUR 70,307 thousand are invested widely and comprise 
mainly investments with high credit ratings. The collapse of in-
dividual issuers of such securities may lead to the partial or com-
plete loss of these financial assets. The financial assets and 
cash deposits currently held also bear a significant interest risk. 
Further reductions in interest rates may mean that no income 
can be generated from cash deposits and financial assets.
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Personnel risks

Even with careful selection and responsible staff management, 
it cannot be ruled out that a significant number of even experi-
enced employees may leave Tipp24 within a short period of 
time. At the same time, the recruitment of new staff for these 
vacant positions may be time-consuming and costly. In spite of 
stand-in regulations, this could have a material effect on Tipp24’s 
financial position and performance. New staff are carefully se-
lected, often with the help of personnel consultants. Within each 
segment, responsibilities, goals and key success parameters 
are discussed on a regular basis with each employee. Perfor-
mance checks are carried out to ascertain whether these goals 
and parameters have been fulfilled and feedback given to em-
ployees in regular performance reviews. These reviews are also 
used to determine employee satisfaction. The results of these 
reviews are regularly evaluated in order to counter any unde-
sired trends.

General business risks

At the beginning of the fiscal year 2009, the Company’s busi-
ness fields were reorganised. As a result, the ongoing develop-
ment in line with this growth of appropriate internal organisation-
al and risk monitoring structures that allow early recognition of 
undesirable developments and risks – particularly in the IT area 
– was and remains a constant challenge. Further expansion of 
business in new markets and new product areas is planned for 
the years ahead. The challenge will continue to be to identify ex-
isting and new risks, and to assess them correctly in a timely 
manner, as well as to further develop the existing organisational 
and risk monitoring system appropriately and promptly. If gaps 
or defects in the existing organisational and risk monitoring sys-
tem become evident in ongoing practice, or it is not possible to 
create appropriate structures and systems promptly in connec-
tion with the further development of Tipp24, this could lead to an 
impaired ability to recognize and manage risks, trends and unde-
sirable developments in a timely manner. 

Regulatory risks 

There is a risk that the restrictive legal framework continued by 
the GlüStV 2012 may be upheld to a large extent or completely 
also in the medium term. For example, the Internet ban has been 
upheld in principle and private gaming offerings are forbidden 
or subject to the issue of permits without any legal claim to such 
permits. There are also no objective and predictable criteria re-
garding these permits. Tipp24 is making efforts to receive the 
permits in order to resume the operations in Germany it was 
forced to discontinue at the end of 2008. However, considering 
the many years of legal wrangling between Tipp24 SE and the 
authorities and the duration of the permit process which has al-
ready been pending for over a year, we assume that any permit 
application process involving Tipp24 SE will be burdened. In view 
of freely available information on the restrictions for those pro-
viders who have already received permits, it must further be as-
sumed that permits will either not be available at short notice or 
not on acceptable terms, and that initially we will be forced to 
engage in (further) legal disputes. Against this backdrop, we do 
not expect to regain sufficient access to the tremendous poten-
tial of the German gaming market in the near future.

Following the repeal in 2011 of a prohibition order addressed to 
Tipp24 SE regarding the offerings of its minority investments, 
there have been no further attempts by the German authorities 
to challenge Tipp24 SE about its minority investments. In 2011, 
the Administrative Court of Wiesbaden (Verwaltungsgericht – VG) 
had ruled that no action could be taken against Tipp24 SE re-
garding the offerings of its legally independent companies as it 
no longer had control over them. However, the possibility cannot 
be completely excluded that certain authorities will once again 
issue prohibition orders against Tipp24 SE, or impose coercive 
payments and regulatory fines which may be upheld in court. 

Moreover, German authorities are attempting to directly forbid 
or prevent the UK companies from operating their own business 
model. Even if the legal basis for such action outside Germany is 
difficult to comprehend and its effect questionable, it cannot be 
excluded that such measures would hinder or prevent the busi-
ness activities of the UK companies. As in the past, it is possible  
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that the state lottery companies may claim the UK companies 
are being anticompetitive, as they allegedly contravene the 
GlüStV 2012. Even if we assume that the UK companies are act-
ing legally on the basis of valid concessions explicitly allowing  
the activity performed, it cannot be ruled out that they will fail to 
assert their rights in German courts. In this connection, we also 
cannot exclude the possibility that the UK regulatory authorities  
themselves may include restrictions in the licence in view of pos-
sible anti-trust proceedings in Germany. All in all, therefore, we 
cannot exclude the possibility that the above mentioned risks 
may lead to a significant restriction in the business activities of 
the UK companies.

Overall, we believe it is probable that the courts will continue to 
rule that the German monopoly regulations are incoherent and 
disproportional. A coherent implementation of restrictions in-
tended to prevent gambling addiction would not ignore the most 
dangerous games in this respect (commercial gaming machines) 
– even though some aspects of gaming arcades have been sub-
jected to stricter regulations. Policy regarding casinos has hardly 
been changed. Moreover, the liberalization of sports betting af-
fects an area of gaming which is clearly more dangerous than 
lotteries. Current advertising methods of state-run lotteries still 
contradict the aim of preventing gambling addiction and are in-
stead aimed at gaining new customers – as repeatedly criticized 
by jurisdiction. Such incoherencies may result in further rulings 
which declare the new legislation to be inapplicable. It is unclear 
to what extent the views held by several courts in the past will be 
upheld, namely that only the monopoly is ineffective, while the 
permit requirement and Internet ban are effective. The conse-
quences of these views for the present situation are equally un-
clear – not least in view of that the courts have recently ruled on 
several occasions that the legal practice of the state monopo-
lists and supervisory authorities is incoherent, e.g. regarding ad-
vertising for games of chance. There is a strong possibility that 
these questions in respect of the past will no longer be finally 
settled. 

Following the changes introduced by the GlüStV 2012, many 
German authorities are probably now taking the standpoint again 
that the monopoly regulations are (or have become) compliant 
with EU law now. Despite the initial critical tendencies of juris
diction, it is unclear how the courts will rule in these cases. Our 
reservations in this matter continue (see above). In summary, it 
cannot be excluded that the ongoing legal uncertainties arising 
from regulatory developments in Germany will lead to temporary 
or sustained restrictions for the existing or future business fields 
of Tipp24. This may have a significant negative impact on the fi-
nancial position and performance of Tipp24. 

Bookmaking risks of MyLotto24 Limited

Statistical risks of winnings payouts

MyLotto24 Limited bears the bookmaking risks for secondary 
lotteries based on various European lotteries, whereby the pay-
out ratios are based on those offered by the organisers of the 
primary lotteries. Due to statistical fluctuation, these ratios may 
be greater than the payout ratios determined by the gaming sys-
tems of the primary lotteries – for example, around 50% in the 
case of the German Lotto. They may even be temporarily greater 
than the stakes received by MyLotto24 Limited – as was the 
case in September 2009. Insofar as they are not covered by ex-
isting effective hedging arrangements, such statistical payout 
fluctuations may have a significant negative effect on the fi-
nancial position and performance of MyLotto24 Limited, which 
through consolidation would also represent a burden for Tipp24 
as a whole. In 2011, MyLotto24 Limited structured a so-called 
catastrophe bond (CAT bond) via an Insurance-Linked-Security 
(ILS) vehicle to partially transfer its jackpot payment risks to the 
capital market. MyLotto24 Limited informs Tipp24 SE immediate-
ly about individual payouts of at least EUR 5 million. Tipp24 SE 
currently has a communication guideline which requires the pub-
lication of such notifications. It is generally assumed that these 
announcements to the capital market are included in the compa-
ny’s ad hoc disclosure obligations. However, such notifications 
are checked in advance on a case-by-case basis. 
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Risks from the assertion of claims  

from hedging transactions 

It cannot be fully excluded that insurers fail to fulfil their payment 
obligations in future and that such claims have to be enforced in 
court. Such refusals to pay only have a direct impact on the fi-
nancial position and performance of MyLotto24 Limited, and 
thus on Tipp24 by means of consolidation, if the corresponding 
claim has been recognized at all in the balance sheet – for exam-
ple as a result of an initial payment pledge.

ACCOUNTING-RELATED INTERNAL CONTROL  
SYSTEM AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

We regard internal control and risk management as a compre-
hensive system based on the definitions of the Institute of Public 
Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland 
e.V.), Düsseldorf, with regard to an accounting-related internal 
control system and risk management system. These define an 
internal control system as the principles, procedures and meas-
ures introduced by the management of a company, which are 
geared towards the organisational implementation of manage-
ment decisions 

■■ �to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of business activi-
ties (including the protection of assets, including the preven-
tion and disclosure of asset impairment) 

■■ to ensure the correctness and reliability of internal and exter-
nal accounting and 

■■ to ensure compliance with the legal provisions relevant to the 
Company.

The risk management system includes all organisational regula-
tions and measures for risk detection and the handling of risks 
involved with business activity. 

The following structures and processes have been implement-
ed by Tipp24 with regard to the accounting and consolidated  
accounting processes: 

The Group’s Executive Board bears full responsibility for the in-
ternal control and risk management system with regard to the 
accounting and consolidated accounting processes.

All companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
are also included in a firmly defined management and reporting 
organisation. In contrast hereto, the companies of the UK sub-
group are only included via a firmly defined reporting organisa-
tion which regularly provides the Group’s Executive Board with 
information about the following measures: definition of risk areas 
which may lead to developments endangering future survival; 
risk recognition and risk analysis; risk communication; allocation 
of responsibilities and tasks; the establishment of a monitoring 
system; documentation of the measures taken. Moreover, the 
reporting organisation requires that significant risks are to be re-
ported immediately to the Group’s Executive Board on occurrence.

The principles, structure and process organisation, and proce-
dures of the accounting-related internal control and risk manage-
ment system are documented in guidelines and organisational 
directives which are regularly adapted to current external and 
internal developments and which are fully compatible with each 
other in the respective segments.

In the organisational structure of Tipp24, certain accounting-
related processes in Germany and abroad – in particular payroll 
accounting – are outsourced.

Regarding the accounting and consolidated accounting pro-
cesses, we consider those elements of the internal control and 
risk management system to be significant which can have a ma-
terial effect on the Group’s accounting and the overall statement 
of the consolidated financial statements including the Group 
management report. In particular, these include the following: 

■■ the identification of significant risk fields and control areas of 
relevance to the Group-wide accounting process;

■■ controls to monitor the consolidated accounting process and 
its results at the level of the Group Executive Board and at the 
level of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements;
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■■ preventative control measures in the finance and accounting 
system of the Group and of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements and in the operative, per-
formance-oriented company processes that generate signifi
cant information for the preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements including the Group management report, in- 
cluding a separation of functions and pre-defined approval 
processes in relevant areas;

■■ measures that safeguard proper IT-based processing of mat-
ters and data relevant to Group accounting;

■■ reporting information of the foreign companies which enable 
the German parent company to prepare consolidated financial 
statements including the Group management report.

Tipp24 has also implemented a risk management system for the 
consolidated accounting process that contains measures to iden-
tify and assess significant risks and corresponding risk-mitigating 
measures to ensure the correctness of the consolidated finan-
cial statements. 

The tasks of the internal audit system to monitor the internal 
control and risk management system related to consolidated 
accounting are not undertaken by a staff department (Internal 
Audit), but by the Controlling and Accounting departments. More-
over, the Supervisory Board commissioned the external auditors 
to conduct additional audits.

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board also continually seek 
possibilities to develop the processes of the risk management 
system. 

Disclosures And Explanations  
Pursuant To Takeovers 

The following disclosures are in compliance with Sec. 315 (4) 
German Commercial Code (HGB):

COMPOSITION OF SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2013, the subscribed capital of Tipp24 SE 
amounted to EUR 8,385,088 divided into 8,385,088 no-par value 
registered shares. Since the effective relocation of its regis-
tered office to London, UK, on 7 February 2014, the unchanged 
amount of Tipp24 SE’s subscribed capital has been divided into 
8,385,088 registered shares under the laws of England and 
Wales with a nominal value of EUR 1.00 each. The shares are ful-
ly paid. Each share entitles the owner to one vote and is decisive 
for the respective share of profit.

With the exception of own shares, which do not grant any rights 
to Tipp24 SE, all shares grant the same rights. Each share entitles 
the owner to one vote and is decisive for the respective share of 
profit – with the possible exception of any young shares without 
dividend entitlement. The rights and obligations arising from the 
shares are based on the respective relevant statutory regula-
tions. As of 31 December 2013, the Company did not hold any 
own shares.

Restrictions concerning voting rights or the transfer of shares

Own shares do not grant any rights to Tipp24 SE. In cases of Sec. 
136 AktG (voting on own matters), the voting rights conferred by 
the shares concerned are excluded under law. Since the effective 
relocation of the Company’s registered office, however, it is gen-
erally possible for shareholders to vote in their own interests – 
even if there is a conflict of interest. Where a resolution is pro-
posed at a General Meeting regarding the breach of duty of a 
director (Sec. 239(4) Companies Act 2006 ("CA 2006")), or re-
garding the purchase of their shares by Tipp24 SE (Secs. 695, 
717 CA 2006), the director in question may not exercise any 
voting rights. Moreover, since its effective relocation Tipp24 SE 
can legally suspend the voting rights of a shareholder if the Com-
pany requires a person to disclose their interests in the shares of 
Tipp24 SE in question (Sec. 793 CA 2006) and this disclosure 
obligation is not fulfilled (Secs. 794, 797(1)(b) CA 2006). 
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Direct or indirect shareholdings in excess  

of 10 percent of voting rights

The following direct or indirect holdings in the Company’s share 
capital, in excess of 10 percent of total voting rights, were report-
ed to the Company pursuant to Sec. 21 (1) or (1a) WpHG, or 
since the effective relocation in accordance with DTR 5: 

Name, location Shareholding

Othello Drei Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG,  
Hamburg, Germany

24.99%  
(directly)

Othello Drei Beteiligungs-Management GmbH, 
Hamburg, Germany

24.99%  
(attributable)

Günther Holding GmbH,  
Hamburg, Germany

24.99%  
(attributable)

Günther GmbH,  
Bamberg, Germany 

24.99%  
(attributable)

Oliver Jaster,  
Germany

24.99%  
(attributable) 

Owners of shares with special rights conferring  

powers of control

No shares have been issued with special rights conferring powers 
of control. 

Nature of voting-right controls when employees hold  

an interest in share capital and do not make direct use  

of their control rights

Employees holding shares of Tipp24 SE exercise their control 
rights like other shareholders in accordance with legal regula-
tions and the Articles of Association (since effective relocation: 
"Statutes").

Legal regulations and provisions of the statutes regarding  

the appointment and dismissal of Executive Board members 

as well as amendments to the statutes

The members of the management body of Tipp24 SE are appoint-
ed by the supervisory body for a period of no more than five years. 
Members may be re-appointed for further periods of no more 
than five years (Art. 5 (2) of the Articles; since effective reloca-
tion, Sec. 141 of the Statutes). Members of the management body 
are appointed with a simple majority of the votes cast by the su-
pervisory body. In the event of a tie, the chairman of the supervi-
sory body has two votes in a second vote on the same matter 
(Art. 11 (6) of the Articles; since effective relocation, Sec. 173 of 
the Statutes). If a necessary member of the supervisory body is 
missing, the court may appoint a member in urgent cases and on 
application of a person involved in accordance with Sec. 85 AktG 
(since effective relocation, Sec. 156 CA 2006). The management 
body consists of one or more persons pursuant to Art. 5 (1) of 
the Company’s Articles. Since the effective relocation of the Com-
pany’s registered office, the number of members of the manage-
ment body – unless otherwise determined by a resolution of the 
General Meeting – is decided by the supervisory body pursuant 
to Sec. 141 of the Statutes, whereby the minimum number must 
be two members. 

The object of Tipp24 SE is defined in Art. 2 of the Company’s Arti-
cles. Since the effective relocation, the objects of the Company 
are unrestricted pursuant to Sec. 7 of the Statutes. According to 
Sec. 179 AktG (since effective relocation, Sec. 21 CA 2006), reso
lutions concerning changes of the Company’s Articles must be 
adopted by the General Meeting. Pursuant to Sec. 133 AktG, 
Art. 18 (1) of the Articles, and unless otherwise prescribed by 
law, resolutions of the General Meeting are adopted with a simple 
majority of the votes cast and, where necessary, with a simple 
majority of the share capital represented; in the case of an amend-
ment to the Company’s object, a majority of 75% of share capital  
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represented is required pursuant to Sec. 179 (2) AktG. Since the 
effective relocation of the Company’s registered office, the prin-
ciple of a simple voting majority remains, whereby a higher ma-
jority of at least 75% of votes cast is required for so-called ex-
traordinary resolutions or special resolutions. Examples of such 
resolutions would be the authorisation of the management body 
to purchase own shares or to exclude shareholders’ subscription 
rights, as well as all amendments of the Statutes.

POWERS OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD TO ISSUE  
OR BUY BACK SHARES

According to Art. 4 (2) of the Articles, the management body is 
authorised, subject to the approval of the supervisory body, to 
increase share capital in the period up to 28 June 2016 by up to 
a total of EUR 1,197,017 (Authorized Capital 2011/I) by issuing 
on one or more occasions in whole or in partial amounts new no-
par value shares in return for cash or contributions in kind. More-
over, the management body is also authorised, subject to the 
approval of the supervisory body as well as certain conditions 
and within defined limits, to exclude shareholder subscription 
rights. Since the effective relocation of the Company’s registered 
office, there is a comparable authorization in Secs. 14–17 of the 
Statutes.

Prior to the effective relocation, there was Contingent Capital of 
EUR 150,000 pursuant to Art. 4 (3) of the Articles in order to fulfil 
stock options issued under the Stock Option Plan 2005. Since 
the effective relocation date, there is no longer any correspond-
ing provision.

Only the General Meeting can authorize the management body 
to purchase own shares. This has not happened so far.

Significant agreements subject to a change  

of control following a takeover bid 

Compensation agreements in the case of a takeover bid

Dr. Becker has been granted special termination rights in the case 
of a change of control. Within a period of twelve months after a 
change of control, Dr. Becker can terminate his service agreement 
with a notice period of three months to the end of the month. 
Should Dr. Becker make use of this special termination right, he 
shall receive compensation to the amount of three gross month-
ly salaries.

Remuneration Report 

Executive Board remuneration

Executive Board remuneration consists of a fixed basic annual 
salary and a variable component. The fixed component for Dr. 
Cornehl amounts to EUR 400 thousand, for Mr Keil EUR 276 thou-
sand and for Dr. Becker EUR 350 thousand. Moreover, the Super-
visory Board could resolve to grant the Executive Board members 
an additional voluntary bonus for special services to the Company 
and in the case of corresponding economic success of the Com-
pany. 

On achievement of the targets, the variable component amounts 
to 100% of the fixed component. If targets are exceeded, the vari-
able component can rise to a maximum of 200% of the fixed 
amount. It consists of three elements:

1.	� Annual bonus depending on the attainment of certain individ-
ual targets.

2.	� Annual bonus whose payment and size depends on the at-
tainment of certain revenue and earnings targets over a peri-
od of three years. 

3.	�O ne-off bonus at the end of the agreed contractual term, 
whose payment and size depends on the Company’s share 
price at the end of the period.

The size and structure of remuneration is continually monitored 
by the Supervisory Board and is agreed and updated with each 
member of the Executive Board.
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in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2013

Dr. Hans Cornehl 400 519 3) 919

Andreas Keil 1) 253 216 469

Dr. Helmut Becker 2) 204 174 378

Total 857 909 1,766

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration Severance pay 2012

Dr. Hans Cornehl 350 643 – 993

Marcus Geiß 117 246 1,937 2,300

Petra von Strombeck 175 332 – 507

Total 642 1,221 1,937 3,800

1)  since 1 February 2013 
2)  since 1 June 2013
3) �V ariable remuneration includes an amount of EUR 156 thousand resulting from an additional annual  

bonus for work as the sole Executive Board member and for a one-off voluntary "signing-on bonus".

Benefits on termination of  
the Executive Board mandate

If a member of the Executive Board agrees to be reappointed on 
the basis of the contractual conditions offered, the member shall 
receive maximum compensation of half an annual gross salary 
if the company is then culpable in failing to reappoint said mem-
ber. If an appointment to the Executive Board is effectively re-
voked, the Executive Board member has the right to claim com-
pensation: 

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Dr. Hans Cornehl in the 
amount of his remaining gross salaries, but limited to two an-
nual gross salaries

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Dr. Helmut Becker 
limited to 18 monthly gross salaries 

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Andreas Keil limited to 
12 monthly gross salaries 

Should another enterprise gain control over the Company and the 
appointment of an Executive Board member is revoked within 
one year, the Executive Board members have the right to claim 
compensation:

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Dr. Hans Cornehl in the 
amount of his remaining gross salaries, but limited to three 
annual gross salaries 

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Dr. Helmut Becker 
limited to 18 monthly gross salaries 

■■ in the case of Executive Board member Andreas Keil limited to 
12 monthly gross salaries.
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Remuneration of Supervisory Board members

In addition to the reimbursement of their expenses, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board receive for every full financial year 
a fixed annual remuneration of EUR 40 thousand and for their 
activities in one or several committees of the Supervisory Board 
an additional annual remuneration of EUR 13.5 thousand. 

The above remuneration is two-and-a-half times the amount for 
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board or the chairman of one or 
more committees and to one-and-a-half times the amount for the 
respective deputy chairman.

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2013

Andreas de Maizière (Chairman) 134 0 134

Prof. Willi Berchtold until 28 June 2013 (Deputy Chairman) 47 0 47

Peter Steiner since 28 June 2013 (Deputy Chairman) 47 0 47

Oliver Jaster 60 0 60

Dr. Helmut Becker until 31 May 2013 17 0 17

Hendrik Pressmar until 28 June 2013 20 0 20

Thorsten Hehl since 28 June 2013 30 0 30

Bernd Schiphorst since 28 June 2013 20 0 20

Jens Schumann 60 0 60

Total 435 0 435

 

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2012

Andreas de Maizière (Chairman) 134 0 134

Prof. Willi Berchtold (Deputy Chairman) 94 0 94

Oliver Jaster 60 0 60

Dr. Helmut Becker 40 0 40

Hendrik Pressmar 40 0 40

Jens Schumann 60 0 60

Total 428 0 428

London, 19 March 2014

The Executive Board 

	 	

Dr. Hans Cornehl	A ndreas Keil	 Dr. Helmut Becker 

Chairman		
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013

2013 2012

in EUR thousand Notes

Revenues 4 129,933 142,731

Other operating income 5 5,556 6,543

Income from distributing shares in Lotto24 AG 0 18,850

Total operating performance 135,489 168,125

Personnel expenses 6 -11,090 -10,760

Amortization/depreciation on intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment 13, 14 -7,357 -7,058

Other operating expenses 7 -97,584 -93,842

	 Marketing expenses -6,768 -5,923

	 Direct costs of operations -51,718 -52,413

	O ther costs of operations -39,097 -35,507

Result from operating activities (EBIT) 19,459 56,464

	R evenues from financial activities 8 675 673

	E xpenses from financial activities 8 -331 -355

	R esult from associated companies 8 -857 0

	R esult from joint ventures 8 -114 0

Financial result 8 -628 318

Result from ordinary activities 18,831 56,782

Income taxes 9 -8,108 -16,902

Profit from continued operations 10,722 39,880

Profit after tax from discontinued operations 10 -535 1,011

Consolidated net profit1) 10,187 40,891

Earnings per share (basic and diluted, in EUR/share) 1.23 5.12

Earnings per share from continued operations  
(basic and diluted, in EUR/share) 1.30 4.99

Weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding  
(basic and diluted, in shares) 8,268,421 7,985,088

1)  The consolidated net profit is attributable to the owners of Tipp24 SE, London, UK.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013

2013 2012

in EUR thousand Notes

Net profit for the period 10,187 40,891

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit  
or loss in subsequent periods

	�R e-measurement gains on available-for-sale financial assets 26.1 -446 162

 	I ncome tax effect 9 103 48

Other comprehensive income, net of tax -343 210

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 9,845 41,101
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2013

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

ASSETS in EUR thousand Notes

Cash and pledged cash 11 85,822 78,303

Short-term financial assets 11 70,307 53,776

Trade receivables 259 71

Receivables from joint ventures 190 0

Income tax refund claims 24 6

Other assets and prepaid expenses 12 12,386 9,482

Available-for-sale current assets 0 698

Total current assets 168,988 142,336

Intangible assets 13 12,905 18,054

Other equipment, furniture & fixtures and leased assets 14 2,143 2,226

Financial assets 15 4,511 8,281

Shares in associated companies 16 17,538 18,395

Shares in joint ventures 17 5,069 0

Other assets and prepaid expenses  435 269

Deferred tax assets 9 1,992 1,656

Total non-current assets 44,593 48,881

ASSETS 213,581 191,217
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31/12/2013 31/12/2012

EQUITY & LIABILITIES in EUR thousand Notes

Trade payables 26 9,812 6,568

Other liabilities 18 17,971 18,900

Financial liabilities 26 108 110

Deferred income 19 3,783 3,460

Income tax liabilities 9 3,607 6,510

Short-term provisions 20 1,540 3,456

Debts in connection with available-for-sale current assets 0 410

Total current liabilities 36,821 39,414

Long-term provisions 20 0 83

Deferred tax liabilities 9 1,204 1,344

Total non-current liabilities 1,204 1,427

Subscribed capital 21 8,385 7,985

Capital reserves 21 22,741 7,805

Other reserves 21 -209 134

Retained earnings 21 144,639 134,451

Total equity 175,556 150,375

EQUITY & LIABILITIES 213,581 191,217
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013

2013 2012

in EUR thousand Notes

	 Profit from continued operations before tax 18,831 56,782

	 Profit from discontinued operations before tax -54 1,011

Result before tax 18,776 57,793

Adjustments for

Amortization/depreciation on non-current assets 7,357 7,058

Result from disposal of non-current assets 84 4

Result from foreign exchange transactions -177 101

Revenues from financial activities 8 -675 -673

Expenses from financial activities 8 331 355

	�I ncome from distributing shares in Lotto24 AG  
and deconsolidation of Lotto24 AG 0 -20,359

	 Deconsolidation of Giochi24 S.r.l. -4 0

	S hare of result from associated companies 8 857 0

	S hare of result from joint ventures 8 114 0

Other non-cash changes 70 -28

Changes in

Trade receivables -188 -240

	R eceivables from joint ventures -190 0

Other assets and prepaid expenses -2,893 -2,789

Financial assets 3,765 -3,948

Non-current other assets or prepaid expenses -166 360

Trade payables 3,244 1,505

Other liabilities -2,035 -2,962

Financial liabilities -2 9

Short-term provisions -893 -1,187

Deferred income 323 1,111

Non-current provisions 0 83

Interests received 679 273

Interests paid -350 -345

Taxes paid -11,276 -13,575

Cash flow from operating activities 16,751 22,546
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2013 2012

in EUR thousand Notes

	 Changes (net) on financial investments (short-term) -17,011 11,888

	 Payments for investments in company acquisitions 17 -5,069 -18,395

	 Payments for investments in intangible assets -939 -1,408

	 Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 282 500

	 Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment -1,255 -667

	 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 3 25

Cash flow from investing activities -23,988 -8,058

	 Capital increase 21 16,000 0

	 Payments for transaction costs -663 0

Cash flow from financing activities 15,337 0

Changes in cash and pledged cash 8,100 14,448

Cash at the beginning of the period (except pledged cash) 77,946 63,366

Changes due to consolidation -582 -267

Changes in pledged cash 0 400

Cash at the end of the period (except pledged cash) 85,465 77,946

Composition of cash at the end of the period

Cash and pledged cash 11 85,822 78,303

Pledged cash 11 -357 -357

85,465 77,946
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013

in EUR thousand Share  
capital

Capital  
reserves

Other  
reserves

Retained  
earnings

Total  
equity

As at 1 January 2012 7,985 7,805 -21 113,523 129,291

Contribution to other provisions 0 0 0 0 0

Dividend in kind 0 0 0 -19,963 -19,963

Adjustments of balance sheet loss 0 0 0 0 0

Withdrawal from capital reserves 0 0 0 0 0

Share-based payments 0 0 -54 0 -54

Other results 0 0 210 0 210

Net profit 2012 0 0 0 40,891 40,891

Total net profit 2012 0 0 0 40,891 40,891

As at 31 December 2012 7,985 7,805 134 134,451 150,375

As at 1 January 2013 7,985 7,805 134 134,451 150,375

Contribution to other provisions 0 0 0 0 0

Dividend in kind 0 0 0 0 0

Capital increase 400 15,600 0 0 16,000

Transaction costs for capital increase 0 -663 0 0 -663

Adjustments of balance sheet loss 0 0 0 0 0

Withdrawal from capital reserves 0 0 0 0 0

Share-based payments 0 0 0 0 0

Other results 0 0 -343 0 -343

Net profit 2013 0 0 0 10,188 10,188

Total net profit 2013 0 0 -343 10,188 9,845

As at 31 December 2013 8,385 22,741 -209 144,639 175,556

Explanations are provided in Note 21.
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Tipp24 SE, London, was formed in 1999 in Hamburg. Tipp24 SE holds a 

group of consolidated companies (hereinafter referred to as Tipp24) 

comprising the following companies:

■■ GSG Lottery Systems GmbH, Hamburg (hereinafter referred to as GSG), 
■■ Tipp24 Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg  

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 Deutschland), 
■■ Ventura24 S.L., Madrid, Spain (hereinafter referred to as Ventura24), 
■■ Ventura24Games S.A., Madrid, Spain  

(hereinafter referred to as Ventura24Games), 
■■ Giochi24 S.r.l. (sold on 31 January 2013), Monza, Italy  

(hereinafter referred to as Giochi24),
■■ MyLotto24 Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as MyLotto24), 
■■ Tipp24 Services Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 Services),
■■ Smartgames Technologies Limited (formerly Tipp24 Operating 

Services Limited), London, United Kingdom (hereinafter referred  

to as Smartgames),
■■ Tipp24 (UK) Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 UK),
■■ Tipp24 Investment 1 Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 Investment1),
■■ Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 Investment2),
■■ LottoNetwork Limited, London, United Kingdom  

(hereinafter referred to as LottoNetwork UK),
■■ LottoNetwork Services S.r.l., Monza, Italy  

(hereinafter referred to as LottoNetwork Italy), 
■■ Tipp24 (US) Incorporation, Wilmington, United States of America 

(hereinafter referred to as Tipp24 US),
■■ as well as Schumann e.K., Hamburg  

(hereinafter referred to as Schumann e.K.).

For over fourteen years, Tipp24 has been operating privately in a Europe-

an lottery market which is still dominated by state operators. Tipp24’s 

activities are divided strictly between its "Germany" and "Abroad" seg-

ments.

End-user business in Germany

In fiscal year 2013, our business in Germany comprized the field of 

class lotteries. The processing of class lottery tickets was governed by a 

cooperation agreement with Schumann e.K., whose sole shareholder is 

the former Executive Board member and current Supervisory Board 

member Jens Schumann. It conducts its operations on the basis of a 

sales agreement with the management of the North German State Lot-

tery (Norddeutsche Klassenlotterie – NKL) and by way of appointment 

by the management of the South German State Lottery (Süddeutsche 

Klassenlotterie – SKL). Norddeutsche Klassenlotterie (NKL) and Süd-

deutsche Klassenlotterie (SKL) have been marketed since 2012 as 

"GKL – Gemeinsame Klassenlotterie der Länder". The business volume 

generated by customers in Germany primarily comprises the stake 

money remitted to the gaming operators. Our revenues consist of com-

missions received for submitting lottery tickets to the lottery companies. 

End-user business abroad

The entire non-German business of Tipp24 – i.e. its activities in Spain, 

Italy and the UK – is pooled with the fully consolidated UK-based minority 

holding MyLotto24 Limited. This company organises English secondary 

lotteries based on various European lotteries. In addition, Tipp24 Services 

Limited acts as broker for various lotteries and other games in the UK.

In Spain, Ventura24 S.L. currently offers the national 6 out of 49 lottery 

(La Primitiva) and related lottery teams, the Christmas lottery (Sorteo de 

Navidad), the European lottery EuroMillones and other Spanish lotteries. 

Due to the legal difficulties regarding the online brokerage of the state-li-

cenced lottery SuperEnalotto, business in Italy was discontinued some 

years ago. Revenue in Spain results mainly from additional fees.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED Financial STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 
ACCORDING TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)
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With regard to the organising of games in the UK, revenue results from 

stakes received less vouchers granted, and winnings to be distributed. 

Licence and operator fees payable in the UK are disclosed as a cost po-

sition within "Other operating expenses". In our UK brokerage business, 

revenue is generated by commissions received from game organizers, 

as well as additional fees charged to players. Winnings are subject to 

considerable statistical fluctuations compared to the expected value 

based on the playing systems of the reference games. In order to im-

prove comprehension of the earnings position, the effect on revenue of 

any deviation between expected and actual payouts is also stated.

Business model adapted to GlüStV

Following the implementation of the second stage of the German State 

Treaty on Games of Chance (GlüStV), which completely prohibited the 

brokering of state-run lotteries via the Internet as of 1 January 2009, 

Tipp24 SE discontinued its lottery brokerage activities in Germany. Its 

alignment was therefore brought in line with the regulatory environment 

– although Tipp24 SE continues to fight in the courts for the resumption 

of its business in Germany. In the course of this realignment, Tipp24 SE 

transferred assets that it no longer required to MyLotto24 Limited and its 

subsidiaries, which had been active in the UK since 2007. This con-

cerned both the brokerage of state-run German lottery products, as well 

as the subsidiaries Ventura24 S.L. in Spain and Giochi24 S.r.l. in Italy. In 

addition, Tipp24 SE transferred control over its UK subsidiaries in accord-

ance with company law in the second quarter of 2009 to reflect the au-

tonomy and individual responsibility of these companies in their respec-

tive business fields. Specifically, 60% of the voting shares in both 

MyLotto24 Limited and Tipp24Services Limited were sold to a Swiss 

foundation set up by Tipp24 SE in the form of preference shares stripped 

of their main economic rights. These shares have a guaranteed limited 

right to dividends of up to a total of GBP 30 thousand p.a. The inclusion of 

this affiliated company and its respective subsidiaries in the consolidat-

ed financial statements is based on an economic view of their situation, 

whereby the significant opportunities and risks are still borne by Tipp24 

SE.

Resumption of business in Germany

In our former core market of Germany, Lotto24 AG began restricted bro-

kerage activities with the state lottery company of Schleswig-Holstein as 

of 20 February 2012.

Against the backdrop of the current legal and actual implementation of 

the gaming monopolies, including the lottery monopoly in Germany, the 

European Court of Justice (ECJ) declared on 8 September 2010 that key 

regulations of the GlüStV were not applicable as they represented an un-

justifiable restriction of basic European freedoms.

Despite the clear ruling of the European Court of Justice (ECJ), a number 

of German public authorities have passed various orders and prohibi-

tions which affected both Tipp24 itself as well as other market partici-

pants. Several lower national administration courts have since declared 

that the obligation to seek permission is not applicable – in application 

of the ECJ ruling. 

Despite these reservations regarding the compliance of Germany’s 

gaming monopoly with EU law, Germany’s Federal Administrative Court 

(BVerwG) and Federal Supreme Court (BGH) generally confirmed the 

blanket Internet ban and need for permission in sports betting proceed-

ings of the GlüStV – which expired on 30 June 2012 – without any indi-

cation that they regarded the legal position of lottery brokerage any dif-

ferently, despite the lack of high court verdicts.

The state of Schleswig-Holstein decided against an Internet ban and the 

need for permits – in the case of lottery brokerage – in its new "Schles

wig-Holstein Gaming Law", which came into effect on 1 January 2012. 

On 1 July 2012, the "First State Treaty to Revise the State Treaty on Games 

of Chance" (GlüStV 2012) came into effect in the other federal states of 

Germany. It retains many of the restrictive regulations of the GlüStV 

2008 and only offers relief in certain areas. 

In view of the current legal situation since the introduction of the amend-

ed GlüStV 2012 – which still generally forbids the online brokerage of 

lotteries but allows official permits in special cases – these recent ver-

dicts are not likely to be of any lasting significance.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The registered office of Tipp24 SE is located in 25 Southampton Build-

ings, London WC2A 1AL, United Kingdom (formerly Falkenried-Piazza, 

Straßenbahnring 11, 20251 Hamburg, Germany).

The balance sheet date is 31 December 2013. Fiscal year 2013 covered 

the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013.

Tipp24 SE has been listed at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Prime Stand-

ard) since 12 October 2005 and was accepted into the German SDAX on 

22 June 2009.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on 19 March 2014 

with a resolution of the Executive Board and subsequently forwarded to 

the Supervisory Board for examination and adoption. 

2 GENERAL ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The significant accounting principles applied by the Company in pre-

paring the consolidated financial statements are presented below. The 

methods described were consistently applied to the reporting periods, 

unless otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 GENERAL

The consolidated financial statements of Tipp24 as of 31 December 

2013 were prepared in accordance with the valid IFRS and IFRIC of the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) which have to be applied 

in the EU as of the balance sheet date and the applicable additional regu

lations under German Commercial Law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB.

New and revised standards which are mandatory  

for the first time as of 31 December 2013 but whose  

initial application has no impact on earnings

IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement"

aims to improve measurement continuity and reduce complexity. It de-

scribes how fair value is to be defined, how it is measured and what dis-

closures need to be made. The provisions do not expand the scope of fair 

value measurement but explain how fair value is to be applied in those 

cases already required or permitted by standards.

Amendment to IAS 1 "Financial Statement Presentation" –  

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendment to IAS 1 calls for a new grouping of items presented in 

Other Comprehensive Income. Items that will be reclassified (so-called 

recycling) to profit or loss at a future point in time (including net loss or 

gain on available-for-sale financial assets) have to be presented sepa-

rately from items that will not be reclassified (including effects from the 

revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments affect presentation 

only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" (revised 2011)

Contains regulations on the accounting and disclosure of employee 

benefits. The amendments aim to make it easier for the addressees of 

financial statements to understand how defined benefit plans influence 

a company’s earnings, financial position and net assets. 

Amendment to IFRS 7 "Disclosures" –  

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to IFRS 7 result in new disclosure requirements for the 

reconciliation of the gross to net risk position of financial instruments. 

The disclosures are based on netted financial instruments and those not 

netted but subject to master netting agreements. The amendments to 

IFRS 7 are mandatory for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 

2013. The disclosures are to be made retrospectively for all comparative 

periods disclosed. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS – Cycle 2009 – 2011

The annual improvements contain amendments to five standards, IFRS 1, 

IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 32, IAS 34.

	 Notes  Tipp24 SE Annual Report 2013	  	 51



IFRS 1 – Repeated Application of IFRS 1

The amendment clarifies that an entity which already applied IFRS in an 

earlier reporting period, but whose most recent prior annual financial 

statements did not include an explicit and unreserved statement of 

compliance with IFRS and which is again presenting IFRS financial state-

ments for the current reporting period has the option to either apply IFRS 1  

again or alternatively to apply IFRS retroactively in compliance with IAS 8 

as if it had never stopped applying it. 

IFRS 1 "Borrowing Costs"

The amendments clarify that borrowing costs capitalized according to 

previous accounting regulations prior to the transition to IFRS can be 

adopted without adjustment at the time of transition. Borrowing costs 

incurred on or after the date of transition to IFRS and that relate to quali-

fying assets under construction should be accounted for in accordance 

with IAS 23 "Borrowing Costs". 

The amendments also clarify that a first-time adopter can choose to ap-

ply IAS 23 as of a date earlier than the transition to IFRS.

IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements"

Clarification to the effect that a company must prepare a third balance 

sheet as of the opening balance sheet date of the previous year’s period 

if it applies an accounting method retrospectively or has adjusted or re-

classified items in the annual financial statements retrospectively, and 

if this retrospective application, adjustment or reclassification has mate-

rial effects on the information contained in the opening balance sheet. 

Corresponding disclosures do not have to be made for this third balance 

sheet. 

The amendments furthermore clarify that no additional comparable fig-

ures for reporting periods going back further than the comparable period 

required by IAS 1 have to be provided. Nonetheless, a company may 

choose to voluntarily provide individual parts of the annual financial 

statements for additional periods, including the related disclosures in 

the notes, if such additional information was prepared pursuant to IFRS. 

This does not, however, result in an obligation to provide all parts of the 

annual financial statements for these additional periods. 

IAS 16 "Property, Plant and Equipment" –  

Classifying Maintenance Devices

The amendment clarifies that replacement parts, spare or replacement 

devices and maintenance devices must be recognized pursuant to IAS 

16 if they fulfil the definition of property, plant and equipment. Other-

wise, they are classed as inventories.

IAS 32 "Financial Instruments" – Presentation

Clarification that the tax effects from dividend distributions to investors 

as well as from transaction costs related to equity transactions must be 

exclusively recognized pursuant to IAS 12.

IAS 34 "Interim Financial Reporting"

Clarification that the total assets per segment only need to be separately 

disclosed in interim financial reporting if these are regularly provided to 

the chief operating decision maker (as defined by IFRS 8) and there has 

been a material change from the amounts disclosed in the last annual 

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 1 "Government Loans"

The amendments to IFRS 1 provide relief to first-time adopters of IFRS by 

allowing prospective application of IAS 39 or IFRS 9 and paragraph 10A of 

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 

Assistance to low interest-bearing government loans outstanding at the 

date of transition to IFRS.

IFRIC 20 "Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine"

IFRIC 20 applies to waste removal costs incurred in surface mining activ-

ity during the production phase of a mine ("stripping costs"). Under this 

interpretation, the stripping costs which provide improved access to ore 

are recognized as a non-current asset ("stripping activity asset") when 

certain criteria are met, whereas the costs of normal ongoing stripping 

activities during the production phase are accounted for in accordance 

with IAS 2 "Inventories". The stripping activity asset is accounted for as 

an addition to, or enhancement of, an existing asset and classified as 

tangible or intangible according to the nature of the existing asset of 

which it forms part.
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New and revised standards and interpretations  

which are not yet mandatory

The following new or revised standards have already been issued by the 

IASB, but are not yet mandatory. The Company did not apply the regula-

tions prematurely. These requirements have no significant impact on 

the Company.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 3

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Date from which application of IFRS 9 becomes  
mandatory and details regarding the transition 2, 3

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities 1, 3

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 Transitional Guidelines 1

Amendments to IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements 1

Amendments to IAS 28 (2011) Consequential Amendments 1

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 1

IFRIC 21 Levies 1,3

Amendments to IAS 36 Disclosures on the Recoverable Amount for  
Non-Financial Assets 1, 3

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of OTC Derivatives and Continuation  
of Existing Hedging Relationships 1, 3

Amendments to IFRS (2010 – 2013) 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to the following standards:
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment 
IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures
IAS 38 Intangible Assets 4

Improvements to IFRS (2011 – 2013) 
 

Amendments to the following standards:
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 4

1)  To be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
2)  To be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
3)  Not yet endorsed by the EU.
4)  To be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
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IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments"

Issued in November 2009, IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" introduced 

new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

assets. IFRS 9 amended in October 2010 includes the requirements for 

the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for dere

cognition. 

IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" 

expands the existing principles. IFRS 10 focuses on the introduction of a 

standard consolidation model for all companies based on the concept of 

control of subsidiaries by the parent company. The standard also con-

tains additional guidelines which help ascertain whether there is control 

– especially in difficult cases. The Group has discussed the new regula-

tions in depth and does not expect any changes in its consolidation 

strategy. 

IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements"

aims to specify accounting principles for companies involved in joint ar-

rangements. The term "joint arrangement" is defined and the parties in-

volved are obliged to determine the type of joint arrangement in which 

they are each involved. To this end, they must assess their rights and 

obligations and recognize such rights and obligations according to the 

respective type of joint arrangement.

IFRS 12 "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities"

IFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s 

interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured 

entities. The requirements in IFRS 12 are more comprehensive than the 

previously existing disclosure requirements for subsidiaries. For exam-

ple, where a subsidiary is controlled with less than a majority of voting 

rights (de facto control). 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 "Consolidated Financial 

Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other 

Entities, Transitional Guidelines"

The amendments contain clarifications on certain transitional guidelines 

on first-time adoption of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011)  

"Investment Entities"

According to the amendments to IFRS 10, an investment entity must 

account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss (not optional).

Consequential amendments to IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011) concern add

itional disclosure requirements for investment entities.

Amendments to IAS 27 (2011) "Separate Financial Statements" 

The requirements for separate financial statements remain unchanged in 

the amended IAS 27. The other sections of IAS 27 are replaced by IFRS 10.

Amendments to IAS 28 (2011) "Investments in Associates  

and Joint Ventures"

Amended IAS 28 contains consequential amendments resulting from 

the publication of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12.

Amendments to IAS 32 "Offsetting Financial Assets  

and Financial Liabilities"

The amendments to IAS 32 merely clarify the current offsetting rules.

IFRIC 21 "Levies"

IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the 

activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, 

occurs (e.g. bank levies). In this case, the obligating event for the recog-

nition of a liability is identified as the activity that triggers payment under 

the relevant legislation. Levies are only recognized in the balance sheet 

when the obligating event occurs. The obligating event may also occur 

gradually over a period of time so that the liability is recognized pro rata.

Amendments to IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets" –  

Disclosures on the Recoverable Amount for Non-Financial Assets

This amendment removes the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on 

the disclosures required under IAS 36. In addition, the amendment re-

quires disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or cash gen-

erating units for which impairment loss has been recognized or reversed 

during the period. The amendment is effective retrospectively for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application 

permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also applied. 
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Amendments to IAS 39 "Novation of Derivatives and  

Continuation of Hedge Accounting"

As a result of the amendment to IAS 39, derivatives are still designated 

as hedging instruments in existing hedging relationships despite a no-

vation with the interposition of a central counterparty.

Improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012)

Amendment to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" 

clarifies that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a 

liability shall be measured at fair value at each reporting date.

Amendment to IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement"

clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and amending IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not re-

move the ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no 

stated interest rate at their invoice amounts without discounting if the ef-

fect of not discounting is immaterial.

IAS 16 "Property, Plant and …quipment" 

clarifies that when an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued 

the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with 

the revaluation of the carrying amount.

IAS 24 "Related Party Disclosures"

clarifies that an entity providing key management personnel services to 

the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity is a related party 

of the reporting entity.

IAS 38 "Intangible Assets"

clarifies that when an intangible asset is revalued the gross carrying 

amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of 

the carrying amount.

Improvements to IFRS (2011 – 2013)

Amendment to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations"

clarifies that IFRS 3 excludes from its scope the accounting for the forma-

tion of a joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrange-

ment itself.

Amendment to IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement"

clarifies that the scope of the portfolio exception defined in paragraph 52 

of IFRS 13 includes all contracts accounted for within the scope of IAS 39 

"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" or IFRS 9 "Finan-

cial Instruments", regardless of whether they meet the definition of finan-

cial assets or financial liabilities as defined in IAS 32 "Financial Instru-

ments: Presentation". 

There are no standards or interpretations not yet mandatory which the 

Group has applied prematurely.

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of 

historical cost. Excluded from this were available-for-sale financial as-

sets, which were carried at fair value.

2.3 MEASUREMENT CURRENCY

The measurement currency is the euro (EUR). Unless otherwise stated, 

amounts are stated in thousands of euros (EUR thousand), which may 

lead to rounding differences in certain cases.

2.4 ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the stated amounts 

of earnings, expenses, assets and liabilities and their respective disclo-

sures as well as the presentation of contingent liabilities. The uncertain-

ties relating to these estimates and assumptions may lead to results 

which require substantial adjustments of the carrying values of assets 

and liabilities in future periods.

In addition, the following forward-looking assumptions and margins of 

error as of the balance sheet date mean that there is a risk that the carry-

ing values of assets and liabilities may need to be amended in future:

Share-based payment

The cost of granting stock options to employees is measured by the 

Group using the fair value of these stock options at the moment they 

were granted. A valuation process has been determined to estimate their 

fair value; this depends on the conditions attached when granted. The 

valuation process also requires consideration of further relevant data, in 

particular the expected option term, volatility and dividend yield, as well 

as the corresponding assumptions. These assumptions and the related 

procedures are disclosed in Note 21.4.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax loss carryforwards 

to the extent that it appears probable that taxable income will be avail

able, so that the loss carryforwards can actually be used. When deter-

mining the amount of the deferred tax assets, management must make 

estimations regarding the expected time and size of the future taxable 

income, as well as future tax planning. Further details are provided in 

Note 9.
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Development costs

Development costs for intangible assets are capitalized in accordance 

with the accounting and measurement methods stated in Note 2.16, 

provided that the corresponding requirements are met. In order to deter-

mine the expected future benefit, management must make assump-

tions about the size of expected future cash flows from assets, the dis-

count rates to be applied and the period of the expected future cash 

flows generated by the asset.

2.5 CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

a) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include Tipp24 SE as the parent 

company and the subsidiaries it controls. Control is assumed to exist if 

the parent company holds more than 50% of the voting rights in an entity 

and is able to determine its financial and operating policies so as to ob-

tain benefits from its activities. 

On 30 April 2009, Tipp24 SE transferred control over its UK subsidiaries 

in accordance with company law and sold 60% of the voting shares in 

both MyLotto24 and Tipp24 Services to a Swiss foundation set up by 

Tipp24 in the form of preference shares stripped of their main economic 

rights. As a consequence, Tipp24 owns no more than half the voting 

rights in MyLotto24, while MyLotto24 owns no more than half the vot-

ing rights in Tipp24 Services. The inclusion of these affiliated companies 

and their respective subsidiaries in the consolidated financial state-

ments is based on an economic view of their situation, whereby the sig-

nificant opportunities and risks are still borne by Tipp24:

■■ The owner of the majority of voting rights receives a preliminary an-

nual dividend of up to GBP 15 thousand for each company. In the case 

of liquidation, the owner of the majority of voting rights is entitled to 

receive previously agreed liquidation proceeds of GBP 30 thousand. 

Tipp24 SE alone is entitled to the entire remaining profits and any 

remaining liquidation proceeds. 

■■ Should certain conditions be met, Tipp24 SE has the right to repur-

chase the majority of voting rights for an amount of GBP 30 thousand 

for each company.

■■ Tipp24 SE can sell its shares in MyLotto24 as well as its right to repur-

chase the majority of voting rights in MyLotto24 and Tipp24 Services.

■■ Tipp24 SE has the right to block changes in the articles of MyLotto24 

and Tipp24 Services.

The possibility of distributing profits of MyLotto24 to Tipp24 SE is re-

stricted insofar as this requires certain conditions to be met. 

Since its restructuring in 2009, Tipp24 SE holds (directly or indirectly) 

100% of the shares in Tipp24 Deutschland, Tipp24 UK, 75% of the shares 

in Tipp24 Investment 1, and 40% of the voting rights in the UK sub-group. 

In addition to its parent company, MyLotto24, the UK sub-group includes 

100% of shares in the subsidiaries GSG, Ventura24Games, LottoNetwork 

UK, LottoNetwork Italy, Giochi24 (sold on 31 January 2013), Smartgames 

and 40% of the voting rights in Tipp24 Services.

On 2 April 2013, Tipp24 SE founded a 75% subsidiary, Tipp24 Invest-

ment 2 Limited, with registered offices in London, UK.

Tipp24 SE has neither an equity interest nor any voting rights in Schu-

mann e.K. Nevertheless, Schumann e.K. was included in the consolidat-

ed financial statements in accordance with IAS 27 and SIC 12.10 be-

cause:

■■ the activities of Schumann e.K. are mainly conducted for the benefit 

of Tipp24 SE,

■■ Tipp24 SE has decision-making powers and rights to obtain the ma-

jority of the benefits from the activities of Schumann e.K. and

■■ the owner-related and lender-related risks are contractually borne by 

Tipp24 SE.

Intragroup expenses and income, profits and receivables and liabilities 

are eliminated. 

In the consolidated financial statements, standard accounting policies 

are applied for like transactions and other events in similar circumstan

ces. The financial statements of the consolidated entities have been pre-

pared as of the balance sheet date of the parent company, which corres

ponds to the Group’s balance sheet date.

In the course of 2011, MyLotto24 sponsored an Insurance-Linked-Sec

urity (ILS) vehicle which partially transfers its bookmaking risk to the 

capital market. The CAT bond was placed with institutional investors out-

side the Group by a special purpose entity. MyLotto24 Limited has no 

controlling influence, no exposure to the residual risk, no right to receive 

benefits and therefore no exposure to risk in respect of the ILS; hence 

MyLotto24 Limited does not include the entity in its consolidated finan-

cial statements.
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b) Associated Companies

Associated companies are those companies over which the Group has 

significant influence but no control, generally accompanied by a share-

holding of 20 to 50%. Shares held in associated companies are ac-

counted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associated company is 

initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is 

adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 

associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associated 

company is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is 

neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.

The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of oper-

ations of the associated company. When there has been a change rec-

ognized directly in the equity of the associated company, the Group 

recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement 

of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from trans-

actions between the Group and the associated company are eliminated 

to the extent of the interest in the associated company.

The Group’s share of profit or loss of an associated company is shown 

on the face of the income statement and represents profit or loss after 

tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associated 

company. The financial statements of the associated company are pre-

pared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, 

adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with 

those of the Group.

On 21 December 2012, Tipp24 Investment 1 Limited acquired a 25.7% 

interest in Geonomics Global Games Limited (formerly Roboreus Limit-

ed) with registered offices in London, UK. This investment is disclosed 

as an associated company. 

c) Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a company over whose business activities the Group 

and one or more partners have joint control, which has been founded by 

a contractual agreement and which requires unanimous consent for 

strategic financial and operating decisions. 

Interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity 

method and initially recognized at cost. The cost of the investment also 

includes transaction costs. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income of those companies account-

ed for using the equity method, after adjustments to align the account- 

ing policies with those of the Group, from the date on which the signifi-

cant influence or joint control begins to the date on which the significant 

influence or joint control ends.

When the Group's share of the losses exceeds the value of its interest in 

a company accounted for using the equity method, the carrying value of 

this share including all non-current portions attributable to it, is reduced 

to zero and further losses are no longer recognized except to the extent 

that the Group has an obligation or has made payments for the invest-

ment company.

On 1 October 2013, Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited acquired 50% of the 

shares in Geo24 UK Limited, based in London, UK. 

This investment is carried as a joint operation.

2.6 CLASSIFICATION IN CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial 

position based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current 

when:

■■ the asset is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or con-

sumed in the normal operating cycle,

■■ the asset is held primarily for the purpose of trading,

■■ the asset is expected to be realized within twelve months after the 

reporting period, or 

■■ it is cash or a cash equivalent unless restricted from being ex-

changed or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after 

the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when:

■■ the liability is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle,

■■ the liability is held primarily for the purpose of trading,

■■ the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the report-

ing period, or

■■ the company has no unconditional right to defer the settlement of 

the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets 

and liabilities.
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2.7 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives, and 

non-financial assets at fair value at each balance sheet date. The fair val-

ues of financial instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed 

in Note 26.1.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 

at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 

presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 

takes place either: 

■■ in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

■■ in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous mar-

ket for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the 

Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions 

that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a 

market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the 

asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market partici

pant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circum-

stances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 

use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in 

the financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 

described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 

the fair value measurement as a whole: 

■■ Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities, 

■■ Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly ob-

servable, 

■■ Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements 

on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have oc-

curred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value meas-

urement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

2.8 REVENUES

Revenues are recognized when i) services have been rendered, ii) it is 

probable that the economic benefits attributable to the transaction will 

flow to the entity, and iii) the amount of revenue can be reliably meas-

ured. Revenue is disclosed net of VAT, discounts, customer bonuses and 

rebates. 

Revenues disclosed by Tipp24 are recognized according to their under-

lying transactions. Revenues which MyLotto24 generates as the organ-

izer of secondary lotteries based on various European lotteries are rec-

ognized at the moment the draw results of the respective lotteries are 

announced. Stakes received as of the balance sheet date, but which are 

intended for games whose draw results are not available until after the 

balance sheet date, are accrued. Revenues result from the stakes re-

ceived less vouchers granted, and winnings to be distributed.

A contract to participate in an English secondary lottery based on vari-

ous European lotteries is to be treated as a derivative. The definition of a 

derivative is to be applied to contracts for participation in an English sec-

ondary lottery as in such contracts payment is linked to the outcome of 

a random event. In comparison with the possible payout amount, the 

contract also requires relatively low stakes. The contracts are concluded 

before the event occurs and, in the case of a win, the payout is made in 

the future after the event has occurred.

Profits or losses from a change in the fair value of derivatives are to be 

recognized in current net profit. Stakes and payouts are therefore not 

regarded as separate income and expenditure, but determine in total the 

fair value.

A possible term for such items in the income statement could be 

"Changes in the fair value of contracts for participation in English sec-

ondary lotteries". Throughout the sector, however, this item is generally 

termed "Revenues", as it refers to the ordinary activity of a company in 

the gaming industry.

License and operator fees payable to the British state are carried as "Other 

operating expenses" and not as a kind of sales tax within revenues.

58	  	



Revenue also results from commissions and fees which Tipp24 re-

ceives for brokering bets. In the brokerage business, revenue is recog-

nized when the bets have been made, the lottery ticket information 

passed on to the lottery organizer and confirmation of receipt of the in-

formation has been obtained. Ventura24 receives advance payments 

from some of its customers for subscriptions. Payments received are 

deferred and the revenue pursuant to IAS 18 is only recognized when the 

lottery ticket information has been passed on to the lottery organizer 

and confirmation of receipt of the information has been obtained. 

Revenue generated by Tipp24 from selling "Klassenlotterie" tickets (a 

single raffle lottery played over a number of months where players’ tickets 

are entered into monthly draws with winnings increasing over time) is 

recognized at the time the draw takes place. This is due to the different 

arrangement made in the sales agreement.

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable and represent the amounts receivable less expected custom-

er returns, discounts and other similar deductions.

2.9 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 

outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the ex-

pected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 

initial recognition. 

2.10 INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable 

and deferred tax.

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when 

they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respec-

tively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 

for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting 

for the business combination.

2.10.1 CURRENT TAX

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable 

profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income state-

ment because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deduct

ible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 

Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

2.10.2 DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carry-

ing amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial state-

ments and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of tax-

able profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for 

all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which those deductible tempo-

rary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or 

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable prof-

it nor the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and inter-

ests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the rever-

sal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary dif-

ference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences asso-

ciated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the 

extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 

which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the as-

set realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measure-

ment of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 

that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end 

of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its as-

sets and liabilities.
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2.11 OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses are recognized at the time the products or goods are 

delivered or the services provided.

2.12 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which 

they are incurred.

2.13 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in euro. Each 

company within Tipp24 determines its own functional currency. All cur-

rency differences from foreign exchange transactions are recognized in 

profit and loss. The Group currency (euro) is also the functional currency 

of all fully consolidated companies.

2.14 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the balance sheet date are events which could be favoura-

ble or unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period 

and the date on which the consolidated financial statements are pre-

pared. Events that provide further material evidence of conditions that 

existed at the end of the reporting period ("adjusting events") are recog-

nized in the consolidated financial statements. Significant events that 

provide evidence of conditions that existed after the end of the reporting 

period ("non-adjusting events") are discussed in Note 27.

2.15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable 

to the Group after tax by the weighted average number of outstanding 

shares during the financial year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated 

assuming that all potentially dilutive securities and equity-based com-

pensation plans are converted or exercized.

2.16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

a) Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately, i.e. 

not as part of a business combination, are carried at cost less accumu-

lated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The estimated 

useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each re-

porting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted 

for on a prospective basis. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately 

are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

The Group has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that were 

acquired separately.

The following useful lives were used to calculate amortization:

years

Patents, trademarks 3–5

Licences 3–5

Software 3

b) Internally-generated intangible assets –  

research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the 

period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or 

from the development phase of an internal project) is recognized if, and 

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

■■ the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it 

will be available for use or sale;

■■ the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

■■ the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

■■ how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic 

benefits;

■■ the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources 

to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; 

and

■■ the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the in-

tangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets 

is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible 

asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internal-

ly-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expendi-

ture is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets 

are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are ac-

quired separately.

In fiscal year 2013, research and development expenditure of EUR 568 

thousand was recognized, compared to EUR 999 thousand in the previ-

ous year. 

c) Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future eco-

nomic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses aris-

ing from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the differ-

ence between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

asset, are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

The amount is carried in other operating income or other operating ex-

penses.

2.17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated 

depreciation and recognized impairment losses. Property, plant and 

equipment relate exclusively to items of office equipment.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of as-

sets (other than freehold land and properties under construction) less 

their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

The following useful lives have been assumed for the various groups of 

property, plant and equipment:

years

Technical equipment	 2–14

Office equipment 3–25

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal 

or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the con-

tinued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retire-

ment of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sales proceeds and the residual amount of the 

asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

2.18 IMPAIRMENT OR WRITE-BACKS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The Group assesses on every balance sheet date whether there is any 

indication of impairment of its non-financial assets. If there is any indica-

tion of impairment, the Group makes an estimation of the recoverable 

amount of the respective asset. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value of an 

asset or cash-generating unit less selling costs and its value in use. The 

recoverable amount must be determined for each individual asset, un-

less the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independ-

ent from other assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an 

asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 

is considered impaired and written down to its recoverable amount. 

In order to calculate the value in use of the asset, estimated future cash 

flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects the current market expectations of interest and the specific 

risks of the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent mar-

ket transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transac-

tions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

A review of non-financial assets is carried out on each reporting date to 

ascertain whether there is any indication that previously recognized im-

pairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previ-

ously recognized impairment loss is only reversed if there has been a 

change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 

amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 

The reversal is limited to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset 

may not exceed its recoverable amount nor the carrying value that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss 

had been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal is recognized 

in the income statement.
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2.19 LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the les-

see. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases

Finance leases apply to those assets for which all main opportunities 

and risks associated with the property have been transferred to the 

Company. The Company recognizes finance leases as assets and liabili-

ties in its balance sheet at amounts equal at the inception of the lease to 

the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. In calculating the present value of the mini-

mum lease payments, the discount rate is the interest rate implicit in the 

lease, if this is practicable to determine. If not, the lessee’s incremental 

borrowing rate is used. Initial direct costs incurred are capitalized as part 

of the asset. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance 

charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge 

is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a con-

stant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Finance leases give rise to a depreciation expense for the asset as well 

as to a finance expense for each accounting period. The depreciation 

policies for leased assets are consistent with those for depreciable as-

sets that are owned.

Operating leases

Lease payments under an operating lease in which all main risks associ-

ated with the leasing object are retained by the lessor, are recognized as 

an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.20 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their 

carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 

rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only 

when the sale is highly probable and the non-current asset (or disposal 

group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Manage-

ment must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify 

for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classi-

fication.

Non-current assets and disposal groups which are classified as held for 

sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell.

2.21 RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are recognized when a Group entity becomes a party to 

the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets (other 

than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the 

fair value of the financial assets on initial recognition. Transaction costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:

■■ financial assets "at fair value through profit or loss"

■■ "held-to-maturity" investments

■■ "available-for-sale" financial assets 

■■ "loans and receivables" 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 

assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way 

purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized 

on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 

frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

2.21.1 CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION

a) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized 

cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the rele-

vant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or re-

ceived that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 

costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carry-

ing amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments 

other than those financial assets classified as 'at fair value through profit 

or loss'. 
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b) Financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss'

Financial assets are classified as 'at fair value through profit or loss' 

when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as 'at 

fair value through profit or loss'.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

■■ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near 

term, or

■■ on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial in-

struments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual 

pattern of short-term profit-taking, or

■■ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging in-

strument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be des-

ignated as 'at fair value through profit or loss' upon initial recognition if:

■■ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measure-

ment or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise, or

■■ the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or finan-

cial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is eval-

uated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s document-

ed risk management or investment strategy, and information about 

the grouping is provided internally on that basis, or

■■ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded deriva-

tives, and IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-

ment" permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 

designated as 'at fair value through profit or loss'.

Financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss' are stated at fair value, 

with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit 

or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any 

dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the 

'other gains and losses' line item in the consolidated income statement.

c) Held-to-maturity financial instruments

Held-to-maturity financial instruments are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the 

Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial instruments are measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impair-

ment.

d) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either 

designated as available-for-sale or are classified as 

a)	 loans and receivables or

b)	 held-to-maturity financial instruments or

c)	 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets are subse-

quently measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recog-

nized in other comprehensive income and credited in the 'available- 

for-sale' reserve until the investment is derecognized, at which time the 

cumulative gain or loss is recognized in other operating income, or the 

investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is 

reclassified from the 'available-for-sale' reserve to the statement of profit 

or loss in finance costs. Interest earned whilst holding available-for-sale  

financial assets is reported as interest income using the effective inter-

est rate method.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its avail- 

able-for-sale financial assets in the near term is still appropriate. When, 

in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial as-

sets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these fi-

nancial assets if the management has the ability and intention to hold 

the assets for foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the 'available-for-sale' category, 

the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its 

new amortized cost and any previous gain or loss on the asset that has 

been recognized in equity is amortized to profit or loss over the remain-

ing life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference 

between the new amortized cost and the maturity amount is also amor-

tized over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. 

If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount 

recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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e) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans 

and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bank balances 

and cash, and others) are measured at amortized cost using the effec-

tive interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, ex-

cept for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be 

immaterial.

2.21.2 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets, other than those 'at fair value through profit or loss’, are 

assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting peri-

od. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objec-

tive evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 

flows of the investment have been affected. 

For 'available-for-sale' equity investments, a significant or prolonged de-

cline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be 

objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could 

include:

■■ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

■■ breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments; or

■■ the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset be-

cause of financial difficulties.

Certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets 

that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition, as-

sessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of im-

pairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past ex-

perience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 

payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as 

well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 

correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impair-

ment loss recognized is the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discount-

ed at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impair-

ment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment 

loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receiv

ables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allow-

ance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is 

written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 

amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance ac-

count. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognized in profit or loss.

When an 'available-for-sale' financial asset is considered to be impaired, 

cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehen-

sive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent peri-

od, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 

be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was rec-

ognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized 

cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

In respect of 'available-for-sale' equity securities, impairment losses pre-

viously recognized in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. 

Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recog-

nized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the head-

ing of investments revaluation reserve. 

In respect of 'available-for-sale' debt securities, impairment losses are 

subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair val-

ue of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring af-

ter the recognition of the impairment loss.
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2.21.3 DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual 

rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the 

financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  

of the asset to another entity. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the 

Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated 

liability for amounts it may have to pay. 

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the 

financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the 

proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference be-

tween the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration re-

ceived and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 

recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 

is recognized in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when 

the Group retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred asset), 

the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset 

between the part it continues to recognize under continuing involve-

ment, and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the relative fair 

values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between 

the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognized 

and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recog-

nized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recog-

nized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss. A 

cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehen-

sive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recog-

nized and the part that is no longer recognized on the basis of the relative 

fair values of those parts. 

2.22 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

a) Initial recognition and measurement

On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as either financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, paya-

bles, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effec-

tive hedge.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case 

of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable trans-

action costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, as well 

as loans. 

b) Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 

classification:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial 

liabilities held for trading and other financial liabilities designated upon 

initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred 

for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also in-

cludes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that 

are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as 

defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified 

as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging in-

struments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the state-

ment of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 

profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only 

if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any 

financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.
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c) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability 

is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial liability 

is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 

an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the origi-

nal liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the re-

spective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

2.23 CASH AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

The balance sheet item "Cash and short-term financial assets" includes 

cash and bank deposits with terms of less than three months. Cash and 

bank deposits are carried at cost. 

2.24 EQUITY

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 

the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instru-

ments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net 

of direct issue costs. Issue costs are those costs which would not have 

been incurred if the equity instrument had not been issued.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized 

and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or 

loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 

equity instruments.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group company are classified 

as financial liabilities or equity depending on the economic purpose of 

the contractual agreement and the definitions.

2.25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

A share-based payment is a transaction in which the entity receives or 

acquires goods or services either as consideration for its equity instru-

ments or by incurring liabilities for amounts based on the price of the 

entity's shares or other equity instruments of the entity.

The stock options issued by the Company are classified as share-based 

payment transactions, whereby the method of settlement is at the Com-

pany’s discretion.

2.26 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal 

or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group 

will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consid-

eration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the report-

ing period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 

the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows esti-

mated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 

value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is 

material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision 

are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recog-

nized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be re-

ceived and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

a) Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognized and 

measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist 

where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of 

meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic bene-

fits expected to be received from the contract.

b) Compensation on termination

A liability is recognized for benefits upon termination of employment if 

the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits.

2.27 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the annual financial state-

ments. Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility of an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits is probable.
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3 SEGMENT REPORTING

For the purposes of corporate control, Tipp24 is organized in business 

units with the following two segments, which differ in terms of the con-

trol exercised:

The "Germany" segment comprises all activities which are controlled by 

Tipp24 SE. This includes activities in both Germany and the UK. The 

"Abroad" segment mainly comprises activities in the UK, as well as in 

Spain and Italy, which are controlled by the minority shareholding.

No segments were pooled together to form the above business seg-

ments. The development of each segment is evaluated on the basis of 

revenue and EBIT. The group-wide financial management system (in-

cluding financial expenses and income) and income taxes are con-

trolled separately according to the segments "Germany" and "Abroad" 

and allocated to the individual business segments. Transfer prices be-

tween segments were calculated at standard conditions on an arm’s 

length basis.

in EUR thousand Germany Abroad Consolidation Consolidated

01/01–31/12 01/01–31/12 01/01–31/12 01/01–31/12

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue 379 469 129,554 142,993 0 -730 129,933 142,731

Depreciation/amortization 116 173 4,858 4,501 2,383 2,383 7,357 7,058

EBIT -12,986 7,434 35,681 47,985 -3,236 1,046 19,459 56,464

Financial result -1,658 -287 786 8 243 596 -628 318

Income taxes 62 -4,705 -8,854 -11,734 684 -463 -8,108 -16,902

Profit from continued operations -14,582 2,442 27,613 36,258 -2,308 1,180 10,722 39,880

Assets 60,436 52,387 139,076 133,515 -58,253 -50,123 141,259 135,779

Reconciliation to balance sheet

Deferred taxes 1,992 1,656

Tax refund claims 24 6

Short-term financial assets 70,307 53,776

Total assets 62,883 52,803 207,842 188,065 -57,144 -49,651 213,581 191,217

Debts 37,018 27,616 30,608 34,623 -34,413 -29,252 33,213 32,987

Reconciliation to balance sheet

Deferred taxes 1,204 1,344

Tax liabilities 3,607 6,510

Total debts 38,430 28,618 32,808 40,216 -33,214 -27,993 38,205 40,841

Investments 5,069 18,420 2,190 2,014 -12 -37 7,247 20,397

Segment assets do not include deferred taxes, tax refund claims or 

short-term financial assets. Segment liabilities do not include deferred 

taxes, tax liabilities or interest-bearing liabilities.
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4 REVENUES

In 2013, revenues fell by EUR 12,798 thousand to EUR 129,933 thou-

sand. In fiscal year 2013, the actual payout ratio varied by 1.2%-points 

(prior year: -5.5%-points) from the expected value.

MyLotto24 Limited, a fully consolidated minority shareholding of Tipp24, 

recognized a jackpot win of around EUR 6.8 million on 21 August 2013 

and a jackpot win of around EUR 15.7 million on 7 December 2013 in sec-

ondary lotteries it held. 

For the organization of secondary lotteries, reference is made to the or-

ganization of lottery gaming systems which have a fixed ratio of payouts 

to stakes. The ratio of payouts to stakes is known as the payout ratio. In 

the lottery gaming systems organized by the operators of those refer-

ence games of relevance to Tipp24, there is a fixed underlying payout ra-

tio of 50% in the gaming system for ongoing lottery draws. This underlying 

payout ratio corresponds to the expected payout ratio for the organization 

of secondary lotteries.

There may be deviations from this expected value during the actual draws 

of secondary lotteries. Such deviations are chance effects and represent 

statistical fluctuations of the ratio of payouts to stakes. A payout ratio 

above the expected value results in revenues below the expected rev

enue figure, while a lower payout ratio increases actual revenues in com-

parison to the expected figure.

In order to aid comprehension of the consolidated annual financial state-

ments and earnings, the following table therefore presents the reconcilia-

tion between actual revenues and revenues adjusted for chance effects, 

as well as the impact of deviations between actual winnings payouts and 

the expected value.

Revenues

in EUR thousand 2013 2012 Deviation absolute

Revenues 129,933 100.0% 142,731 100.0% -12,798

+/- Deviations between actual winnings  
payouts and expected value 3,125 2.4% -14,119 -9.9% 17,244

Revenues adjusted for chance effects 133,058 102.4% 128,612 90.1% 4,446
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5 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Income from hedging transactions 3,285 4,173

Income from realized and unrealized foreign exchange differences 1,736 458

Income not relating to the period 15 37

Income from lottery tickets bought for own account 19 18

Other 501 1,856

Other operating income 5,556 6,543

Other operating income from realized and unrealized foreign exchange 

differences amounted to EUR 1,736 thousand in 2013 (prior year: EUR 

458 thousand).

6 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Tipp24 recognized total personnel expenses of EUR 11,090 thousand in 

2013 (prior year: EUR 10,760 thousand). Of this total, an amount of EUR 

9,481 thousand (prior year: EUR 9,124 thousand) referred to wages and 

salaries and EUR 1,609 thousand (prior year: EUR 1,639 thousand) to 

social security contributions. In Germany, pension insurance contribu-

tions of EUR 251 thousand (prior year: EUR 212 thousand) were made 

by the employer. The proportion of employer social security contribu-

tions accounted for by pension insurance contributions is not disclosed 

separately in the UK, Spain and Italy.
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7 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Marketing expenses 6,768 5,923

Cost of hedging transactions 22,261 22,608

License and operator fees 18,195 19,608

Non-deductible input tax 4,218 3,965

Handling of customer payments 2,965 2,863

Traffic 1,371 1,465

Service/maintenance of online application 1,367 1,300

Bad debt 856 252

Product processing 486 352

Direct costs of operations 51,718 52,413

 

Third-party capacities/services 17,120 17,185

Consulting 7,993 12,192

Other expenses 1) 6,742 1,958

Rent & leasing 2,444 1,758

Exchange rate differences 1,915 45

Travel, training and representation costs 1,416 983

Non-deductible expenses 601 485

Office expenses and insurance 579 583

PR, CSR and lobbying expenses 287 316

Other costs of operations 39,097 35,507

Other operating expenses 97,584 93,842

1) �O ther expenses include expenses of EUR 182 thousand relating to other periods  

(prior year: EUR 138 thousand).

Marketing expenses rose by 14.3% to EUR 6,768 thousand (prior year: 

EUR 5,923 thousand). 

Direct operating expenses fell by 1.33% to EUR 51,718 thousand in the 

period under review (prior year: EUR 52,413 thousand). License and oper-

ator fees payable to the British state are carried as costs in this item. In  

addition, costs are disclosed in this item which were incurred in connec- 

tion with hedging transactions of MyLotto24 as well as costs incurred dur-

ing the processing of gaming operations as a result of the organizer’s ina-

bility to deduct input tax.

Other costs of operations rose by 10.1% to EUR 39,097 (prior year: EUR 

35,507 thousand). They mainly comprise increased costs for the reloca-

tion of Tipp24 SE to London, UK.
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8 FINANCIAL RESULT

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Revenues from financial activities

Other interest and similar income 240 320

Income from other long-term securities and loans 434 353

675 673

Expenses from financial activities 

Interest expenses and similar expenses -331 -355

-331 -355

Share of the profit or loss of associates accounted for using the equity method -857 0

Share of the profit or loss of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method -114 0

-628 318

The disclosed share of the loss of associates accounted for using the 

equity method refers to the loss of Geonomics Global Games Limited.

The disclosed share of the loss of joint ventures accounted for using the 

equity method refers to the loss of Geo24 UK Limited.

9 INCOME TAXES 

Income taxes paid or payable as well as deferred taxes are recognized as 

income taxes. 

Income taxes of Tipp24 SE as a separate company comprise corporate 

income tax, trade tax and the solidarity surcharge. 

The corporate income tax rate in Germany amounts to 15% (in 2013 as 

in the previous year), while the solidarity surcharge remains 5.5% of cor-

porate income tax.

Trade tax on income is levied on the trading profit of an entity, insofar as 

it refers to operations in Germany. Trading profit is calculated by taking 

the taxable income according to income and corporation tax law together 

with any additions or subtractions according to German trade tax law. 

The effective trade tax on income rate depends on the municipality in 

which the entity maintains a permanent establishment for carrying on 

its operations. The effective trade tax on income rate for Hamburg in 

2013 amounted to 16.45% (2012: 16.45%).

In the case of foreign companies, the respective country-specific regula-

tions and tax rates are used for the calculation of current income taxes.
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The same percentages are used to calculate deferred taxes.

Deferred taxes under IAS 12 are calculated at the anticipated average tax 

rate at the time the differences are reversed. For the calculation of de- 

ferred taxes, the total tax rate for domestic companies amounted to 

32.28% (prior year: 32.28%). In the case of foreign companies, the re-

spective country-specific regulations and tax rates were used to calcu-

late deferred taxes.

Tax reconciliation

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Actual tax expense -8,960 -12,870 

Tax expense/income from the use/recognition of deferred tax assets on  
loss carryforwards/temporary differences 151  -4,111 

Tax expense/income from the recognition/reversal of deferred tax liabilities  
due to temporary differences 220 79 

Deferred taxes 371  -4,032 

Actual and deferred income taxes -8,588  -16,902 

Earnings before taxes from continued operations 18,831  56,782 

Result before taxes from discontinued operations -54 1,011 

Earnings before taxes 18,777  57,793 

Income tax rate in % 32.275%  32.275% 

Expected tax expense -6,060 -18,653 

Income/expenses IFRS without deferred tax (VBR, stock options) 214 17

Additions acc. to §8 GewStG (see tax calculation) -3 -8 

Tax effects from not fully deductible operating expenses -62 -254 

Tax loss carryforwards not capitalized -4,933 -1,753

Tax rate difference of foreign subsidiaries 2,710 -4,044 

Tax effects from not fully taxable income 0 97

Non-taxable expenses/income from consolidation -517 -259

Tax effects from previous years 76  -129 

Others -14  -4 

Income taxes 8,588  16,902 

Tax expense disclosed in the consolidated income statement 8,108  16,902 

Tax expense attributable to discontinued operations 480 0

8,588  16,902 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities developed as follows:

 
in EUR thousand

 
01/01/2013

 
Income/expense

Neutral  
(via equity)

 
31/12/2013

Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences 1,591 257 103 1,951

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 65 -24 0 41

1,656 232 103 1,992

in EUR thousand 01/01/2013 Income/expense 31/12/2013

Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences 1,344 -140 1,204

1,344 -140 1,204

Of the deferred tax assets carried by Tipp24, an amount of EUR 41 thou-

sand refers to tax loss carryforwards, and an amount of EUR 1,951 thou-

sand to temporary differences. Based on current business planning of 

the companies concerned, except for Tipp24, positive results and cash 

flows are expected in future and thus taxable income will be generated. 

Deferred tax liabilities amounting to EUR 1,204 thousand result mainly 

from the different treatment of self-produced software.

Of total tax loss carryforwards amounting to EUR 28,679 thousand as of 

the balance sheet date (prior year: EUR 30,600 thousand), Tipp24 did 

not form deferred taxes for an amount of EUR 27,200 thousand (prior 

year: EUR 20,227 thousand).

In the course of a tax inspection, there is currently a dispute with the 

relevant tax authority regarding the validity of tax assessments for vari-

ous items in the inspection period (fiscal years 2005 to 2007 inclusive). 

Although we have grounds to believe that all the items queried by the tax 

authority were correctly assessed in accordance with the relevant regu-

lations, the possibility cannot be excluded that the relevant authority 

may come to a different conclusion and successfully uphold this view in 

any respective legal proceedings. As a result, there is a total tax risk of up 

to EUR 3.0 million, which might have a correspondingly negative effect 

on the earnings, financial position and net assets of Tipp24.
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10 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Skill-Based Games business model was unable to match the profit

ability of our core business over the long term. We therefore decided to 

discontinue activities in this division in an orderly process.

As of 31 December 2011, Tipp24 Deutschland was thus classified as a 

discontinued operation.

The result of Tipp24 Deutschland can be broken down as follows:

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Revenues 12 1,786

Expenses -66 -774

Financing expenses 0 0

Impairment charge from restatement at fair value 0 0

Profit before tax from discontinued operations -54 1,011

Income taxes -481 0

Profit after tax from discontinued operations -535 1,011

The net cash flow of Tipp24 Deutschland was as follows:

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Cash flow from operating activities 125 -34

Cash flow from investing activities 0 500

Cash flow from financing activities 0 0

Net cash flow 125 466

Earnings per share from discontinued activities amounts to:

Earnings per share from discontinued activities  
(basic and diluted, in EUR/share) -0.06 0.13
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11 CASH AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Bank balances 85,460 77,942

Cash on hand 5 5

Pledged cash 357 357

Cash and pledged cash 85,822 78,303

Bank balances mainly comprise sight and term deposits on short-term 

call and with variable interest rates held at various major European 

banks. 

In addition, Tipp24 held available-for-sale short-term financial assets 

amounting to EUR 17,594 thousand as of the balance sheet date (pri-

or year: EUR 18,079 thousand). They comprise shares and fixed-in-

come funds. These securities are broadly spread and of high quality.  

A negative change in equity of EUR 343 thousand (prior year: EUR 210 

thousand) was recognized under consideration of deferred taxes. There 

were held-to-maturity financial assets of EUR 52,713 thousand as of 

the balance sheet date (prior year: EUR 35,696).

As of the reporting date, Tipp24 therefore has total available funds of 

EUR 156,129 thousand (prior year: EUR 132,079 thousand).
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12 OTHER ASSETS AND PREPAID EXPENSES 

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Receivables from lottery companies 121 137

Receivables from payment systems 2,266 2,793

Receivables from hedging transactions 0 46

Receivables from players 268 359

Security retainers 2,509 511

Receivables from gaming operations 5,164 3,846

Prepaid expenses 5,156 3,003

Receivables from tax authorities for sales tax 184 158

Receivables from loans granted 1,700 392

Receivables from employees 22 22

Creditors with debit balances 56 45

Other 104 2,015

Others 1,882 2,474

Other assets and prepaid expenses 12,386 9,482

All other assets and prepaid expenses are due in less than one year. As 

of the balance sheet date, there were no indications of impairment which 

would have entailed the recognition of an impairment loss.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

With regard to the development of intangible assets, we refer to the fol-

lowing table:

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 1 January 31,195 32,370

Additions 935 1,408

Disposals -751 -2,486

Disposals due to changes in consolidation -267 -97

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 December 31,113 31,195

Accumulated depreciation as of 1 January -13,141 -9,615

Depreciation and value adjustments of the period -6,078 -5,931

Disposals 744 2,396

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 267 9

Accumulated depreciation as of 31 December -18,207 -13,141

Net book value as of 31 December 12,905 18,054

The remaining useful lives of intangible assets are between one and 

five years.

in EUR thousand Software
Other  

software Licences Total

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 1 Jan. 2012 23,792 8,050 528 32,370

Additions 0 1,298 110 1,408

Disposals 0 -2,396 -90 -2,486

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 0 0 -97 -97

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2012 23,792 6,952 451 31,195

Additions 0 935 0 935

Disposals 0 -750 -1 -751

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 0 0 -267 -267

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2013 23,792 7,137 184 31,113
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in EUR thousand Software
Other  

 software Licences Total

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 1 Jan. 2012 -4,298 -5,209 -108 -9,615

Depreciation and value adjustments of the period -4,765 -1,008 -158 -5,931

Disposals 0 2,396 0 2,396

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 0 9 0 9

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2012 -9,064 -3,811 -267 -13,141

Depreciation and value adjustments of the period -4,765 -1,299 -14 -6,078

Disposals 0 744 0 744

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 0 0 267 267

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2013 -13,829 -4,365 -14 -18,207

The item "Software" refers to the value of gaming software. The item "Other 

software" contains all other software products.

There are no restrictions on rights of disposal for the above mentioned 

intangible assets. Once again, no assets were pledged as collateral for 

liabilities.

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

With regard to the development of property, plant and equipment, we 

refer to the following table:

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 1 January 7,573 6,987

Additions 1,255 707

Disposals -2,546 -116

Disposals due to changes in consolidation -3 -5

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 December 6,279 7,573

Accumulated depreciation as of 1 January -5,348 -4,295

Depreciation of the period -1,279 -1,126

Disposals 2,488 72

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 3 1

Accumulated depreciation as of 31 December -4,136 -5,348

Net book value as of 31 December 2,143 2,226

There are currently no assets from financial leases.
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in EUR thousand
Office 

equipment Hardware

Office 
equipment 

under 
construction Total

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 1 Jan. 2012 1,190 5,797 0 6,987

Additions 38 669 0 707

Disposals -2 -114 0 -116

Disposals due to changes in consolidation -5 0 0 -5

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2012 1,221 6,352 0 7,573

Additions 32 629 595 1,255

Disposals -258 -2,287 0 -2,546

Disposals due to changes in consolidation -3 0 0 -3

Accumulated acquisition costs as of 31 Dec. 2013 992 4,693 595 6,279

in EUR thousand
Office 

equipment Hardware

Office 
equipment 

under 
construction Total

Accumulated depreciation as of 1 Jan. 2012 -814 -3,481 0 -4,295

Depreciation and value adjustments of the period -174 -952 0 -1,126

Disposals 2 70 0 72

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 0 1 0 1

Accumulated depreciation as of 31 Dec. 2012 -986 -4,362 0 -5,348

Depreciation and value adjustments of the period -211 -1,068 0 -1,279

Disposals 222 2,266 0 2,488

Disposals due to changes in consolidation 3 0 0 3

Accumulated depreciation as of 31 Dec. 2013 -968 -3,168 0 -4,136

15 LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

Long-term financial assets of EUR 4,511 thousand (prior year: EUR 

8,281 thousand) include loans to external service companies. As of the 

balance sheet date, there was no cause for impairment requiring value 

adjustment.
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16 SHARES IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group holds a stake of 25.7% in Geonomics Global Games Limited, 

London, UK.

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Shares in the assets and liabilities of the associated company   

Short-term assets 2,130 2,776

Long-term assets 343 334

Short-term liabilities 158 225

Long-term liabilities 0 0

Equity 2,315 2,885

Share in profit or loss of the associated company   

Revenue 567 0

Annual net loss -587 0

Other comprehensive income 0 0

Total comprehensive income -587 0

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)

Reconciliation of the stated summarized financial information to the carrying 

value of the investment in Geonomics Global Games Limited disclosed in the 

consolidated financial statements:

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Net assets of the associated company 10,595 13,205

Group’s shareholding 25.7% 25.7%

Group’s share in result -587 0

Write-downs on undisclosed reserves (net) 270 0

Carrying value of the Group’s shareholding in Geonomics Global Games Limited 17,538 18,395

Geonomics Global Games Limited is accounted for in the consolidated 

financial statements using the equity method.

The fiscal year of Geonomics Global Games Limited ends on 31 December. 
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17 SHARES IN JOINT VENTURES

On 1 October 2013, Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited acquired 50% of the 

shares in Geo24 UK Limited in London, UK. Tipp24 Investment 2 paid a 

purchase price of EUR 5,105 thousand.

Geo24 UK Limited is accounted for in the consolidated financial state-

ments using the equity method.

The fiscal year of Geo24 UK Limited ends on 31 December.

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013

Shares in the assets and liabilities of the associated company  

Short-term assets 2,145

Long-term assets 12

Short-term liabilities 1,315

Long-term liabilities 0

Equity 842

Share in profit or loss of the joint venture

Revenue 11

Annual net loss -114

Other comprehensive income 0

Total comprehensive income -114

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)

Reconciliation of the stated summarized financial information to the car-

rying value of the investment in Geo24 UK Limited disclosed in the con-

solidated financial statements:

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013

Net assets of the joint venture 1,685

Group’s shareholding 50.00 %

Group’s share in result -114

Carrying value of the Group’s shareholding in Geo24 UK Limited 5,069

(Rounding differences possible due to presentation in EUR thousand)
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18 OTHER LIABILITIES

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Liabilities to players 13,117 14,448

Liabilities to lottery companies -6 -7

Liabilities to game brokers 683 118

Liabilities from gaming duty 202 2,177

Liabilities from gaming operations 13,996 16,736

VAT 1,165 1,167

Wage & church tax 299 119

Tax liabilities 1,464 1,286

Social security contributions 122 143

Liabilities from social security 122 143

Outstanding invoices 600 512

Other liabilities 1,787 211

Other liabilities 2,387 734

Total other liabilities 17,971 18,900

All other liabilities are due in less than one year.

19 DEFERRED INCOME

The company disclosed deferred income of EUR 3,783 thousand (prior 

year: EUR 3,460 thousand). It relates to payments for gaming orders 

and stakes received prior to 31 December 2013, yet which can only be 

recognized when the service is provided in the following year.
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20 PROVISIONS

  
in EUR thousand

Opening balance  
01/01/2013

Usage Releases Additions Closing balance  
31/12/2013

Provisions for bonuses 1,835 -1,835 0 935 935

Provisions for bonuses, long-term 83 -83 0 0 0

Provisions for lawsuits 1,538 -1,538 0 550 550

Other provisions 0 0 0 55 55

Total 3,456 -3,456 0 1,540 1,540

Provisions for lawsuits amounting in total to EUR 550 thousand (prior 

year: EUR 1,538 thousand) comprise the court costs and lawyers’ 

fees incurred for trial preparation and management. Bonus provisions 

are likely to be paid out in the first quarter of 2014. 

Income from the release of provisions was recognized with the ex-

pense items they were originally incurred for.

All provisions are likely to be used within one year.

21 EQUITY

21.1 SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s share capital equals its capital stock of EUR 8,385 thou-

sand. It is fully paid and divided into 8,385,088 no-par value registered 

shares.

21.2 AUTHORIZED AND CONDITIONAL CAPITAL

On 16 April 2013, the Executive Board of Tipp24 – with the approval of 

the Supervisory Board – resolved on a capital increase for cash of 5.01% 

of share capital under the exclusion of shareholder subscription rights. 

The Company’s share capital was increased by EUR 400,000, from EUR 

7,985,088 to EUR 8,385,088, by making partial use of the Company’s 

Authorized Capital as adopted by the Annual General Meeting of 29 June 

2011. To this end, the Company issued 400,000 new, registered, no-par 

value shares with dividend entitlement as of 1 January 2012.

Following the resolution and successful implementation of the capital 

increase on 16 April 2013, the Executive Board is authorized, subject to 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase share capital in the 

period up to 28 June 2016 by up to a total of EUR 1,197 thousand by 

issuing on one or more occasions in whole or in partial amounts new 

no-par value shares in return for cash or contribution in kind (Authorized 

Capital 2011/I).

Up to the effective relocation date, there was conditional capital of EUR 

150 thousand to serve stock options issued as part of the Stock Option 

Plan of 29 June 2011, pursuant to Section 4 (3) of the Articles of Associ-

ation. As of the effective relocation date, there is no longer any corres

ponding provision.

Up to the effective relocation date, there was conditional capital of EUR 

10 thousand to serve stock options issued as part of the Stock Option 

Plan of 7 September 2005, pursuant to Section 4 (4) of the Articles of 

Association. As of the effective relocation date, there is no longer any 

corresponding provision.
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21.3 CAPITAL RESERVES

Capital reserves amount to EUR 22,741 thousand (prior year: EUR 7,805 

thousand). In the course of the increase in share capital, an amount of  

EUR 15,600 thousand was added to capital reserves. 

The transaction costs for the capital increase amounted to EUR 663 thou-

sand. As a result, capital reserves increased by EUR 14,937 thousand 

– from EUR 7,805 thousand to EUR 22,741 thousand.

21.4 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

As part of the creation of Conditional Capital I at the Annual General Meet-

ing of 7 September 2005, the Executive Board was authorized to estab-

lish a stock option plan (SOP 2005). This SOP 2005 expired in 2010. No 

more stock options are currently outstanding from the five SOP 2005 

tranches issued up to 2010.

A new stock option plan (SOP 2011) was adopted at the Annual General 

Meeting of 29 June 2011. No stock options have so far been granted on 

the basis of SOP 2011.

The following identical option terms apply to both SOP 2005 and SOP 

2011:

The stock options are limited to a period of up to five years and intended 

exclusively for issue to members of the Executive Board, selected exec-

utives and other key employees of the Company as well as the general 

management, selected executives and key employees of associated 

companies, as defined by § 15, German Stock Corporation Law (AktG). 

The stock option plans of Tipp24 SE are a share-based payment system, 

whereby the method of compensation is at the Company’s discretion. 

The transaction is expected to be settled via equity instruments, where-

by fair value is calculated at the time of granting. The Company meas-

ures the stock option plans using financial valuation methods according 

to the Black-Scholes-Merton formula. 

The stock options from all tranches can be exercised no sooner than 

two years after the respective date of issuance and within a period of 

three years. Options can only be exercised if an absolute or relative per-

formance target is reached at the end of the lock-up period. At the end 

of the exercise period, any options which have not been exercised will 

expire. 

In order to determine if and to what extent performance targets have been 

achieved, the average share price or average index of two periods (refer-

ence period and performance period) are compared with each other. The 

reference period consists of the 20 consecutive trading days prior to the 

issuance date. The performance period refers to the last 20 trading days 

before the lock-up period ends. The average share price is calculated as 

the average of the closing prices of the Tipp24 share in Xetra trading (or 

comparable successor of Deutsche Börse AG). 

The absolute performance target depends on the performance of the 

Tipp24 share and is said to be achieved if its price increases by at least 

20% (final price less exercise price). 

The relative performance target is linked to the performance of the 

Tipp24 share relative to the SDAX. The relative performance target is 

achieved if the share’s performance during the above mentioned perfor-

mance period exceeds the index.
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Performance during the fiscal year

The following table illustrates the performance of the share options and 

the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) during the fiscal year:

Share-based payments

Development during the fiscal year

2013  
Number

2013 
WAEP

2012  
Number

2012 
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the reporting period 0 0 10,000 20.25

Granted during the reporting period 0 0 0 0 

Forfeited during the reporting period 0 0 2,000 16.82

Exercised during the reporting period 0 0 8,000 21.36

Expired during the reporting period 0 0 0 0

Outstanding at the end of the reporting period 0 0 0 0

At the end of the reporting period there are no more share options out-

standing. The average contract term was around three years.

Underlying parameters

The following table contains the underlying parameters for the valuation 

of the five tranches of the Share Option Plan of Tipp24 SE.

Share-based payments

Underlying parameters Tranche 5 Tranche 4 Tranche 3 Tranche 2 Tranche 1

Dividend yield (%) 0.0 2.9 3.7 0.0 0.0 

Expected volatility (%) 39.7 60.0 44.3 47.9 46.0 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.86 0.73 3.72 3.98 3.44 

Anticipated term of option (years) 2 2 2 2 2

Weighted average share price (EUR) 26.30 17.57 13.52 13.67 25.08

Model applied Black-Scholes-Merton formula

The anticipated term of the options is based on historical data and does 

not necessarily correspond to the actual exercise behaviour of the en

titled persons. Expected volatility is based on the assumption that histor-

ical volatilities can be applied to future trends, whereby actual volatility 

may differ from these assumptions.
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21.5 OTHER RESERVES

  
in EUR thousand

Opening balance  
 

Reversals Additions Closing balance  
31/12/2013

Changes in foreign exchange rates -176 0 0 -176 

Changes in fair values 238 -446 0 -208 

Deferred tax assets 0 0 103 103

Other additions 72 0 0 72 

Total 134 -446 103 -209 

  
in EUR thousand

Opening balance  
01/01/2012

Reversals Additions Closing balance  
31/12/2012

Share-based payments 54 -54 0 0

Changes in foreign exchange rates -176 0 0 -176

Changes in fair values 28 -20 230 238

Other additions 72 0 0 72

Total -21 -74 230 134

The reserve for foreign currency translation serves to recognize differ-

ences between GBP and EUR from the translation of annual financial 

statements of the UK subsidiaries. With the commencement of fiscal 

year 2009, the Group’s UK subsidiaries all changed their functional cur-

rency to the Group currency: euro. As a consequence, the unchanged 

reserve of EUR -176 thousand will be carried forward in accordance with 

IAS 21.37 until the companies are sold.

The changes in fair values concern gains/losses resulting from the re

valuation of available-for-sale financial assets. The change recognized 

in other reserves (additions and reversals) corresponds to other com-

prehensive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive in-

come (EUR -446 thousand, prior year: EUR 162 thousand).

21.6 RETAINED EARNINGS

Retained earnings increased mainly by the amount of the consolidated 

net profit 2013.
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21.7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) decreased in the past fiscal year 

from EUR 4.99 to EUR 1.30 per share. In comparison with the previous 

year, the average number of weighted outstanding shares increased by 

283,333 – from 7,985,088 to 8,268,421.

Development of outstanding shares

As of 31 December 2007 8,218,272

Change in 2008 -233,184

As of 31 December 2008 7,985,088

Change in 2009 -361,180

As of 31 December 2009 7,623,908

Change in 2010 +361,180

As of 31 December 2010 7,985,088

Change in 2011 0

As of 31 December 2011 7,985,088

Change in 2012 0

As of 31 December 2012 7,985,088

Change in 2013 +400,000

As of 31 December 2013 8,385,088

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit for the year 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit for the 

year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year (increased to account for the diluting effects from stock options). In 

fiscal year 2013, there was no dilutive effect as there is no active stock 

option program at present. In fiscal year 2012, there was no significant 

dilutive effect from stock options.

22 PAID AND PROPOSED DIVIDENDS

Following the restructuring of business fields and the resulting transfer 

of control, Tipp24 SE currently has no significant cash flows, as the pay-

ment of a dividend from profits generated in the UK is currently excluded.

The net income of Tipp24 SE according to commercial law amounted to 

EUR -13,012 thousand. The balance sheet loss of Tipp24 SE amounting 

to EUR 1,926 thousand will be carried forward.

On 27 February 2014, the Executive Board of Tipp24 announced that it 

was considering the payment of a one-off special dividend in late April 

2014 in the form of an interim dividend amounting to EUR 7.50 per share. 

The Executive Board also resolved to propose annual dividend pay-

ments for shareholders in future as of 2015. The first such dividend 

would be based on the annual financial statements for the current fiscal 

year 2014. The annual dividend is to be at least EUR 1.50 per share – 

provided that the Company’s financial position and performance en

ables such a dividend. 
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23 LEASES

23.1 FINANCE LEASES

The Company held no finance leases in the period under review.

23.2 OPERATING LEASES

The Company has concluded several leases which were classified as 

operating leases pursuant to IAS 17. 

Tipp24 expensed rental payments for offices amounting to EUR 2,444 

thousand (prior year: EUR 1,758 thousand).

The future minimum lease payments and the present value of the mini-

mum lease payments for the above operating leases are as follows:

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Minimum lease payments Present value of the minimum lease payments

Obligations from the following year 0 1,747 1,304 1,603

> 1–5 years 1,468 1,565 60 1,315

> 5 years 1,183 0 0 0

Minimum lease obligations 2,651 3,312 1,364 2,918

less interest -142 -394 0 0

Present value of minimum obligations 2,509 2,918 1,364 2,918

23.3 OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

In addition, other significant financial obligations arising from other con-

tracts, including cooperation agreements, insurance contracts, license 

agreements and maintenance agreements are as follows:

in EUR thousand 2014 2015 2016 2017
2018 

and beyond Total

Other contracts 22,237 861 469 0 0 23,568
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24 RELATED PARTIES

The members of Tipp24 SE’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board, as 

well as their immediate relatives, are regarded as related parties in ac-

cordance with IAS 24. Oliver Jaster is a member of the Supervisory Board. 

The operating business of Schumann e.K. was outsourced to a related 

company of Oliver Jaster, Günther Direct Services GmbH, Bamberg. In 

return, Günther Direct Services GmbH, Bamberg, received compensation 

of EUR 148 thousand in the period under review (prior year: EUR 182 

thousand).

At the Annual General Meeting for fiscal year 2010 held on 29 June 

2011, Jens Schumann was elected member of the Supervisory Board 

with effect from 1 July 2011. Jens Schumann is the sole shareholder of 

Schumann e.K. This structure has existed in comparable form since 

2002 and was chosen because class lotteries only issue sales licenses 

at present to natural persons or companies in which neither the liability 

of the Company or its direct and indirect partners is limited. A coopera-

tion agreement is in place between Tipp24 SE and Schumann e.K., which 

governs the processing of game participation of class lottery customers 

by Schumann e.K. Under the terms of the agreement, Schumann e.K. 

must pay all commissions and other brokerage fees collected in this 

context to Tipp24 SE. Tipp24 SE provides Schumann e.K. with services in 

the field of controlling, bookkeeping, marketing and technical services  

and bears the costs incurred by Schumann e.K. in running its operations. 

As Jens Schumann operates Schumann e.K. in the interest of Tipp24 SE, 

Tipp24 SE has undertaken to indemnify him in the event of any personal 

claims by third parties arising from or in connection with the operation of 

Schumann e.K. Indemnification is limited to the extent that fulfilment of 

this indemnification may not cause Tipp24 to become insolvent or 

over-indebted. In his capacity as shareholder of Schumann e.K., Mr 

Schumann did not receive any remuneration during the fiscal year.

The charitable foundation "Fondation enfance sans frontières", Zurich, 

owner of the preference shares of MyLotto24 Limited and Tipp24 Ser-

vices Limited, has been identified as a related party. According to its dis-

closures, it did not receive any remuneration from Tipp24 in the reporting 

period.

There were no other significant transactions with related parties in the 

period under review.

Please refer to Note 28 for details on Executive Board and Supervisory 

Board remuneration.
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25 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Tipp24 operates a decentralized capital management system. All major 

decisions concerning the financial structure of the "Germany" segment 

are taken by the Executive Board of Tipp24 SE. Capital management ac-

tivities of the "Abroad" segment are handled by MyLotto24, with the ex-

ception of Tipp24 Services which operates its own capital management 

system. The principles and objectives of capital management are as fol-

lows, while the risks to which Tipp24 is hereby exposed are described in 

the current risk report. 

Equity which exceeds the amount required to secure the Company’s sta-

ble financial position is to be used for investments and further growth 

finance in line with our growth strategy. In the medium term, Tipp24 may 

also leverage its financial position by means of interest-bearing debt. In 

future, liquid equity capital not required for the Company’s strategic ob-

jectives is to be used once again to pay dividends to our shareholders 

and buy back shares from the market. This optimization of the equity 

ratio, however, is only prudent and possible when MyLotto24 can dis-

tribute a dividend to Tipp24 SE again.

Principles and objectives of capital management

in EUR thousand 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Equity ratio 82.1% 78.6%

Equity 175,556 150,375
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26 DISCLOSURES RELATING TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26.1 FAIR VALUE

The following table illustrates the significance of net profits from finan-

cial instruments:

Net profits from financial instruments

in EUR thousand 2013 2012 2013 2012

Carried in equity Carried in income statement 

Financial assets

Cash and pledged cash 0 0 0 27

Short-term financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 210 -120 153

Held-to-maturity financial assets -446 0 -291 -35

Financial result -446 210 -411 146

Other financial assets (short-term) 0 0 0 -250

-446 210 -411 -104

The financial instruments included in the following balance sheet items 

can be allocated to the following categories:

	 Notes  Tipp24 SE Annual Report 2013	  	 91



Financial instruments 2013

EUR thousand Amortized cost Fair value  
recognized in 

equity

Non-financial 
assets/ 

liabilities

Total Book value 
31/12/2013

Fair value 
31/12/2013

Assets 

Cash and pledged cash 

Receivables 85,817 – – 85,817 – –

Non-financial assets – – 5 5 85,822 85,822

Short-term financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets – 17,594 – 17,594 – –

Held-to-maturity financial assets 52,713 – – 52,713 70,307 70,307

Trade receivables 

Receivables 259 – – 259 259 259

Other assets 

Receivables 5,347 – 5,340 10,687 – –

Loans 1,700 – – 1,700 12,386 12,386

Long-term financial assets 

Financial assets held-to-maturity 4,511 – – 4,511 4,511 4,511

Long-term other assets

Receivables – – 435 435 435 435

Total assets 173,720 173,720

– of which loans and receivables – – – – 93,123 93,123

– of which available-for-sale financial assets – – – – 17,594 17,594

Held-to-maturity financial assets,  
short-term – – – – 52,713 52,713

Held-to-maturity financial assets,  
long-term – – – – 4,511 4,511

Liabilities 

Liabilities 

Trade payables 9,812 – – 9,812 9,812 9,812

Other liabilities 16,384 – 1,587 17,971 – –

Financial liabilities 108 – – 108 18,079 18,079

Total liabilities 27,890 27,890

– of which liabilities – – – – 26,196 26,196

92	  	



Financial instruments 2012

EUR thousand Amortized cost Fair value  
recognized in 

equity

Non-financial 
assets/ 

liabilities

Total Book value 
31/12/2012

Fair value 
31/12/2012

Assets 

Cash and pledged cash 

Receivables 78,298 – – 78,298 – –

Non-financial assets – – 5 5 78,303 78,303

Short-term financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets – 18,079 – 18,079 – –

Held-to-maturity financial assets 35,696 – – 35,696 53,776 53,776

Trade receivables 

Receivables 71 – – 71 71 71

Other assets 

Receivables 6,005 – 3,161 9,558 – –

Loans 392 – – 392 9,558 9,558

Long-term financial assets 

Financial assets held-to-maturity 4,516 – – 4,516 – – 

Receivables 2,000 – – 2,000 – –

Loans 1,765 – – 1,765 8,281 8,281

Long-term other assets 

Receivables – – 269 269 269 269

Total assets 150,258 150,258

– of which loans and receivables – – – – 88,531 88,531

– �of which available-for-sale financial assets – – – – 18,079 18,079

Held-to-maturity financial assets,  
short-term – – – – 35,696 35,696

Held-to-maturity financial assets,  
long-term – – – – 4,516 4,516

Liabilities 

Liabilities 

Trade payables 6,568 – – 6,568 6,568 6,568

Other liabilities 16,185 – 1,429 17,614 – –

Financial liabilities 110 – – 110 17,724 17,724

Total liabilities 24,292 24,292

– of which liabilities – – – – 22,863 22,863
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The carrying amounts of cash and current assets, as well as trade pay

ables, approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of 

these instruments. 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount 

at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction be-

tween willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair 

values: 

Long-term financial assets are evaluated by the Group based on param-

eters such as interest rates. Based on this evaluation, allowances are 

taken into account. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amounts of 

such receivables, net of allowances, were not materially different from 

their calculated fair values. 

Hierarchy of fair values

As of 31 December 2013, Tipp24 held securities with a value of EUR 

70,307 thousand (prior year: EUR 53,776 thousand), which were all clas-

sified as in the previous year as Level 1 financial instruments measured at 

fair value. 

As in the previous year, the Company did not hold any liabilities measured 

at fair value on the balance sheet date.

Tipp24 uses the following hierarchy to determine and disclose the fair  

value of financial instruments for each measurement method:

Level 1: listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets for similar assets or 

liabilities.

Level 2: methods in which all input parameters, which have a significant 

effect on the carried fair value can be observed, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: methods which use input parameters which have a significant 

effect on the carried fair value and are not based on observable market 

data.

26.2 CREDIT RISK

The scope of the credit risk of Tipp24 equals the sum of cash, short-term 

financial assets, trade receivables and other receivables. 

Cash and other financial assets

In view of the current adverse climate on the European and global finan-

cial markets, there may be a default risk both in respect of the cash and 

short-term financial assets themselves, as well as the accruing interest.

Due to the high total amount of cash and short-term financial assets 

held by Tipp24, and the resulting absolute and relative importance, ex-

tensive management processes have been established to steer and 

regularly monitor the Company’s investment strategy. 

Cash and short-term financial assets are invested in a variety of short-

term securities offering as much liquidity and as little volatility as pos-

sible, while ensuring broad risk diversification. The overriding objective 

of our investment strategy is to preserve capital – even at the expense 

of expected returns. 

Tipp24’s investment strategy is aimed at spreading and minimizing risk 

by means of multi-dimensional diversification. Firstly, funds are divid-

ed into differing investment products, such as sight and term deposits, 

highly fungible government bonds of eurozone states and short-term 

investment fund units. Secondly, we restrict our choice to those invest-

ments with good credit ratings. Following regular monitoring, there were 

no specific default risks in the portfolio as of the balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables

The Company mainly collects the amounts owed by customers directly, 

via direct debit or credit card. On the basis of many years of collected 

data, the risk of returned direct debits or credit card charges is regarded 

as limited. Missing amounts from such cancellations are charged direct-

ly to "Other operating expenses".

The Group generates receivables from lottery organizers for the winnings 

of its customers, which are passed on directly to the winners upon re-

ceipt. Due to the credit standing of the lottery organizers, the Group does 

not expect any significant default on payment. 

Receivables from payment systems such as credit card companies en-

tail the risk that the Group’s customers themselves fail to meet their pay-

ment obligations. This risk is recognized directly in profit or loss in the 

event of payment default by a customer.
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Contingent receivables

There are no contingent receivables.

26.3 LIQUIDITY RISK

Due to the sufficiency of its liquid assets, Tipp24 is not exposed to any 

significant liquidity risk. Even in the case of significant restrictions of 

business against the backdrop of regulatory developments, Tipp24 has 

sufficient liquidity to service the Company’s liabilities at any time. Finan-

cial liabilities are mainly due immediately and do not accrue interest.

In order to reduce the particular risk of high jackpot payouts in the 

"Abroad" segment, MyLotto24 Limited conducts hedging transactions 

– such as the transfer of payment obligation risks to a so-called catastro-

phe bond (CAT bond) via an Insurance-Linked-Security (ILS) vehicle. 

26.4 INTEREST RATE RISK

Tipp24 invests the majority of its funds in a combination of fixed term 

deposits. For these funds, which are mainly held in liquid or short-term 

investments, there is a general risk from changing interest rates. A sen-

sitivity analysis was conducted for the portfolio of cash and short-term 

financial assets held on 31 December 2013 with a simulated interest 

rate increase of 50 base points. Assuming no changes are made to the 

portfolio in response to the interest rate increase, there would be a rise in 

interest income of EUR 792 thousand (in a simplified calculation). Under 

consideration of the duration of those investments currently in the port-

folio, there would be an expected reduction of this interest income of 

EUR 102 thousand. The overall effect, therefore, would be an increase in 

interest income of EUR 690 thousand. In the previous year, there was a 

total effect of EUR 581 thousand.

26.5 CURRENCY RISK

The Company is exposed to a currency risk as a result of the GBP ex-

change rates. The risk arises from payments received and made in for-

eign currency, which differ from the Company’s functional currency and 

are not always offset by payments in the same currency of the same 

amount and with the same maturities. 

For the presentation of currency risks, IFRS 7 requires sensitivity analy-

ses which display the effects of hypothetical changes of the relevant 

risk variables on earnings and equity. In order to determine the currency 

risk, a fluctuation of the euro to British pound exchange rate of 10% was 

assumed as of 31 December 2013.

On the basis of this assumption, a revaluation of the euro against the 

British pound of 10% to 0.7508 GBP/EUR would result in an effect of EUR 

5,014 thousand on earnings. A devaluation of the euro against the Brit-

ish pound of 10% to 0.9171 GBP/EUR would result in an effect of EUR 

-3,407 thousand on earnings. In the previous year, a revaluation of the 

euro against the British pound of 10% would have resulted in an effect of 

EUR 2,513 thousand on earnings, while a devaluation of the euro 

against the British pound of 10% would have resulted in an effect of EUR 

-3,071 thousand on earnings. 

The financial assets currently held do not bear any material currency risk.

27 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

As stated in Note 1, Tipp24 SE successfully relocated its registered office 

to London, UK, on entry in the commercial register of the UK’s Companies 

House on 7 February 2014.

As of 10 February 2014, the registered shares of Tipp24 are traded  

on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Ex-

change in the form of so-called Clearstream Interests (CIs) under the 

ISIN GBOOBHD66J44/WKN TIPP024.

On 25 February 2014, Tipp24 (Netherland) B.V., based in Amsterdam, the 

Netherlands, was formed. It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tipp24 UK 

Limited.
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28 OTHER DISCLOSURES ACC. TO GERMAN COMMERCIAL LAW

28.1 EXECUTIVE BOARD 

The Executive Board manages Tipp24 SE in coordination with an opera-

tive management team.

Dr. Hans Cornehl is Chairman of the Executive Board of Tipp24 and has 

been a member of the Executive Board since 2002. From July 2012 to 

the end of January 2013, he led the company as the sole member of the 

Executive Board. He is responsible for Strategy, Corporate Development, 

Communication, Corporate & Legal Affairs, IT and HR.

Andreas Keil has been a member of the Executive Board since 1 Febru-

ary 2013 with responsibility for the Finance, Accounting, Taxes, Con-

trolling, Risk Management and Investor Relations divisions. Andreas Keil 

is a member of the Supervisory Board of MATERNUS-KLINIKEN AG, Berlin 

(regular member).

Dr. Helmut Becker was appointed to the Executive Board of Tipp24 on  

1 June 2013 and is responsible for the Marketing, Sales and Brand 

Management divisions.

The members of the Executive Board worked on a full-time basis. The 

remuneration of the Executive Board in fiscal year 2013 consisted of the 

following elements:

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2013

Dr. Hans Cornehl 400 519 1) 919

Andreas Keil 253 216 469

Dr. Helmut Becker 204 174 378

Total 857 909 1,766

1) �V ariable remuneration includes an amount of EUR 156 thousand resulting from an additional annual  

bonus for work as the sole Executive Board member and for a one-off voluntary "signing-on bonus".

The remuneration of the Executive Board in fiscal year 2012 consisted 

of the following elements:

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration Severance pay 2012

Dr. Hans Cornehl 350 643 – 993

Marcus Geiß 117 246 1,937 2,300

Petra von Strombeck 175 332 – 507

Total 642 1,221 1,937 3,800

In fiscal year 2013, total remuneration of the Executive Board amounted 

to EUR 1,766 thousand (prior year: EUR 3,800 thousand). 
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28.2 SUPERVISORY BOARD

The following persons held seats on the Supervisory Board of Tipp24 SE 

in fiscal year 2013:

■■ Andreas de Maizière, self-employed partner of Doertenbach & Co. 

GmbH, (Chairman)

■■ Prof. Willi Berchtold, Managing Partner of CUATROB GmbH,  

(Deputy Chairman), until 28 June 2013

■■ Dr. Helmut Becker, Member of the Executive Board of XING AG, 

(regular member), until 31 May 2013

■■ Hendrik Pressmar, lawyer, (regular member), until 28 June 2013

■■ Thorsten Hehl, investment manager Günther Holding GmbH,  

(regular member), since 28 June 2013

■■ Bernd Schiphorst, Executive Board member WMP EuroCom AG, 

(regular member), since 28 June 2013

■■ Peter Steiner, self-employed auditor, (Deputy Chairman),  

since 28 June 2013 

■■ Oliver Jaster, Managing Partner of Günther Holding, (regular member)

■■ Jens Schumann, merchant, (regular member)

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board consisted of the following 

elements:

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2013

Andreas de Maizière (Chairman) 134 0 134

Prof. Willi Berchtold until 28 June 2013 (Deputy Chairman) 47 0 47

Peter Steiner since 28 June 2013 (Deputy Chairman) 47 0 47

Oliver Jaster 60 0 60

Dr. Helmut Becker until 31 May 2013 17 0 17

Hendrik Pressmar until 28 June 2013 20 0 20

Thorsten Hehl since 28 June 2013 30 0 30

Bernd Schiphorst since 28 June 2013 20 0 20

Jens Schumann 60 0 60

Total 435 0 435

in EUR thousand Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 2012

Andreas de Maizière (Chairman) 134 0 134

Prof. Willi Berchtold (Deputy Chairman) 94 0 94

Oliver Jaster 60 0 60

Dr. Helmut Becker 40 0 40

Hendrik Pressmar 40 0 40

Jens Schumann 60 0 60

Total 428 0 428

	 Notes  Tipp24 SE Annual Report 2013	  	 97



28.3 DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS

Shares and subscription rights held by executive bodies

The following table shows the number of shares held in Tipp24 SE by 

members of the executive bodies of Tipp24 SE as of 31 December 2013, 

as well as changes in shareholdings during 2013. 

Otherwise, none of the executive bodies holds subscription rights to 

shares of Tipp24 SE.

Shares 01/01/2013 Changes 31/12/2013

Executive Board 

Dr. Hans Cornehl 55,389 2,000 57,389

Andreas Keil 0 800 800

Supervisory Board 

Oliver Jaster 1,995,842 -300,000 1,695,842

Jens Schumann 355,000 -5,000 350,000

28.4 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Declaration of Conformity for the Adoption  

of the Recommendations of the "Government Commission  

on the German Corporate Governance Code"

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Tipp24 issued the last Dec-

laration of Conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code pursu-

ant to Sec. 161 AktG in February 2013. This has been made publicly avail-

able on the website of Tipp24 SE (www.tipp24.co.uk). Since the relocation 

of the Company’s registered office became effective on 7 February 2014, 

Tipp24 SE – as a UK-based company whose shares are traded exclusively 

on a regulated market in Germany – is subject to neither UK nor German 

corporate governance regulations and, in particular, is no longer required 

to submit declarations of conformity pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG. Never-

theless, Tipp24 intends to prepare and publish its own voluntary Corpor

ate Governance rules.
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28.5 EMPLOYEES

The average number of employees is shown below:

2013 Germany Abroad Tipp24

Executive Board 3 0 3

General Managers 1 6 7

Employees 23 105 128

Trainees 0 1 1

Temporary personnel 1 0 1

Total 28 112 140

2012 Germany Abroad Tipp24

Executive Board 2 0 2

General Managers 0 5 5

Employees 13 91 104

Trainees 0 0 0

Temporary personnel 0 0 0

Total 15 96 111
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28.6 AUDITING COSTS

The following fees were charged by the auditors of the annual financial 

statements, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft for 

fiscal year 2013:

in EUR thousand 2013 2012

Auditing fees 398 472

thereof for international partner companies of the auditing company 294  299 

Other auditing services 0 0 

thereof for international partner companies of the auditing company 0 0

Tax consulting 218  227 

thereof for international partner companies of the auditing company 70  17 

Other services 47  578 

thereof for international partner companies of the auditing company 0  69 

Total 663 1,277

Other services provided by the auditing company relate to consultations 

in connection with the relocation and other projects.

28.7 CONSOLIDATED GROUP

The consolidated Group comprises the companies listed below, for 

which the respective present and past shareholdings are also stated 

(see also Note 2.5 "Consolidation principles"). 

In April 2013, Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited, was founded. Tipp24 SE 

holds 75% of shares in Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited, while the remaining 

25% are held by Smartgames Technologies Limited.

In November 2013, Tipp24 (US) Incorporation was founded as a wholly- 

owned subsidiary of Tipp24 (UK) Limited. 
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In % of voting rights (calculated) 2013 2012
Initial 

consolidation Deconsolidation

Subsidiaries:

Tipp24 Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 100 100 2008

MyLotto24 Limited, London, UK 40 40 2007

Smartgames Technologies Limited, London, UK  
(formerly Tipp24 Operating Services Limited) 40 40 2007

Ventura24 S.L., Madrid, Spain 40 40 2001

Ventura24 Games S.A., Madrid, Spain 40 40 2011

Giochi24 S.r.l., Monza, Italy 0 40 2008 2013

GSG Lottery Systems GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 40 40 2001

Tipp24 Services Limited, London, UK 16 16 2007

LottoNetwork Limited, London, UK 40 40 2012

LottoNetwork s.r.l., Monza, Italy 40 40 2012

Tipp24 (UK) Limited, London, UK 100 100 2012

Tipp24 Investment 1 Limited, London, UK 85 85 2012

Tipp24 Investment 2 Limited, London, UK 85 – 2013

Tipp24 (US) Incorporation, Wilmington, USA 100 – 2013

 

Associated companies:  

Geonomics Global Games Limited, London, UK 
(formerly Roboreus Limited) 21.85 21.85 2012

Joint ventures:  

Geo24 UK Limited, London, UK 53.43 – 2013

Schumann e.K., Hamburg, was included in the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IAS 27 and SIC 12.10 even though 

Tipp24 SE has no equity interest or voting rights in the Company. We re-

fer to our comments in Section 2.5 "Consolidation Principles".

MyLotto24 Limited sponsored an Insurance-Linked-Security (ILS) ve

hicle which partially transfers its bookmaking risk to the capital market. 

The CAT bond was placed with institutional investors outside the Group  

by a special purpose entity. MyLotto24 Limited has no controlling influ-

ence, no exposure to the residual risk, no right to receive benefits and 

therefore no exposure to risk in respect of the ILS; hence MyLotto24 Limi

ted does not include the entity in its consolidated financial statements.

London, 19 March 2014

The Executive Board

Dr. Hans Cornehl	 Andreas Keil 	 Dr. Helmut Becker
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AUDIT OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 

Tipp24 SE, Hamburg, comprising the income statement, statement of 

comprehensive income, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement 

of changes in equity, and the notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments, together with the Group management report for the fiscal year 

from January 1 to December 31, 2013. The preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the Group management report in accord-

ance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB are the responsi-

bility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to ex-

press an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the 

Group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in ac-

cordance with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and per-

form the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the pres-

entation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in 

the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable 

financial reporting framework and in the Group management report are 

detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activ

ities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expecta-

tions as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determi-

nation of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related 

internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report 

are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit.

The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be in-

cluded in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles 

used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-

ating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a 

reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated finan-

cial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB 

and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and re-

sults of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. 

The Group management report is consistent with the consolidated finan-

cial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s 

position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future de-

velopment.

Hamburg, 19 March 2014

Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Klimmer	 Borger

Auditor 	 Auditor
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable re-

porting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 

the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair review of 

the development and performance of the business and the position of 

the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and 

risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

London, 19 March 2014

The Executive Board 

Dr. Hans Cornehl	 Andreas Keil 	 Dr. Helmut Becker
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Since relocating its registered office on 7 February 2014, the Company 

is now subject to the laws of England and Wales. As a consequence, the 

previous obligation of the Supervisory Board to prepare a written report 

for the general meeting pursuant to Sec. 171 (2) AktG no longer applies 

as there is no corresponding duty under English law. The Supervisory 

Board performed its duties throughout the fiscal year 2013 according to 

German law. Against this backdrop, the Supervisory Board of Tipp24 SE 

has decided to prepare a special voluntary report for the shareholders 

which largely comprises the content of a Supervisory Board report under 

German law. In the following, the Company’s supervisory body is referred 

to as the Supervisory Board and the management body as the Executive 

Board when discussing events of the reporting period.

Advising and monitoring management

The Supervisory Board of Tipp24 SE regularly monitored and advised the 

Executive Board in accordance with statutory obligations during the pe-

riod under review. We were directly involved in all decisions of the Exe

cutive Board which were of significance for the Company. Moreover, 

the Executive Board regularly informed the Supervisory Board fully and 

promptly, in oral and written reports, about all material issues of busi-

ness planning and strategic development, about the course of events, 

the Group’s current situation, including possible risks and the risk man-

agement system. Deviations between the planned and actual course 

of business were explained to us in detail. The Executive Board consult-

ed with us about the company’s strategic alignment. Moreover, the 

Executive Board provided the Supervisory Board with comprehensive 

reports about the course of business, including the development of 

revenue and profitability, as well as the Company’s current situation 

and business policy. These reports were presented to all members of 

the Supervisory Board. Based on these reports of the Executive Board, 

the Supervisory Board was able to discuss in detail, monitor and advise 

on all important business activities. After careful examination and de-

tailed discussion, the Supervisory Board approved all resolutions pre-

sented by the Executive Board. A total of eleven Supervisory Board 

meetings were held in fiscal year 2013, which were attended by all 

members. Further resolutions concerning current topics were adopted 

by circular written consent. In addition to the Supervisory Board meet-

ings, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board was also regularly provid-

ed with detailed and up-to-date information by the Executive Board 

about significant business transactions and discussed various aspects 

of business policy with the Executive Board.

Main topics of discussion of the Supervisory Board 

In fiscal year 2013, the meetings of the Supervisory Board focused on the 

following topics:

■■ the development of sales and earnings, as well as the financial posi-

tion, of Tipp24 SE and its fully consolidated associated companies in 

Germany and in the foreign markets UK, Spain and Italy,

■■ corporate planning, including investment and personnel planning,

■■ the legal disputes being conducted by Tipp24 SE,

■■ the development of the regulatory and economic environment in 

those markets of relevance for Tipp24, in particular the UK and North 

America,

■■ the strategic alignment and growth strategy of Tipp24 SE and its fully 

consolidated associated companies; in particular the formation of a 

joint venture with the UK-based Geonomics Global Games Limited,

■■ planning and implementing the relocation of the company’s regis-

tered office,

■■ measures of the Executive Board requiring approval, especially in 

connection with the relocation of the company’s registered office 

and the aforementioned joint venture,

■■ the composition and expansion of the Executive Board, including re-

muneration of the Executive Board,

■■ the ongoing development of the early risk warning systems,

■■ discussion and consultation of all business transactions requiring 

approval and

■■ the continuous improvement of Corporate Governance and its adap-

tation to new statutory requirements.

In view of the transfer of control over the fully consolidated associated 

companies in the foreign markets UK and Spain completed in 2009, dis-

cussions concerning these companies were restricted to an assess-

ment of the opportunities and risks which Tipp24 SE believes are associ-

ated with these businesses.
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Composition of the committees  

and main topics of discussion 

The Supervisory Board has set up two committees. The Presidial Commit-

tee, comprising Messrs de Maizière (Chairman), Jaster and Schumann, 

also acts as the Nomination Committee – whose tasks include Execu-

tive Board personnel matters – and met twice during fiscal year 2013. 

Discussions focused mainly on the strategic alignment, Executive Board 

remuneration including the target agreements agreed with the Executive 

Board and the expansion of the Executive Board. In its function as Nomi-

nation Committee, the Presidial Committee also prepared a Supervisory 

Board resolution concerning proposals for the election of all Supervisory 

Board members by the Annual General Meeting of 28 June 2013. Up to 

28 June 2013, the Audit Committee comprised Prof. Berchtold (Chair-

man), Messrs Jaster and de Maizière and as of 28 June 2013 Messrs 

Steiner (Chairman), de Maizière and Hehl. The Audit Committee was 

convened five times during fiscal year 2013 and dealt with the audit of 

the annual financial statements 2012, as well as corporate structure, 

risk management and the main audit focus of the annual financial state-

ments 2013.

Corporate Governance and Declaration of Conformity

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Board dealt with the recom-

mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. In February 

2013, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board submitted a Declara-

tion of Conformity, pursuant to Sec. 161 German Stock Corporation Law 

(AktG) and made it permanently available to shareholders via the Com

pany’s website. The Supervisory Board reported on this in its report dat- 

ed 20 March 2013. Since the relocation of the Company’s registered of-

fice became effective on 7 February 2014, Tipp24 SE – as a UK-based 

company whose shares are traded exclusively on a regulated market in 

Germany – is subject to neither UK nor German corporate governance 

regulations and, in particular, is no longer required to submit declara-

tions of conformity pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG. Nevertheless, the Compa-

ny intends to prepare and publish its own voluntary Corporate Govern-

ance rules. A cooperation agreement exists between Tipp24 SE and 

Staatliche Lotterieeinnahme Schumann e.K. (SEK) which regulates 

SEK’s processing of game proceeds from class lottery customers. Super-

visory Board member Jens Schumann is the owner of SEK. The cooper-

ation agreement stipulates that SEK must remit all commissions and 

other brokerage fees to Tipp24 SE. In return, Tipp24 SE provides SEK with 

controlling, bookkeeping, marketing and technical services and bears 

SEK’s operating costs. As Jens Schumann operates SEK in the interest 

of Tipp24 SE, Tipp24 SE has undertaken to indemnify him in the event  

of any personal claims by third parties arising from or in connection with  
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the operation of SEK. Indemnification is limited to the extent that fulfil-

ment of this indemnification may not cause Tipp24 SE to become insol-

vent or over-indebted. In the reporting period, Mr Schumann did not re-

ceive any remuneration for his activities on behalf of SEK. The Supervisory 

Board voted to approve the continuation of the cooperation agreement 

between Tipp24 SE and SEK on 29 June 2011, the date on which Mr 

Schumann was elected to the Supervisory Board. There are no further 

direct or indirect consultancy or other service relationships between the 

company and individual members of the Supervisory Board. In addition 

to their membership of the Supervisory Board of our company, Prof. 

Berchtold (up to 28 June 2013) and Mr Schumann have also been (or 

were) Supervisory Board members of the former subsidiary Lotto24 AG 

since 2 May 2012. Neither from this matter nor any other were there any 

conflicts of interest between the mandate of individual Supervisory 

Board members and their other activities in fiscal year 2013. According 

to our examinations, the Supervisory Board has a sufficient number of 

independent members. In accordance with Section 107 (4) in connec-

tion with Section 100 (5) AktG, Prof. Berchtold (up to 28 June 2013) and 

Mr Jaster were appointed to the Audit Committee as finance experts, 

and as of 28 June 2013 Mr Steiner.

Auditing of the parent company  

and consolidated annual financial statements 

The annual financial statements and management report for fiscal 2013 

of Tipp24 SE, as prepared by the Executive Board in accordance with the 

German Commercial Code (HGB), and the consolidated annual financial 

statements and Group management report prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) were audited by Ernst 

& Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, which issued 

an unqualified audit certificate in each case. The audit also included an 

examination of the respective accounting systems. The Executive Board 

provided us with the aforementioned documents in due time. They were 

discussed in detail at the Audit Committee’s meeting on 18 March 2014. 

The Supervisory Board comprehensively dealt with the annual financial 

statements and consolidated financial statements of Tipp24 SE during 

the balance sheet meeting on 19 March 2014, which was also attended 

by the auditor. Moreover, the auditor reported on the chief results of his 

audit and confirmed that there were no significant weaknesses in the 

internal control system and the risk management system. During the 

meeting, the Executive Board explained the annual financial statements 

of Tipp24 SE and the Group, as well as the risk management system. The 

auditor also reported on the scope, focus areas and costs of the audit. We 

concur with the auditor’s findings. Based on the final result of the audit 

undertaken by the Audit Committee and our own final examination, there 

are no objections to be raised. The Supervisory Board approved the finan-

cial statements prepared by the Executive Board.

Personnel

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Board comprised Messrs 

Andreas de Maizière (Chairman), Peter Steiner (Deputy Chairman), Thor-

sten Hehl, Oliver Jaster, Bernd Schiphorst and Jens Schumann. Mr de 

Maizière has sat on the Supervisory Board since 29 June 2011, Mr 

Jaster since 29 May 2008 and Mr Schumann since 29 June 2011. All 

current members of the Supervisory Board were elected, or re-elected, 

by the Annual General Meeting of 28 June 2013 for the period ending on 

completion of the Annual General Meeting which adopts the resolution 

on the formal approval of the fiscal year 2015 (in adaptation to the law of 

England and Wales: for the period ending on completion of the Annual 

General Meeting which receives the annual financial statements for fis-

cal year 2015). The previous Supervisory Board members, Prof. Berchtold 

and Mr Pressmar, retired from the Supervisory Board as of 28 June 2013 

on expiry of their respective terms of office. As of 7 February 2014, the 

previous Supervisory Board (Company’s supervisory body) has contin-

ued with the same members as a Supervisory Board under the laws of 

England and Wales and the Company Statutes.

Mr Andreas Keil joined the company as Chief Financial Officer on 1 Feb-

ruary 2013. The Executive Board was expanded once again on 1 June 

2013 with the appointment of Dr. Helmut Becker as Chief Marketing Of-

ficer. As of 7 February 2014, the previous Executive Board (Company’s 

management body) has continued with the same members.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the Executive 

Board and all employees of Tipp24 SE and its fully consolidated associ-

ated companies for their commitment and successful efforts during the 

past fiscal year.

London, 19 March 2014

Andreas de Maizière 

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
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Key share figures  

Day of initial listing 12/10/2005

Year-opening price EUR 37.60

Market capitalization 
(Year-opening) EUR 300 million

Year-end price EUR 48.49 

Market capitalization 
(Year-end) EUR 407 million

Highest price (20 Aug. 2013) EUR 51.58 

Lowest price (07 Jan. 2013) EUR 37.65 

Number of outstanding shares  
(31 Dec. 2013) 8,385,088

Average daily trading  
(2013) EUR 879 thousand

Earnings per share1) Euro 1.30 

1)  from continued operations

Shareholder service  

WKN TPP024

ISIN GB00BHD66J44

Ticker symbol TIM.DE

Stock exchange Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse

Market segment Official Market,  
Prime Standard

Designated sponsor Close Brothers Seydler

Coverage 
 

 

Berenberg Bank,  
Bankhaus Lampe,  
Deutsche Bank,  
Kepler Cheuvreux,  
M.M. Warburg

Reuters TIMGn.DE

Bloomberg TIM GR
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 20031) 20021) 20011) 20001)

Customers

Number of registered customers (at year-end) Thsd. n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 2,526 2,344 1,770 1,322 1,031 675 441 323 121

Number of registered new customers (at year-end) Thsd. n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 203 574 448 291 356 234 118 202 121

Customer activity rate % n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 24.7% 28.7% 28.6% 28.6% 30.9% 30.3% 31.4%  n/a  n/a 

Average billings/customer EUR n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 566 588 598 609 584 620 591  n/a  n/a 

Acquisition costs per new customer EUR n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 46.44 20.11 18.81 20.12 17.01 17.52 14.21  n/a  n/a 

Income statement EUR thsd.

Billings n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 335,947 346,776 264,235 204,696 154,094 104,812 70,926 42,933 5,200

Revenue 129,9332) 142,7312) 139,3162) 101,8822) 89,551 45,838 44,974 34,575 26,119 19,504 14,085 8,284 3,808 691

EBIT 19,4592) 56,4642) 51,9052) 32,6812) 23,052 8,897 8,949 7,244 6,048 3,207 1,000 1,019 -3,170 -5,364

EBT 18,8312) 56,7822) 52,7702) 33,1672) 25,076 10,720 11,192 8,365 6,490 3,324 1,070 1,055 -3,124 -5,695

Net profit 10,187 40,891 36,339 19,551 17,482 6,606 6,272 7,445 3,318 1,575 2,994 1,752 -3,289 -5,697

Balance sheet EUR thsd.

Cash, cash equivalents and securities  
(incl. pledged cash, cash equivalents and securities) 85,822 78,303 64,123 43,957 69,361 21,261 66,121 60,764 57,174 13,202 8,251 4,217 2,100 3,878

Other current assets 85,822 64,033 65,433 56,613 20,466 59,586 18,405 16,290 7,666 3,092 3,940 2,440 1,558 809

Total non-current assets 44,593 48,881 36,215 29,444 18,296 12,304 7,213 5,740 7,296 2,602 3,845 2,104 1,371 1,366

ASSETS 213,581 191,217 173,043 130,013 108,123 93,151 91,739 82,794 72,135 18,896 16,036 8,761 5,029 6,053

Current liabilities 36,821 39,414 42,848 36,911 42,971 35,623 35,774 22,128 18,854 10,955 9,872 5,797 3,897 1,659

Non-current liabilities 1,204 1,427 904 181 752 2,607 335 14 96 124 99 150 70 46

Equity 175,556 150,375 129,291 92,921 64,399 54,922 55,630 60,652 53,185 7,817 6,065 2,814 1,062 4,349

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 213,581 191,217 173,043 130,013 108,123 93,151 91,739 82,794 72,135 18,896 16,036 8,761 5,029 6,053

Cash flow EUR thsd.

Cash flow from operating activities 16,751 22,546 44,323 14,081 30,217 9,651 17,886 8,360 10,308 5,375 4,570 2,546 -1,321 -5,569

Cash flow from investing activities -23,988 -8,098 -24,157 -48,446 25,579 -47,040 -1,200 -4,769 -6,371 -600 -506 -399 -457 -1,304

Cash flow from financing activities 15,337 0 0 8,950 -7,723 -7,386 -11,335 – 40,035 175 -30 -30 0 10,481

Personnel

Number of employees (average no. of full-time staff without 
board members/managing directors/interns/apprentices) No. 140 104 128 121 132 185 154 144 114 95 72 47 26 17

Personnel expenses EUR thsd. 11,0902) 10,7602) 12,0262) 10,1102) 12,524 12,667 10,324 8,277 6,990 5,522 4,285 3,021 2,005 1,076

Expenses per employee EUR thsd. 792) 1032) 942) 842) 72 69 67 58 61 58 60 64 77 63

R&D expenses EUR thsd. 568 999 1,461 1,579 1,396 3,374 3,051 2,767 2,151 1,938 1,420  n/a  n/a  n/a 

R&D staff No. 14 22 30 33 33 68 58 56 44 38 30  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Share (from 2004)

Average number of shares (undiluted) No. 8,268,421 7,985,088 7,985,088 7,715,614 7,730,961 8,032,265 8,524,199 8,872,319 7,191,100 6,451,928  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Earnings per share (undiluted) EUR 1.302) 4.992) 4.802) 2.852) 2.26 0.82 0.74 0.84 0.46 0.24  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Operating cash flow per share (undiluted) EUR 2.03 2.82 5.55 1.82 3.91 1.20 2.10 0.94 1.43 0.83  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Ratios %

Gross margin n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 13.6% 13.0% 13.1% 12.8% 12.7% 13.4% 11.4% 8.9% 13.3%

EBIT margin 15.0%2) 39.6%2) 37.3%2) 32.1%2) 25.7% 19.4% 19.9% 21.0% 23.2% 16.4% 7.1% 12.6% -83.2% -776.3%

Net operating margin 7.8%2) 28.6%2) 26.1%2) 19.2%2) 19.5% 14.4% 13.9% 21.5% 12.7% 8.1% 21.3% 21.6% -86.4% -824.5%

Return-on-equity (ROE) 5.8% 27.2% 28.1% 21.0% 27.1% 12.0% 11.3% 12.3% 6.2% 20.1% 49.4% 62.3% -309.7% -131.0%

1)  2000–2003: unaudited  2)  from continued operations
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 20031) 20021) 20011) 20001)

Customers

Number of registered customers (at year-end) Thsd. n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 2,526 2,344 1,770 1,322 1,031 675 441 323 121

Number of registered new customers (at year-end) Thsd. n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 203 574 448 291 356 234 118 202 121

Customer activity rate % n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 24.7% 28.7% 28.6% 28.6% 30.9% 30.3% 31.4%  n/a  n/a 

Average billings/customer EUR n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 566 588 598 609 584 620 591  n/a  n/a 

Acquisition costs per new customer EUR n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 46.44 20.11 18.81 20.12 17.01 17.52 14.21  n/a  n/a 

Income statement EUR thsd.

Billings n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 335,947 346,776 264,235 204,696 154,094 104,812 70,926 42,933 5,200

Revenue 129,9332) 142,7312) 139,3162) 101,8822) 89,551 45,838 44,974 34,575 26,119 19,504 14,085 8,284 3,808 691

EBIT 19,4592) 56,4642) 51,9052) 32,6812) 23,052 8,897 8,949 7,244 6,048 3,207 1,000 1,019 -3,170 -5,364

EBT 18,8312) 56,7822) 52,7702) 33,1672) 25,076 10,720 11,192 8,365 6,490 3,324 1,070 1,055 -3,124 -5,695

Net profit 10,187 40,891 36,339 19,551 17,482 6,606 6,272 7,445 3,318 1,575 2,994 1,752 -3,289 -5,697

Balance sheet EUR thsd.

Cash, cash equivalents and securities  
(incl. pledged cash, cash equivalents and securities) 85,822 78,303 64,123 43,957 69,361 21,261 66,121 60,764 57,174 13,202 8,251 4,217 2,100 3,878

Other current assets 85,822 64,033 65,433 56,613 20,466 59,586 18,405 16,290 7,666 3,092 3,940 2,440 1,558 809

Total non-current assets 44,593 48,881 36,215 29,444 18,296 12,304 7,213 5,740 7,296 2,602 3,845 2,104 1,371 1,366

ASSETS 213,581 191,217 173,043 130,013 108,123 93,151 91,739 82,794 72,135 18,896 16,036 8,761 5,029 6,053

Current liabilities 36,821 39,414 42,848 36,911 42,971 35,623 35,774 22,128 18,854 10,955 9,872 5,797 3,897 1,659

Non-current liabilities 1,204 1,427 904 181 752 2,607 335 14 96 124 99 150 70 46

Equity 175,556 150,375 129,291 92,921 64,399 54,922 55,630 60,652 53,185 7,817 6,065 2,814 1,062 4,349

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 213,581 191,217 173,043 130,013 108,123 93,151 91,739 82,794 72,135 18,896 16,036 8,761 5,029 6,053

Cash flow EUR thsd.

Cash flow from operating activities 16,751 22,546 44,323 14,081 30,217 9,651 17,886 8,360 10,308 5,375 4,570 2,546 -1,321 -5,569

Cash flow from investing activities -23,988 -8,098 -24,157 -48,446 25,579 -47,040 -1,200 -4,769 -6,371 -600 -506 -399 -457 -1,304

Cash flow from financing activities 15,337 0 0 8,950 -7,723 -7,386 -11,335 – 40,035 175 -30 -30 0 10,481

Personnel

Number of employees (average no. of full-time staff without 
board members/managing directors/interns/apprentices) No. 140 104 128 121 132 185 154 144 114 95 72 47 26 17

Personnel expenses EUR thsd. 11,0902) 10,7602) 12,0262) 10,1102) 12,524 12,667 10,324 8,277 6,990 5,522 4,285 3,021 2,005 1,076

Expenses per employee EUR thsd. 792) 1032) 942) 842) 72 69 67 58 61 58 60 64 77 63

R&D expenses EUR thsd. 568 999 1,461 1,579 1,396 3,374 3,051 2,767 2,151 1,938 1,420  n/a  n/a  n/a 

R&D staff No. 14 22 30 33 33 68 58 56 44 38 30  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Share (from 2004)

Average number of shares (undiluted) No. 8,268,421 7,985,088 7,985,088 7,715,614 7,730,961 8,032,265 8,524,199 8,872,319 7,191,100 6,451,928  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Earnings per share (undiluted) EUR 1.302) 4.992) 4.802) 2.852) 2.26 0.82 0.74 0.84 0.46 0.24  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Operating cash flow per share (undiluted) EUR 2.03 2.82 5.55 1.82 3.91 1.20 2.10 0.94 1.43 0.83  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

Ratios %

Gross margin n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a 13.6% 13.0% 13.1% 12.8% 12.7% 13.4% 11.4% 8.9% 13.3%

EBIT margin 15.0%2) 39.6%2) 37.3%2) 32.1%2) 25.7% 19.4% 19.9% 21.0% 23.2% 16.4% 7.1% 12.6% -83.2% -776.3%

Net operating margin 7.8%2) 28.6%2) 26.1%2) 19.2%2) 19.5% 14.4% 13.9% 21.5% 12.7% 8.1% 21.3% 21.6% -86.4% -824.5%

Return-on-equity (ROE) 5.8% 27.2% 28.1% 21.0% 27.1% 12.0% 11.3% 12.3% 6.2% 20.1% 49.4% 62.3% -309.7% -131.0%

1)  2000–2003: unaudited  2)  from continued operations
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